1

Global Logistics Service

2

Global Logistics Service

To:
From:

Annual Report
of Intereuropa
Group 2010

Global Logistics Service

The annual report of Intereuropa Group is made up of a business report and a financial report. The accounting part comprises financial statements and notes
to the financial statements of Intereuropa Group and financial statements and notes to the financial statements of the controlling, i.e. parent company.

4

Table of contents
7

Highlights for the
financial year

9

43

Interview with the
President of the
Management Board

Operational
review

The President of the Management Board of
Intereuropa d.d., Ernest Gortan, evaluates
the year 2010 and explains how the Group is
prepared for growth on new foundations.

The past year was marked
by financial consolidation
and adjustment of the
structure of companies.

23
Development strategy
of Intereuropa Group
2010-2014
Changes in operating conditions
required the setting up of a new strategic
operating framework.

7

Highlights for the financial year

9

Interview with the President of the Management Board

13

Report of the Supervisory Board

17

Profile of Intereuropa Group

21

Major events in 2010

23

BUSINESS REPORT

23

Development strategy of Intereuropa Group 2010-2014

25

Implementation of strategic development objectives
and plans for 2010

27

Objectives and plans for 2011

28

Economic conditions and their influence
on logistics activity

32

Sales and marketing

34

Land transport

5

50
Shares and
share ownership
structure
In 2010, the price of Intereuropa’s shares
ranged between EUR 3.35 and EUR 5.96
per share.

75

Sustainability
report
Sustainable development is
defined as one of the company’s
key orientations and permanent
commitment at the same time.

89

Financial
report
of Intereuropa Group and of the
parent company Intereuropa d.d.,
Koper for the financial year 2010

93

FINANCIAL REPORT OF INTEREUROPA
GROUP

142

FINANCIAL REPORT OF THE PARENT
COMPANY INTEREUROPA D.D.

38

Intercontinental transport

40

Logistics solutions

43

Operational review

50

Shares and share ownership structure

55

Statement on corporate governance

64

Risk management

72

Development and investments

75

Sustainability Report

75

Employee care		

81

Responsibility to the natural environment

82

Responsibility to the social environment

83

Quality management system

85

Responsibility to suppliers

87

Communication with key publics

6

Achievements
in 2010

The key driving factors behind Intereuropa Group's performance in 2010:
determination and perseverance in enhancing efficiency of business processes,
focus on sales activities,
maintenance of quality working environment and
continuous efforts for achieving financial stability.
The Group also created a new strategic platform for growth and development in the period 2010-2014 in response to
changes in economic circumstances.

The first results of its implementation indicate
that the Group is on the right track.
It preserved its position as a leading provider of logistics services in Slovenia and as one of the leading providers of
these services in South Eastern Europe.
The structure of sales in three key business areas: land transport 62 per cent, intercontinental transport 22 per cent and
logistics solutions 13 per cent.
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Improved efficiency
of business
processes at
all levels.

Growth of
the volume of
shipments in
land transport.

New users
also of our
seafreight and
in air transport
services.

Custom-tailored
logistics solutions
for the most
transport-sensitive
goods.

Sharing of
knowledge and
experiences of
employees.

Financially stable
and transparent
operations.
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Table 1 |
Profit and loss account 							

(in EUR 000)

2007

2008

2009

2010

235,499

257,697

191,117

190,624

100

Profit/loss before interest, taxes
and depreciation (EBITDA)

27,337

27,864

15,136

21,554

142

Operating profit or loss

14,165

13,196

–50,638

-27,195

54

Profit or loss from ordinary activities

33,528

3,639

–61,307

-39,793

65

Net profit/loss

26,477

3,688

–53,907

-39,193

73

Value added

Sales revenues

Ind 10/09

71,431

79,691

62,845

63,017

100

Net profit/loss per share (in EUR)

3.30

0.39

–6.87

-5.07

74

Gross dividend per share (in EUR)

0.83

0.58

0.00

0.00

-

Table 2 |
Statement of financial position 						

(in EUR 000)

2007

2008

2009

2010

Ind 10/09

Total assets

408,571

451,678

489,270

425,428

87

Long-term assets

320,187

356,585

406,821

351,801

86

Short-term assets

88,384

95,093

82,449

73,627

89

Capital

186,154

169,360

188,803

148,163

78

Average capital*

170,509

175,913

206,035

188,080

91

Financial and operating liabilities

219,113

278,850

296,663

274,181

92

*Capital does not include net profit/loss for the financial year.

Table 3 |
The number of employees (according to hours of work paid)

The number of employees of the Group
The number of employees
of the parent company
The number of employees of subsidiaries

2007

2008

2009

2010

Ind 10/09

2,343

2,657

2,510

2,274

91

918

932

863

784

91

1,425

1,725

1,647

1,490

90

Table 4 |
Performance indicators						
2007

2008

2009

2010

Ind 10/09

Net return on capital

15.5%

2.1%

–26.2%

–20.8%

80

Net return on assets

7.6%

0.9%

–11.5%

-8.6%

75

Productivity (in EUR)

100.49

96.98

76.15

83.82

110

9.6%

1.3%

–27.2%

–19.1%

70

Net return on revenue

EBITDA: Depreciation + revaluatory operating expenses for intangible and tangible fixed assets + operating profit or loss
Value added: EBITDA + labour costs
Net return on equity: Net profit/loss / average capital
Net return on assets: Net profit/loss / average assets
Productivity: Sales revenues / number of employees
Net return on revenue: Net profit/loss / total revenues

Highlights for the financial year

Figure 1
Changes in sales revenues, EBITDA and net profit/loss between 2007 and 2010 (in EUR mill.)
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With the same level
of sales revenues,
we have succeeded
in bringing the
EBITDA margin back
to the pre-crisis
level by optimising
our operations.
The operating
profit or loss was
negatively affected
by impairments
of fixed assets
and investment
writedowns.

100

26

27

28

22

15

4
0
2007		

2008		

2009		

2010
-39

-54
-100
Net profit/loss

EBITDA

Sales revenues

Figure 2
Changes in the level of assets and capital between 2007 and 2010 (in EUR mill.)

The consequence
of a negative
operating result
was a reduction
in capital which
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35 per cent of
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Interview with the President of the Management Board

Ernest Gortan,

President of the Management Board of Intereuropa d.d.

Interview with the
President of the
Management Board
Positive
developments
were achieved in
all key business
areas. The Group
improved its financial
stability through
disinvestment and
rescheduling of
short-term financial
liabilities as longterm liabilities.

Reorganisation of
Intereuropa d.d.
achieved its full
effect and facilitated
centralisation,
considerable
optimisation
of business
processes, increase
in productivity and
asset utilisation.

By adopting a new Strategic Development Plan in 2010,
Intereuropa Group set new action items for the operation of
the Group in the period 2010-2014. In spite of the complex
situation in the markets, the Group's sales revenues
remained on last year's level, and its financial stability was
remarkably improved. Impairments of investments in the
parent company and subsidiaries were among the main
reasons for a negative operating result of EUR –27.2 million.
In his answers, the President of the Management Board
of the parent company Intereuropa d.d., Ernest Gortan,
provides an evaluation of the implementation of strategic
objectives and operations in 2010, presents outlooks for the
future and explains Intereuropa Group's preparedness for
growth on new foundations.
How were the set strategic objectives achieved in the financial year 2010?
In my evaluation of the year 2010 I would like to highlight the importance of the fact that we
achieved positive changes in all key areas of our operations. Considering the high level of
indebtedness of the Group, a great importance is attached to securing financial stability and
liquidity of the Group. We consider the beginning of the process of disinvestment of nonoperating property that no longer produced any expected economic effect to be a significant
success. In this way, we succeeded in selling as many as four larger pieces of property and
reduced the level of our debt towards banks in spite of an almost perfect lull in the property
market. By obtaining a long-term syndicated loan by which we refinanced our short-term financial
liabilities, we considerably improved the term structure of our sources of financing. Moreover, we
managed to secure current liquidity through effective management of our working capital.
Reorganisation of Intereuropa d.d. launched towards the end of 2009 produced its full effect
and enabled a centralisation, considerable optimisation of business processes and an increase
in productivity and asset utilisation. We also adopted a decision to start looking for a strategic
partner for Intereuropa-East Ltd. and to investigate the possibility of finding a strategic partner for
the parent company. Our position in the market shows that we have been and shall remain the
leading provider of integrated logistics services in the Markets of South Eastern Europe.
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Logistics showed
visible signs of
gradual recovery
after a sharp
decline in 2009
when the logistics
services market
declined by about
30 per cent.

How was the operation of Intereuropa Group affected by economic conditions and
logistics developments in the key markets?
Logistics showed visible signs of gradual recovery after a sharp decline in 2009 when the
logistics services market declined by about 30 per cent. Businesses adapted to the new volume
of business and changes in market conditions. A positive growth was noticed particularly in land
transport area. There was a slight revival in the movement of goods; however, supported by a
considerable optimisation of logistics processes and reduction of logistics costs. The movement
of goods through a logistics chain is faster and more rational, and storage is shorter. We
witnessed price pressures to which logistic services were exposed. These are important factors of
operation in a highly competitive environment in which we operate.
How were these trends reflected in the results of individual business areas of
Intereuropa Group?
We made every effort to take advantage of opportunities in all areas. We achieved considerably
better results in the land transport area than in the previous year. Moreover, we strongly reduced
the volume of transports by our own means of conveyance in both road and express transport.

We achieved
considerably better
results in the land
transport area than
in the previous year.

The business area of intercontinental transport achieved a lower level of income from automobile
logistics than in the previous year. In the logistics solutions area, sales results were strongly
influenced by the customers’ demands for a faster flow of goods and reduced costs of storage.
Investments in expanding the number of customers to which we already provide logistics
services with added value and offer them custom-tailored integrated logistics services are already
showing results.
All this was reflected in financial operating results. What is your comment?
The Group's sales revenues remained on the previous year's level: EUR 190.6 million or slightly
less than planned and were largely due to the reduction of margins and slackening demand in the
above mentioned services segments. The key factors influencing a negative operating result of
EUR –27.2 million were high revaluatory operating expenses due to the presentation of assets at
fair value and the related impairment of immovable property.
Figure 3: Structure of sales revenues by business area in 2010

The key factors
influencing a
negative operating
result of EUR –27.2
million were high
revaluatory operating
expenses due to
the presentation of
assets at fair value
and the related
impairment of
immovable property.

3%

22%

Intercontinental transport
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Other services

62%

Land transport

Logistics solutions

To what extent have you achieved the planned financial objectives?

A lower level of
revenues is expected
in intercontinental
transport primarily on
account of a sharp
decline in automobile
logistics services.

We have set our objectives quite ambitiously, also with a view to mobilising all internal resources
in pursuit of development. We should not be content with the achieved results; at the same time,
however, we should take into consideration the real market conditions. In spite of the aggravating price
pressures and the fact that our customers are cutting their logistics costs, the Group’s Earnings Before
Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA) was EUR 21.6 million or 42 per cent more than
in the previous year. The Group's financial liabilities were reduced by EUR 18.3 million. These are the
achievements that, in spite of the deviation from the ambitious financial objectives, prove that the set
strategy of the Group and its enhanced activities have been producing results.
How much did individual business areas contribute to your operating results and what
action will be taken to increase sales? The land transport business area showed the
best performance.
Indeed, land transport made a significant progress. In the structure of income, this business area’s
share rose to 62 per cent or 6 percentage points on the previous year. Our net income recorded a 11
per cent increase, and our results were 4 per cent above the planned level. The number of shipments
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In spite of the
aggravating price
pressures and
the fact that our
customers are cutting
their logistics costs,
the Group’s Earnings
Before Interest,
Tax, Depreciation
and Amortisation
(EBITDA) was EUR
21.6 million or 42
per cent more than
in the previous year.
The Group's financial
liabilities were
reduced by
EUR 18.3 million.

The land transport
area recorded a 11
increase in revenues
which exceeded the
planned level by
4 per cent.

has already reached the pre-crisis level but the margins have dropped. The highest growth was
recorded in road transport products and groupage and consequently also in customs services
and express transport. The development of this area will also focus on reducing the proportion of
transport carried out by our own means of conveyance in the area of road and express transport
and on transporting of heavier items in express product. Further optimisation of processes is
planned primarily by means of upgrading information support for their management. As far as the
measures for increasing sales are concerned, we see the highest potential for growth in the area
of effective management of key customers and, consequently, in producing synergic effects on the
Group level.
What about intercontinental transport operations?
Seafreight, which accounts for more than one half of services of the intercontinental transport
business area and generated 23 per cent of net revenues from the Group's sales, performed
better and exceeded the planned levels by 5 per cent. Due to a faster flow of vehicles and
conditions in the automobile market, a considerable decline was recorded in automobile logistics,
which resulted in a decrease in revenues of the entire business area. A positive shift was achieved
particularly in the shipping agency product, where a significant shift in operations was made by
acquiring a renowned container shipper. Air transport, which accounts for a mere 9 per cent of
revenues of the business area, was also affected by lower demand; however, we maintained and
even increased our shares of the market in certain areas, which is encouraging. In the future, we
will focus on increasing our sales activities in order to check the impact of market conditions.
What sales results were achieved in the area of logistics solutions and how do you
rate them?

In the logistics
solutions area, sales
results were strongly
influenced by the
customers’ demands
for a faster flow of
goods and reduced
costs of storage.

Four fifths of revenues from logistics solutions are generated in Slovenia and Croatia, while a
decrease in sales was seen in all markets except Russia. This area contributed 13 per cent to
the total sales of the Group; sales revenues were 4 per cent below the previous year's figures.
In 2011, I expect the results of activities carried out in the past year, which were focused on
customer restructuring in order to fill our capacities by customers requiring custom-tailored
complex and integrated logistics services. We have all the necessary resources for the
implementation of these more complex forms of cooperation. The rich professional experience of
the staff, appropriate logistics capacities and adequate information support to business processes.
What is the situation of Intereuropa’s companies in individual markets?
As I have already mentioned, we have maintained a leading share of the market in South Eastern
Europe. We consider that we continue to be the first provider of integrated logistics services in
Croatia, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Montenegro and Kosovo and that we are the leading provider
of these services in Serbia and Macedonia. We are well familiar with and manage our presence
in this geographical area where we remain one of the key players. We are very satisfied with the
performance of our companies in Montenegro, Kosovo and Macedonia. We feel slightly burdened
with the debt of our companies in Croatia, Bosnia and Herzegovina and Serbia. Our company in
Germany is small but operates well as the German economy recovers.
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In 2011, we expect
our current sales
activities to translate
into our operational
growth and
strengthening of our
position in traditional
markets.

The Russian market offers a number of opportunities for logistics activities and is, at the same
time, very specific and requires a thorough knowledge of the local business environment. Last
year, significant changes were made in the company's development. We developed cooperation
with several brand name manufacturers in the automobile terminal area, restructured the transport
of general cargoes into automobile transport, developed the international forwarding services
and created conditions for the growth of logistics solutions. In spite of this I do not believe that
the funds invested in the logistics terminal will ever be repaid. For this reason, we have started
looking for a strategic partner. We also achieved significant success in the Ukrainian market. The
Uzhgorod subsidiary made important deals aimed at increasing the volume of its operations both
in the area of railway forwarding and road transport.
Our largest subsidiary in Slovenia, Intereuropa Transport, faces a difficult situation in the area
of transport due to severe price pressures and rising fuel prices. For this reason, the company
continues to optimise its processes and to adapt to market requirements.
The year 2010 was also the year of activities relating to the establishment of
a logistics holding.
At the invitation of the Government, we participated in various meetings and activities relating
to the establishment of a logistics holding. At the middle of the year, the Management Board
and the Supervisory Board of Intereuropa d.d. published their view on the proposed business
integration and gave assurance of the company’s willingness to cooperate with the Government.
Slovenia is an area crossed by busy transit routes, which is why openness and accessibility of
logistics infrastructure to all interested logistics service providers is important for the development
of Slovenian logistics space. We consider that the future financial stability and development of
Intereuropa Group can be ensured by integration with a strong strategic partner that will also
contribute to the necessary capital increase.
The Group’s mission emphasises that value for its owners, employees and other
stakeholders should be created in a socially responsible manner.
Certainly. In this connection we are particularly aware of our social and economic impact on the
environment as employer. In addition to the concern for the natural and social environment, our
main focus is on employees whose intellectual and social capital warrants the Group’s future
development. Considerable attention is given to the implementation of the human resources policy
that provides for an improved utilisation of human resources within the company, work process
optimisation and higher employee motivation. It is not so simple at present since uncertainty in
the environment is also transmitted to employees. Adequacy of employee cooperation is also
confirmed by organisational climate measurements. Measurement results for the crisis period
2009/2010 showed a mere 0.3 percentage point lower values than for the 2007/2008 period.
I am taking this opportunity to commend all employees for their efforts and dedication in their daily
activities. These efforts are also reflected in the progress made in all key strategic areas.
What will your operations and the future development of the Group as a whole be like
in 2011?
In 2011 we will continue with our activities according to the strategic plan. We expect our current
sales activities to translate into our operational growth and strengthening of our position in
traditional markets. We will further optimise our business processes by upgrading new information
solutions. We will continue the process of disinvestment and searching for a strategic partner both
for our Russian subsidiary and for the parent company. Special attention will be given to providing
financial stability and liquidity of the Group. Additional significance of this task is due to the
company’s inadequate debt-to-capital ratio in the structure of sources of funds and the possible
consequences of this fact. Our aim is to carry out the above listed tasks and thus lay a sound
foundation for a successful future development of Intereuropa Group.

Report by the Supervisory Board

Report by the
Supervisory
Board
Report by the Supervisory Board on the results of
verification of the audited consolidated Annual
Report of Intereuropa group for 2010

In 2010, Intereuropa Group faced serious challenges
due to the consequences of the global economic crisis
and investments made in the past few years, which
produce no adequate economic effects in changed
operating conditions.
The Supervisory Board was focused principally on
implementing the strategic orientations defined by
Intereuropa Group's Strategic Operational Plan 2010-2014
and on the achievement of operational objectives laid down
by the annual plan of activities. The Supervisory Board's
main efforts were aimed at monitoring the financial stability
and sales results of the Group.
In accordance with Article 272 of the Companies Act (ZGD-1), the Management Board of
Intereuropa d.d. sent to Supervisory Board members the following documents for verification
and approval:
•

annual report for the financial year 2010 with auditors’ report and

•

a proposal for offsetting losses.

In accordance with Article 282 of the Companies Act (ZGD-1) and points 7.3 and 7.4 of Articles
of Association of Intereuropa d.d., the Supervisory Board examined the received documents and
delivers this report to the general meeting of Intereuropa d.d.

Activities of the Supervisory Boards during the financial year
In 2010, the Supervisory Board had the following structure: Representatives of shareholders
Bruno Korelič – President of the Supervisory Board, Tadej Tufek, Vinko Može, Maša Čertalič;
representatives of employees Maksimilijan Babič – Vice-President of the Supervisory Board,
Nevija Pečar and Ljubo Kobale. In 2010, the Supervisory Board held seven meetings.
At its meetings, the Supervisory Board closely monitored and controlled the operations of the
company and Intereuropa Group's governance. The Supervisory Board discussed and approved
interim reports on the current operations of the company and of the Group and monitored their
compliance with the adopted business and development plans. The Supervisory Board required
regular reporting on financial exposure of Intereuropa d.d. and its subsidiaries. Before discussing
interim reports, the Supervisory Board always sought the opinion of the audit committee.
Special attention was given to financial exposure of Intereuropa Group and securing of liquidity.
The Supervisory Board also regularly required reports on all major projects conducted by the
Management Board in 2010.
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Following are the major subjects and resolutions that the Supervisory Board dealt with in addition
to the regular monitoring of operations in 2010.
At its first meeting, the Supervisory Board took note of the risk management programme. The
Board adopted a decision to approve the report on the merger of a unipersonal subsidiary
Intereuropa IT d.o.o. with the parent company Intereuropa d.d.
At its second meeting, the Supervisory Board appointed a Vice President of the Supervisory Board
– Maksimiljan Babič, representative of employees. The Board adopted a Strategic Operational
Plan for Intereuropa Group for the period 2010-2014, thus setting the fundamental objectives for
the Group's future operations. The Board also took note of the requests by the lending banks
regarding the status of the company's investment in the Logistics Centre of Tchekhov, Moscow.
At its third meeting, which was held in April, the Supervisory Board approved Intereuropa Group's
annual report for 2009 together with a recommendation by external auditors and took note of
the findings of the audit. The Board also took note of the Management Board’s report on the
analysis of operations of minor and non-performing subsidiaries and of the Management Board’s
recommendation for the management of receivables. At its third meeting, the Supervisory Board
also approved the company’s Governance Policy.
At its fourth meeting, which was held in May, the Supervisory Board appointed a Vice President
of the Management Board. The Management Board submitted its report on the method for
implementing the programme of measures for improving the situation of the company Intereuropa
d.d. and carrying out the financial restructuring programme of the company Transport d.o.o. The
Supervisory Board approved the liability insurance for the Management Board for another year.
The Supervisory Board also gave its consent to the convocation of the 22nd general meeting, to
the proposed agenda and proposed resolutions. Among other things, its also proposed to the
general meeting to appoint an auditor for 2010.
At its fifth meeting held in August, the Supervisory Board took note of the measures for financial
restructuring of the companies Intereuropa d.d. and Transport d.o.o. as well as of the measures
for cutting labour costs prepared by the company's Management Board. The Supervisory
Board also took note of the report by the Management Board on operations of the subsidiary
Intereuropa-East Ltd., on the progress of investment in the Tchekhov logistics centre in Moscow
and on the choice of the consultant for finding a strategic partner in Russia. The Supervisory
Board examined the offer of lending banks for organising a long-term syndicated loan. On the
basis of this offer and presentation by the Management Board, the Supervisory Board granted its
approval to the signing of the agreement on organising a syndicated loan for rescheduling financial
obligations of the company Intereuropa d.d. The Board also took note of the disposal of holding
in Primorske novice d.o.o. and on the disposal of other non-performing assets. At the same time,
the Supervisory Board instructed the Management Board to prepare a programme of accelerate
disposal of assets with a view to reducing debt. In cooperation with the Management Board, the
Supervisory Board took a position regarding the establishment of a Slovenian logistics holding.
At its sixth meeting, the Supervisory Board discussed the planning policies and objectives for
2011. The Board also discussed the programme of accelerated disposal of assets and took note
of the performance of Intereuropa-East Ltd., Moscow.
At its seventh meeting, which was its last meeting in 2010, the Supervisory Board approved
the schedule of Supervisory Board meetings for 2011. Special attention was paid again to the
investment in the Tchekhov logistics centre in Moscow. The Supervisory Board approved the
liability insurance for members of the Management and of the Supervisory Board for 2011.

Assessment of operating performance and strategy
implementation and the method and scope of verifying the
company’s governance
The Supervisory Board closely monitored the company’s day-to-day operations, its financial
situation and measures for attaining the set strategic objectives. The latter were approved by
the Strategic Operational Plan of Intereuropa Group for the period 2010-2014. The Supervisory
Board watched over the activities of the Management Board in maintaining and consolidating
the Group's leading position in the market of integrated logistics services in Slovenia and in
the countries of the former Yugoslavia and over the Management Board's efforts to ensure a
continuous optimisation of processes in all segments of operations. Special attention was given
to reducing costs and securing financial stability of the Group through disinvestment and debt
reduction as well as debt rescheduling and efficient management of the Group's working capital.
The Supervisory Board is satisfied with the work of the Management Board in reducing costs
and providing financial stability of the Group. Next year, more attention should also be given
to increasing the volume of sales. In 2010, the Management Board made a significant step
forward to achieving financial stability since it succeeded in rescheduling short-term debts by
converting them into long-term debts and in reducing the Group's financial liabilities by EUR
18.3 million. Nonetheless, the company’s level of debt in respect of the business opportunities
and operating results continue to cause concern. The Supervisory Board paid special attention
to the operation of the subsidiary Intereuropa-East Ltd. and investment in the Tchekhov logistics
terminal. There are remarkable positive changes in operations, particularly in restructuring the
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range of the existing and the development of new services; however, the results are far from
the level anticipated in feasibility studies at the beginning of the investment. For this reason, the
Supervisory Board supported the Management Board in building a strategic partnership in the
subsidiary Intereuropa-East Ltd., Moscow, and selling the subsidiary or its assets.
The Supervisory Board regularly monitored the operating results and regularly discussed
quaterly reports on operations at its meetings. The Supervisory Board regularly responded to
the information on the Group’s performance and demanded prompt action by the Management
Board. The Supervisory Board also monitored the trends in sales by individual business areas and
market conditions, which were marked by a decline in demand, particularly in the segments of
automobile logistics and storage, and pressures on price and margin reduction. In this context,
the Supervisory Board also understands the achieved level of consolidated operating income of
EUR 190.6 million and the lagging behind the planned results.
Impairment of the value of immovable property resulting from the adjustment of valuation to the
new fair value entailed high revaluatory expenses that had a significant impact on the negative
result of the Group totalling EUR –27.2 million. Notwithstanding this fact, the Supervisory Board
puts the intensification of selling activities in the forefront of its efforts. Since the company still
falls short of the set sales objectives, the Supervisory Board instructed the Management Board to
take appropriate measures to increase revenues in all areas of operation. At the same time, the
Supervisory Board requested that the Management Board should determine the justification of
operation of companies and business units with inadequate return on equity and assets.
The Supervisory Board and the Management Board also presented their views on the potential
establishment of a Slovenian logistics holding. In their view, considering the financial situation and
debt level of the three companies concerned a merger would not be reasonable as long as the
companies operations remain unprofitable. The Supervisory Board believes that it would be more
appropriate to establish a horizontal strategic partnership in the company Intereuropa d.d. with a
view to increasing the company's capital and its contribution to financial stability and development
of Intereuropa Group's basic activity, which is also one of Intereuropa d.d.'s strategic objectives.
The audit committee held six meetings. The audit committe drafted a meeting for each meeting,
which included the key findings, decisions and suggestions, and submitted to the Supervisory
Board for discussion. At its meetings, the audit committee took note of the financial reports
and internal audit reports and monitored compulsory audits of annual and consolidated
financial statements. The audit committte actively cooperated with the Supervisory Board, the
Management Board and external auditors.

Assessment of the work of the Supervisory Board, the
Management Board and of the audit committe
The Supervisory Board of Intereuropa d.d. has a heterogeneous structure, in terms of
qualification, gender and age structure. It carried out its activities in accordance with the
provisions of applicable legislation, Articles of Association, Intereuropa d.d.'s internal regulations
and the Code of Governance of Public Limited Companies. In cooperation with the Management
Board, the Supervisory Board also adopted a Governance Policy by which it committed itself
to set up a system for identifying conflicts of interests and autonomy of Supervisory Board and
Management Board members and to implement appropriate measures when circumstances arise
that significantly alter the status of individual Management Board or Supervisory Board members
in relation to the company. Supervisory Board members acted by taking into consideration the
company’s objectives to which they subordinated their other personal or individual interests of
third parties, management, shareholders or the state.
In 2010, members of the Supervisory Board checked the compliance with independence criteria
under the Code of Governance of Public Limited Companies. and established that they were
complied with by all Supervisory Board members. The Supervisory Board members also signed
a statement of compliance with independence criteria and published it on the web pages of
Intereuropa d.d.
The Supervisory Board strove for an optimum organisation of its meetings thus ensuring that the
meetings were attended by all members of the Supervisory and of the Management Board.
Cooperation between the Supervisory Board and the Management Board was good. Materials
for the meetings were prepared in time. The President of Supervisory Board and the President of
the Management Board maintained regular communication also between individual Supervisory
Board meetings. Careful and accurate audit of the financial statements and internal audit reports
by the audit committee contributed importantly to the Supervisory Board's efficiency. The audit
committee drafted the minutes and recorded decisions for each meeting and submitted them to
the Supervisory Board for discussion.
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Report of the Supervisory Board

Opinion on the auditors’ report
The Supervisory Board took note of the auditors’ report on the audit of the financial statements
of Intereuropa Group and of the parent company Intereuropa d.d., which was submitted to it by
the auditing company Ernst & Young Revizija, poslovno svetovanje d.o.o., Dunajska cesta 111,
Ljubljana.
The Supervisory Board has established that the certified auditor delivered a positive opinion in
his report, i.e. an unqualified opinion regarding the financial statements of Intereuropa Group and
of the company Intereuropa d.d. and established that they presented realistically and fairly the
financial position, profit or loss and cash flows for 2010, i.e. as at 31 December 2010, and in
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards adopted by the EU.
In accordance with the provisions of paragraph (2) of the Companies Act (ZGD-1) and point 7.4,
paragraph (3) of Articles of Association of the company Intereuropa d.d., the Supervisory Board
took the following position: The Supervisory Board has no comments on the auditors' report
prepared by the auditing company Ernst & Young Revizija, poslovno svetovanje d.o.o., Ljubljana.

Approval of the annual report for 2010
Members of the Supervisory Board have examined carefully the annual report with auditors'
report, the financial statements and notes to the financial statements and other disclosures in
the annual report. The Supervisory Board has established that the annual report prepared by
the Management Board represents authentically the developments and provides comprehensive
information on the company's operations in the financial year 2010.
After having examined the audited annual report, the Supervisory Board established that the
Group ended the year 2010 with a negative result which was largely due to expenses of fair value
revaluation of the Group’s assets totalling EUR 34.289 million.
The Supervisory Board examined the company’s operations in 2010, the business report for the
financial year 2010, the positive opinion expressed in the auditors’ report and examined the loss
of the company Intereuropa d.d. for the financial year 2010.
The Supervisory Board has established that the net loss of the company Intereuropa d.d. for the
financial year 2010 totalled EUR 46,398,043.17, which is to be offset from the net profit brought
forward, capital reserves and statutory reserves. 			
Pursuant to the provisions of Article 282 of the Companies Sct (ZGD-1) and points 7.4 and 7.5 of
Articles of Association of the company Intereuropa, globalni logistični servis, delniška družba, the
Supervisory Board approves and accepts the annual report of Intereuropa Group for the financial
year 2010.
The Supervisory Board received the annual report 2010 in an open period, i.e. before the
expiration of one month from the date of submission of this report to the Supervisory Board.
This report was approved by the Supervisory Board on 19 April 2011.

Bruno Korelič
President of the Supervisory Board
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Intereuropa
Group
Group profile
Parent company
	Abbreviated company name
Country of the controlling company

Intereuropa d.d.
Slovenia

Registered office of the controlling
Vojkovo nabrežje 32, 6000 Koper
company		
Registration number
Tax identification number
Legal registration
		
Initial capital

5001684
56405006
Registered with the District Court of Koper,
reg. no. 1/00212/00
EUR 32,976,185.11

Number of shares issued and paid in

7,902,413 non-par value shares

Quotation of shares
		

IEKG shares are listed in the first quotation of the
Ljubljana Stock Exchange

The Management Board
		
		
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Ernest Gortan, President of the Management Board
Tatjana Vošinek Pucer, Vice-President of the
Management Board
Bruno Korelič

Intereuropa Group
Number of employees*
Vehicle fleet*
Total storage area*
Total land area*
Membership in international
organisations

2,232
433 own lorries and other vans
261,400 sq. m. of own storage area
2,200,663.08 sq. m.
FIATA, IATA, FETA, FONASBA, BIMCO, IRU

Quality certificates
		

ISO 9001:2008 quality certificate have the following
companies:

		
		
		
		
		
		

•
•
•
•
•
•

Own business network
		
		
*As at 31 December 2010

Slovenia, Croatia, Serbia, Bosnia and Herzegovina,
Macedonia, Montenegro, Kosovo, Germany, France, Ukraine,
Russia, Albania

Intereuropa d.d., Koper,
Intereuropa, logističke usluge, d.o.o., Zagreb,
Intereuropa Transport, d.o.o., Koper,
Interagent, d.o.o., Koper,
Intereuropa Transport & Spedition GmbH, Troisdorf,
Intereuropa RTC d.d. Sarajevo.
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Profile of Intereuropa Group

Ernest Gortan, President of the Management Board of
Intereuropa d.d.

Tatjana Vošinek Pucer, Vice-President of the Management
Board of Intereuropa d.d.

Activity of the Group
Intereuropa Group provides all types of logistics services in three key areas:
Land transport
		
Intercontinental transport
Logistics solutions

groupage, express transport, road transport, railway
transport, customs services, distribution of spare parts
air transport, seafreight, shipping agency, automobile logistics
storage and distribution, logistics projects

Our strengths in the provision of logistics services are the following:
• We adapt top the needs and demands of our customers and provide them with optimum
solutions in a full range of logistics services. It is one of our key strengths.
• Our own capacities enable us to provide logistics solutions for a variety of goods stored,
distributed and transported on land, sea or air in all geographical directions.
•	A high degree of professionalism and competence in logistics, which are demonstrated by
our rich experiences and the provision of optimum solutions.
•	Addressing the logistics needs of our clients is supplemented by providing additional services such as trade fair services, leasing and insurance intermediation.
• We have established ourselves as a provider of complex logistics projects and as a reliable
partner in outsourcing integrated logistics services for manufacturing and trading companies.

We offer all types of logistics services and provide optimum solutions to logistics
needs of our customers.
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Organisation chart of the Group as at 31 December 2010

SLOVENIA

Intereuropa
d.d.,
Koper

BOSNIA AND
HERZEGOVINA

Intereuropa
RTC d.d.
Sarajevo
95.77%

RUSSIA

Intereuropa East Ltd.,
Moscow
100%

CROATIA

Interagent,
d.o.o.,
Koper
100%

Interzav,
d.o.o.,
Koper
71.28%

MACEDONIA

Intereuropa
Skopje,
DOO Skopje
99.56%

Intereuropa
Transport
DOOEL
Skopje*
99.56%

UKRAINE

TOV TEK
ZTS,
Uzhgorod
89.93%

TOV
Intereuropa –
Ukraine, Kiev
100%

Intereuropa
Transport,
d.o.o.,
Koper
100%

IntereuropaFLG, d.o.o.,
Ljubljana
50%

Intereuropa,
logističke
usluge,d.o.o.,
Zagreb
99.96%

Intereuropa
Sajam,
d.o.o.,
Zagreb
51%

SERBIA

KOSOVO

MONTENEGRO

ALBANIA

AD Intereuropa -

Intereuropa
Kosova
L.L.C.,
Pristina
90%

Zetatrans
A.D.
Podgorica
69.27%

Intereuropa

logističke
usluge
Beograd
73.62%

GERMANY

FRANCE

Intereuropa
Transport &
Spedition
GmbH,
Troisdorf
90.48%

Intereuropa
S.A.S.,
Saint Pierre
de Chandieu
67.60%

Controlling company

Subsidiary

Direct subsidiary

Total controlled company
%

of controlling
company's ownership

* The company Intereuropa Transport DOOEL, Skopje, has been in liquidation since 22 September 2010.

Global Logistics

Service
Albania shpk,
Durres 100%

Profile of Intereuropa Group companies
Company

President of the
Management Board/
Director

Supervisory
body

Intereuropa d.d.,
Koper

supervisory
Ernest Gortan, President of
board
the Management Board
Tatjana Vošinek Pucer, VicePresident of the Management Board (procurator until
24/05/10)

Interagent, d.o.o.,
Koper

Sandi Križman, director
since 01/03/2010
(Igor Kavšek, director until
28/02/10)

Intereuropa
d.d.’s management board

President of Intereuropa
d.d.’s Management Board

Interzav, d.o.o.,
Koper

Boris Šafar, director

general
meeting

Representative of Intereuropa d.d. by authorisation
of the Management Board

Intereuropa
Transport, d.o.o.,
Koper

Bojan Novak, director

Intereuropa
d.d.’s management board

President of Intereuropa
d.d.’s Management Board

Intereuropa,
logističke usluge,
d.o.o., Zagreb

Andrija Jurgec,
President of the Management
Board

supervisory
board

Ernest Gortan, President
of the Management Board

Intereuropa
Sajam, d.o.o.,
Zagreb

Vjekoslav Granić, director

supervisory
board

Tatjana Vošinek Pucer,
President of the Supervisory Board

Zetatrans A.D.
Podgorica

Anton Turk, executive
director

board of
directors

Vado Keranović, Chairman
of the Board of Directors

Intereuropa-East
Ltd., Moscow

Mikhail Novodvorsky,
director

Intereuropa
d.d.’s management board

President of Intereuropa
d.d.’s Management Board

Intereuropa RTC
d.d. Sarajevo

Haris Avdić, director

supervisory
board, audit
committee

Ernest Gortan, President
of the Supervisory Board

supervisory
board,
independent
controller

Tatjana Vošinek Pucer,
independent controller
since 30/06/2010
Dorjana Gregorič, President of the Supervisory
Board until 30/06/2010

administrative
board

Bojan Beškovnik, President of the Administrative
Board

Supervisory body
chairman/ Intereuropa's
representative in the
supervisory body
Bruno Korelič, President of
the Supervisory Board

Land
transport

•

Logistics
solutions

Intercontinental
transport

•

•

			

•

		

Other
services

•

•

•

•

insurance intermediary

one of the leading Slovenian
carriers in international road
haulage / 149 freight vehicles
and vans

•

•

•

leading provider of logistics
services in Montenegro /
5 freight vehicles and vans /
18,200 sq. m of storage area

•

•

•

leading provider of logistics
services in Croatia / 107 freight
vehicles and vans / 57,100 sq.
m of storage area
focused on trade fair logistics /
1 freight vehicle and 1 van /
640 sq. m of storage area

•

•

•

leading provider of logistics
services in Slovenia / 92 freight
vehicles and vans / 129,500
sq. m of own and 4.400 sq. m
of rented storage area
first agent in terms of the
number of ships represented in
the Port of Koper

•

•

Profile

11 freight vehicles / 27,400 sq.
m of storage area and automobile terminal with a capacity for
16,000 automobiles

•

leading provider of logistics services in Bosnia and Herzegovina
/ 29 freight vehicles and vans /
6,900 sq. m of storage area

•

leading groupage provider in
Macedonia / 2 van /
2,100 sq. m of storage area

Intereuropa
Skopje, DOO
Skopje

Nebojša Cvetanovski,
director

AD Intereuropa logističke usluge
Beograd

Nemanja Kačavenda,
director

Intereuropa
Kosova L.L.C.,
Pristina

Arben Mustafa, director
Andrej Kariš, director

TOV TEK ZTS,
Uzhgorod

Anatolly Nikolajević
Parfenyuk, director

general meeting, Representative of IE d.d. by
audit committee authorisation of the Management Board, Miha Romih,
Chairman of Audit Committee

TOV Intereuropa Ukraine, Kiev

Igor Bibikov, director since
01/11/2010
(Aleš Perič, director until
31/10/2010)

Intereuropa
d.d.’s management board

President of Intereuropa
d.d.’s Management Board

Intereuropa
Global Logistics
Service Albania
shpk, Durres

Dashamir Mandija, director

general meeting

Bojan Beškovnik, Representative of Intereuropa
d.d. by authorisation of the
Management Board

Intereuropa S.A.S., Delphine Georges,
Saint Pierre de
director
Chandieu

general meeting

Representative of Intereuropa d.d. by authorisation
of the Management Board

• 		

a company providing full and
partial load services

Intereuropa Trans- Sven Thomas Scheer,
port & Spedition
director
GmbH,
Troisdorf

general meeting

Representative of Intereuropa d.d. by authorisation
of the Management Board

•

a company providing full and
partial load services /
800 sq. m of storage area

general meeting

Representative of Intereuropa d.d. by authorisation
of the Management Board

•

•

•

•

one of the leading providers
of logistics services in Serbia /
12 freight vehicles and vans /
23,800 sq. m of storage area

•

the sole provider of integrated
logistics services in Kosovo /
3 freight vehicles and vans /
1,800 sq. m of storage area

		

•

•

•

•

•

a company specialised in railway transport and international
road transport / 21 freight
vehicles and vans

•

a company providing full and
partial load services and container seafreight services

•
			

•
•

a company providing seafreight
services
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Major events
in 2010
January – June
•

In January, the company’s management brought a lawsuit against the former management
board of Intereuropa d.d. pursuant to the decision to prepare and file a lawsuit for restitution
of damage, adopted at the 21st general meeting of shareholders.

•

In March, the company Intereuropa d.d. disposed of the property at Šmartinska cesta in
Ljubljana in accordance with the approved programme of measures to be taken by the management board, which provided the disposal of non-performing property.

•

In March, the supervisory board took note of the "Strategic Business Plan of Intereuropa
Group for 2010-2014" prepared by the management board of the company Intereuropa d.d.

•

In April, Intereuropa d.d. acquired the status of authorised economic operator (AEO), which
means simpler and faster formal customs procedures and consequently also a faster delivery
of goods to recipients within and outside the EU.

•

In May, the company Intereuropa d.d. disposed of the property at Letališka cesta in Ljubljana in accordance with the approved programme of measures to be taken by the management board, which provided the disposal of non-performing property.

•

In May, the supervisory board appointed a deputy president of the management board of
Intereuropa d.d., Tatjana Vošinek Pucer, for a five-year term of office.

•

In June, the subsidiary company Intereuropa IT, informacijska tehnologija, d.o.o., merged
with the parent company Intereuropa d.d

July – December
•

In July, the Sežana business unit was abolished; business unit departments which were not
abolished were renamed as Vrtojba Office.

•

In September, Intereuropa's representatives took part in a conference at Brdo pri Kranju, at
which a proposal for transformation of the Slovenian logistics holding was presented.

•

In November, the parent company Intereuropa d.d. set up its new web pages.

•

In December, Intereuropa d.d. signed a contract for EUR 79.5 million long-term syndicated
facility with a syndicate of five bank, which is entirely intended for refinancing of Intereuropa d.d.'s financial liabilities. A positive effect of this loan facility will result in an improved
term structure of sources of financing and will contribute to enhanced financial stability of
the company.

•

In December, the Supervisory Board of the company Intereuropa d.d. took notice of Intereuropa's planning document for 2011 at its 7 th meeting.

•

In December, Luka Koper d.d., which holds 1,960,513 shares or 24.8 per cent of the company Intereuropa d.d., issued a public invitation for tenders for sale of these shares.

Events after the end of the financial year
•

In February, Kad, Sod, Zavarovalnica Triglav, NLB, Abanka Vipa and Luka Koper announced
a public invitation to tender for selling a 50.98 per cent share of Intereuropa d.d.

Information on major events is regularly published on web site www.intereuropa.si.
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Improved efficiency
of business processes
at all levels

The Group continued
to optimise its business
processes by centralising
some business functions,
simplifying operational
processes, restricting
activities with too low
added value and enhancing
productivity.
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Business
report
Development strategy of Intereuropa Group 2010-2014

This year, changes in operating conditions required the
establishment of new strategic policies for operations of
the company Intereuropa d.d. and Intereuropa Group.
Consequently, the Management Board prepared a Strategic
Operational Plan for Intereuropa Group 2010-2014 and
publicly announced it at the beginning of the year. The
key challenges of the period include securing of liquidity
and long-term financial stability of the Group, adjustment
of operations to the new circumstances, and setting new
foundations for future growth.
Vision, mission and values
New strategic objectives and policies are based on renewed vision, mission and values which are
the essential guiding principle of our operations.

Vision

To become a top provider of integrated logistics solutions.

Mission

The mission of Intereuropa Group is to satisfy the need for logistics services and to provide
optimum operation of supply chains to the full satisfaction of customers and, at the same time, to
create value for its owners, employees and other stakeholders.

Values

Professional attitude to customers. Our activities are focused on satisfying every customer’s
needs and requirements for logistics services in a top quality manner and are based on state-ofthe-art logistics knowledge.
Adaptability and flexibility. Our services are prompt and suited to meet the demands of our
customers. We attain this goal through ingenious operations and sound organisation.
Responsibility. The Group is characterised by a high level of responsibility for assumed obligations and covenants and to the social and natural environment.
Teamwork and respectful attitude to fellow employees. The quality of our services is a result
of work of individuals and superior expert groups. We value different kinds of knowledge, experience and views of our fellow employees.
Our organisational structure and professional competence will be instrumental in taking advantage
of our competitive strengths:
•

own network of affiliates,

•

established partnership network,

•

wide range of various products and own infrastructure,

•

qualified personnel.
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Strategic objectives and policies
Strategic objectives for the period 2010-2014 have been defined on the basis of the principal
challenges arising from the current situation in the external and internal business environment of
the Group. In this respect, the securing of the Group's long-term financial stability, securing of
liquidity, prompt adjustment of operations to the new circumstances and setting of new foundations for future growth of the Group will be of central importance.
Strategic objectives for the next four-year period are based on the following basic points:
•

Maintaining and strengthening of the market position as a provider of integrated logistics services in Slovenia and countries of ex-Yugoslavia.

•

Continuous optimisation of processes in all segments of operations on the group level and
within affiliates.

•

Securing of financial stability through disinvestment, deleverage, debt rescheduling, efficient
management of working capital.

•

Establishing a strategic partnership in the company Intereuropa – East Ltd., Moscow.

• 	Acquiring a strategic partner for the company Intereuropa d.d. to increase the company's
capital and thus contribute to the financial stability of the Group and, at the same time, to the
development of our basic activity.
The Group's vision to become a top provider of integrated logistics services will be implemented by:
•

strengthening the Group's existing market position through its own branch network,

•

developing and specialising logistics products,

•

sales and customer orientation by creating partnership relations,

•

focusing on sales of integrated logistics solutions of the Group,

•

ongoing process optimisation and implementation of synergic effects of the Group’s coordinated activities.

For the purpose of implementing the set strategic objectives, the Group's activities will be based
on five key strategic orientations.
The Group's activities will be focused on the markets in which it has the highest market
shares (markets of the former Yugoslavia). Other markets will be subject to evaluation of the type of
the Group's presence in terms of the potential for growth. In those markets where the Group fails to
achieve the planned growth rates, there is a possibility of withdrawal and disposal of companies.
The Group will remain focused on developing three business areas (land transport, intercontinental transport and logistics solutions), along with associated products. Synergic solutions
provided by the logistics service of storage and distribution will be sought in the sale of land and
intercontinental transport products. Complementarity of our services will help us to achieve growth
and development of all products and a more comprehensive customer management.
The Group will provide a wide range of logistics services in managing product flows and organising supply chains through a branch network and infrastructure of its own. The Group will set
up a systematic organisation that will be adapted to an enhanced commercial and sale activity.
In-house training will improve the reliability of service in the entire chain, and timely and quality
information will be provided through a new information platform which is under construction.
The Group's market activities will be oriented primarily towards developing partnerships,
i.e. managing long-term relations with customers focusing on their basic activities and willing to
entrust the management of their logistics activities to specialised companies that operate on similar markets as Intereuropa. Moreover, they have their operations on similar markets as Intereuropa
Group- The Group's minor customers will not ne overlooked either since they are particularly
important in the area of land transport in order to fill the available capacities.
Intereuropa d.d. will manage its group companies according to a transnational group
model, i.e. a group that aims to achieve global efficiency and, at the same time, to respond to the
needs of local markets to the maximum possible extent. The Group will give effect to its strengths
and take advantage of synergic mechanisms deriving from a company network of its own and a
uniform partnership network.
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Own companies
by country:
Slovenia

RU

Croatia
Bosnia
and Herzegovina
DE

Macedonia
Serbia
Kosovo
Montenegro
Albania

UA
FR

Russia

SI

Ukraine

HR

Germany

BA

France

RS
ME KV
AL

MK

Intereuropa Group company network

Implementation of strategic development objectives
and plans for 2010
Achievement of strategic development objectives
In the first year of implementation of Intereuropa Group's development plan, laid down by the
Strategic Operational Plan of Intereuropa Group for 2010-2014, a great emphasis was laid on the
implementation of the strategic objective of securing long-term financial stability and liquidity of
the Group companies.
In order to improve its financial stability, the Group refinanced a major part of our short-term
loans last year. Reconciliation of long-term liabilities with sources of funds resulted in a reduction
of short-term financial liabilities by 15 per cent at the year-end 2010, while it was still as high
as 59 per cent at the year-end 2008. The debt level was reduced by EUR 18.3 million through
disinvestment. Current liquidity was provided by efficient management of working capital.
The Group continued optimising business processes by suppressing activities that do
not generate value added, by simplifying operational procedures including by means of
informatisation, centralisation of certain functions, increasing productivity and asset utilisation,
increasing the share of outsourcing, etc.
In spite of active disinvestment and consequently debt reduction, the debt level still remains too
high. With this intention in mind, the Group launched activities for selling the Tchekhov Centre and
signed an agreement with the consulting firm MCS Vienna that actively conducts the sale process.

Implementation of the operational plan for 2010
The Group set seven major operational objectives for 2010, which were implemented as follows:

Objective 1:
The increase in market shares and optimisation of all processes of the Group will result in EUR
200 million sales revenues, representing approximately five per cent increase on the previous year.
In 2010, the Group earned EUR 190.6 million in sales revenues which thus remained at
approximately the same level as in 2009 when sales revenues totalled EUR 191.1 million.
Results fell short of the annual sales plan by five per cent. In spite of the revival of trade, the
Group witnessed strong price pressures on logistics services since the goods move faster through
a logistics chain, which results in lower storage costs. This was reflected particularly in the area
of automobile logistics, since due to a rapid turnover of vehicles and consequently lower storage
revenues the Group suffered a sharp decline in income.
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Objective 2:
The highest growth is expected in the area of logistics solutions, particularly as a result of the
planned start-up of storage activity in Russia, and in land transport where growth is expected
particularly from new business activities.
With an annual 11 per cent growth in services in the land transport area the planned level of
sales revenues was exceeded by four per cent. The largest progress was achieved in groupage
and road transport services as well as customs services. Due to the problems with connecting to
the basic infrastructure in Russia, storage capacities in this country were only partly filled and the
increase in logistics services fell short of the planned level.

Objective 3:
The controlling company will continue with the process of active reduction of operating expenses.
Operating expenses of the company Intereuropa d.d. were successfully reduced: the costs
of services by six per cent and labour costs by 13 per cent on 2009 notwithstanding the merger
of the subsidiary Intereuropa IT.

Objective 4:
Sales efficiency of the subsidiary Intereuropa Transport, d.o.o. will be increased considerably.
Productivity (sales revenues per employee/month) of Intereuropa Transport, d.o.o. was 20
per cent higher than in 2009.

Objective 5:
A combination of cost reduction and increased sales volume will lead to the achievement of
EBITDA and operating profit of EUR 23.7 million and EUR 6.7 million, respectively.
The Group's EBITDA was EUR 21.6 million or 9 per cent short of the planned level. The
Groups operating profit was EUR -27.2 million or EUR 34 million short of the planned level.
This was due to an unexpected impairment of the value of assets of the company IntereuropaEast Ltd. totalling EUR 34.7 million. Without this impairment, the Group’s operating profit or loss
would be EUR 7.5 million.

Objective 6:
In the field of investments, the Group will limit itself on competing the initiated investments,
particularly the logistics centre Tchekhov-Moscow, and minimum investments required for the
Group’s smooth operation.
The Group earmarked EUR 2.0 million or 22 per cent of the originally planned funds or
14 per cent of depreciation for capital investments.

Objective 7:
The deleverage process of the controlling company will be initiated by disposal of two larger
pieces of property.
This year, the Group sold 3 larger pieces of property in Slovenia. The purchase monies were
used to repay the principal and reduce the debt level.

The first year of implementation of the development plan produced the following results:
•

sales revenues totalling EUR 190.6 million,

•

EBITDA free from influence of property disposal totalling EUR 14.5 million,

•

operating profit/loss totalling EUR –27.2 million,

•

net operating profit/loss totalling EUR –39.2 million,

•

equity totalling EUR 425.4 million,

•

equity totalling EUR 148.2 million,

•

net return on equity –20.8 per cent,

•

net return on assets –8.6 per cent.

The largest deviation from the financial objectives for 2010 is due to impairment of assets held by
the Group, totalling EUR 37.3 million.
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Achievement of the planned operating net profit or loss (from 0 to 100)

Figure 4: Achievement of financial business objectives by major Group companies in 2010
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Note: The size of the circle in proportional to the amount of assets held by the company

Objectives and plans for 2011
Basic points for the preparation of the plans
The basis for the preparation of the operational plan for 2011 was the Group's situation at the
year-end 2010:
•

The company Intereuropa d.d. made a considerable progress in terms of operating results,
arising particularly from the company's restructuring and increase in efficiency.

•

The Group does not yet generate an adequate cash flow in order to service its interest
expenses and principal repayment.

•

The bulk of the burden of servicing the financial debt is borne by Intereuropa d.d. directly or
indirectly through outstanding liabilities of its subsidiaries.

•

The uncertainty regarding factors associated with the operation of the Tchekhov logistics
terminal.

•

In spite of an increased efficiency of operations, the company Intereuropa Transport d.o.o.
continues to face difficulties in attempting to improve its operations.

The central issue is the provision of adequate cash flow in order to ensure a smooth operation of
the Group, particularly of the parent company.
In the preparation of the operational plan for 2011, the following socio-economic circumstances
were given particular attention:
•

the projected low economic growth in the majority of countries in which the Group has its
operations,

•

preparations for Croatia’s joining the EU,

•

tightened liquidity situation on the market and pressures to reduce the prices.

Business and financial objectives
By taking into consideration the above-listed basic points for 2011, Intereuropa Group set the
following business and financial objectives:
•

further optimisation of business processes,

•

focusing on the markets in which the Group has a high market share,

•

taking advantage of synergic effects of the branch network,

•

restructuring of the existing range of services,
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•

increase in the share of customers using comprehensive logistics,

•

securing appropriate financial stability in order to provide for a smooth operation of the Group;

•

the main financial objectives are:
•

sales totalling EUR 191.5 million,

•

EBITDA EUR 21.9 million,

•

operating profit/loss totalling EUR 6.2 million,

•

investments totallling EUR 2.4 million,

•

the number of employees at the end of the year: 2,236

The key guiding principle in preparing operational plans for 2011 included
a further optimisation and enhanced efficiency of business processes,
strengthening of the sales function and securing of long-term financial
stability of the parent company and the Group.

Economic conditions and their influence on
logistics activity
Due to their nature, sales trends in the logistics activity are heavily dependent on the dynamics
of economic activity and trade in goods in a narrower and broader environment. It is directly
influenced by changes in the direction and intensity of trade among market operators, which
is serviced by logistics providers. It is typical of Slovenian logistics that it operates in a limited
geographical area crossed by predominantly transit trade routes. In addition to a favourable
geostrategic position, openness of the economy and developed logistics infrastructure, it is most
strongly influenced by trends in regional trade that underwent significant changes in the past
three years.
The first half of 2010 saw a gradual recovery of the world economy, which was largely due to
industrial manufacturing encouraged by the growth of global trade. In the second half of the year,
the growth of economic activity stabilised. It is characteristic of economic recovery that it occurs
at two different speeds: developing countries recorded, on an average, a 6.5 per cent economic
growth, and developed economies advanced more slowly – by 2.5 per cent on an average. The
International Monetary Fund rated the growth of the world economy in 2010 at 5.0 per cent, and
its forecast for 2011 is at 4.4 per cent.

Europe
The European economy recorded the same dynamics of development as the global economy but
with a mere 1.8 GDP growth. Germany as Europe's largest economy played the most positive
role in this development. Due to higher exports and stronger domestic demand, this country's
growth was 3.6 per cent. Instability of European financial markets continued. In some areas, the
real economic sector already showed certain signs of improvement, particularly as a result of
stronger exports following the revival of world trade. Purchasers of logistics services continued to
be cautious in 2010 in spite of the improved economic climate indicators.
Forecast: The average level economic growth in the European Union is expected to remain
modest. A faster growth is expected in the second half of 2011, when an increase in foreign
demand is also anticipated. Economic growth in the euro zone will be slowed by public finance
consolidation, and the major risk will pose the danger of debt crisis expansion. During the
economic crisis, productivity dropped so low that the eleven members of the European Union will
not be able to achieve the pre-crisis manufacturing level before the end of 2012. Based on such
forecasts, a moderate trade growth is expected in these markets in the next few years.
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Table 5 |
Economic trends in geographic markets of the Group in 2010

(in %)

GDP growth
(estimate)

Growth of
industrial
production

Inflation

Growth of
exports

Growth of
imports

1.8
1.2
-1.5
-1.8
4.0
4.7
0.5
1.2
1.5
4.6
2.6
1.5
3.6

7.7
6.4
-1.5
17.5
8.2
11.0
1.6
-4.3
3.0
5.1
9.0

2.2
1.9
1.8
0.7
8.8
9.1
2.4
3.0
10.3
3.1
3.4
1.8
1.7

22.9
7.8
17.4
19.2
5.0
29.6
28.3
22.7
20.9
16.0
56.4
8.8
14.2

23.7
6.6
-1.4
0.0
15.3
33.7
10.3
8.1
7.1
10.8
11.0
8.3
13.0

EU27
Slovenia
Croatia
Montenegro
Russia
Ukraine
Bosnia and Herzegovina
Macedonia
Serbia
Kosovo
Albania
France
Germany

Slovenia
Decline in foreign demand during the crisis and limited possibilities of financing were the main
reasons for a decline in exports and investment. Economic recovery in 2010 in Slovenia, where
approximately one third of our customers are established, was slower than in the rest of euro
zone countries. After an optimistic growth in the first half of the year, the growth of export of
goods and manufacturing activity slowed down in the autumn. At the end of 2010 this growth
was higher than in 2009 when the logistics business recorded the sharpest decline, but was still
lower than average for 2008. The international environment was stimulating for Slovenian exports;
however, the gradual decline in economic activity in other countries in the second half of the year
was also reflected in Slovenia. Domestic demand remained low and impeded a faster recovery.
The weakest growth was recorded in investments, where improvement was, among other things,
impeded by adverse conditions in the financial sector.
Forecast: Slovenia’s economic growth will continue to be fuelled by developments in the markets
of its trading partners, the most important one being the German market. The key factor of
economic growth will continue to be the increase of exports (5.9 per cent in 2011), while imports
will grow at a slower rate (4.5 per cent in 2011) due to a weak domestic demand. Trade is
expected to follow the growth of international markets in which Slovenia does the bulk of its trade.

South Eastern Europe
In the West Balkans markets in which the Group is present, economic recovery was slower
and less stable due to a weak manufacturing sector, low external competitiveness and high
unemployment. In Croatia and Montenegro, the gross domestic product even recorded a decline.
The first signs of recovery emerged in Croatia in the middle of the year (increase in manufacturing
and exports); however, it was limited and slowed down by a weak labour market, high level of
indebtedness of households and businesses, limited access to borrowing and shaken confidence
of investors. Kosovo, Albania and Serbia recorded the highest growth in the region. The crisis was
marked by a sharp decline in personal consumption and it will take quite some time until it regains
the pre-crisis level. In this area, the companies' operations were burdened with numerous liquidity
problems, which slowed the recovery of regional economies that entered the crisis a few moths
later than other European countries.
Forecast: In the markets of former Yugoslavia, a higher growth may be expected than in 2010.
According to the estimation of international institutions, the key factors of recovery in the next
two years will be the increase in foreign demand and the growth of investments due to the
ongoing major infrastructure projects for which the restoration of foreign sources of funding will
be of crucial importance. In Croatia, positive effects of accession to the EU are also expected.
Nonetheless, these markets will continue to cope with high unemployment, inflation and nonpayment. A major obstacle to economic recovery of the countries of Central and Eastern Europe
will be a high budget deficit and growing debt.
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Eastern Europe
The Group's market in Eastern Europe started to recover after a deep crisis in 2010. The Russian
economy began to grow as a result of increased exports and domestic demand. In the second
quarter, a rapid appreciation of the ruble and stable fuel prices considerably slowed down the
growth of exports. The effect of recovery due to domestic demand was inhibited in part by a
rapid increase in imports. Economic activity slowed down in the third quarter of the year, when
the country was hit by severe draught and large-scale fire. This resulted in lower agricultural
production and other manufacturing activities. In the fourth quarter, exports were stimulated by
the appreciation of the ruble, which came closer to its original rate of exchange.
The Ukrainian economy was among the hardest hit by the economic crisis. In 2010, it recorded
the highest growth of the gross domestic product among all markets in which the Group is
present, but it was only a logical consequence of the extremely sharp decline in the year before.
Industrial manufacturing and trade volume increased on the previous year, but remained highly
dependent on international economic developments.
Forecast: The Russian economy is expected to recover slowly in the future; however, its growth
will be strongly influenced by the price of oil, which represents the major risk according to
economic forecasts. An increase in domestic demand is expected along with an increase in the
labour market and moderate inflation and enhanced lending; however, the expected economic
growth will not regain its pre-crisis level before 2012. There is a strong link between the Russian
and the Ukrainian economy, and the latter is expected to grow faster than originally anticipated:
it should regain its pre-crisis growth level by 2012. Its economic growth will be most strongly
influenced by export and particularly domestic demand.

Trade growth in our markets has resumed. In 2011, a higher growth of
economic activity may be expected; however, most markets will not regain
their pre-crisis levels.

Table 6 |
Anticipated economic trends in the Group’s geographical markets
GDP growth forecast in %

Inflation forecast in %

2011

2012

2011

2012

EU27

1.8

2,0

2,5

1,7

Slovenia

2.5

3.1

2.2

2.3

Croatia

1.6

2.5

2.8

2.8

Montenegro

4.5

5.5

1.0

1.3

Russia

4.2

4.4

7.8

6.8

Ukraine

3.9

4.3

11.6

8.8

Bosnia and Herzegovina

3.0

5.0

2.5

2.5

Macedonia

3.0

4.5

3.0

3.0

Serbia

3.0

5.0

4.4

4.3

Kosovo

5.9

5.2

2.4

2.1

Albania

4.5

5.5

1.0

1.3

Germany

2.4

2.2

2.2

1.6

France

1.7

1.3

2.0

3.0

Sources for this chapter:

Eurostat (ec.europa.eu/eurostat),
Statistical Office of the Republic of Slovenia
(www.stat.si)
Office of the Government of the Republic of
Slovenia for Macroeconomic Analysis and
Development (www.umar.gov.si)
Croatian Bureau of Statistics (www.dzs.hr)
Agencija za statistiku Bosne i Hercegovine
(www.bhas.ba)
State Statistical Office, Republic of
Macedonia (www.stat.gov.mk)
Statistical Office of the Republic of Serbia
(webrzs.stat.gov.rs)
Federal State Statistics Service, Russian
Federation (www.gks.ru)

National Institute of Statistics and Economic
Studies, France (www.insee.fr)
State Statistics Comittee of Ukraine
(www.ukrstat.gov.ua)
Federal Statistical Office, Germany
(www.destatis.de)
Statistical Office of Kosovo
(www.ks-gov.net/esk)
Statistical Office of Montenegro
(www.monstat.org)
Institute of statistics, Albania
(www.instat.gov.al)
European Commission: European Economic
Forecast, Autumn 2010, »EU recovery taking
hold, but progress uneven«, 29/11/2010

European Commission: Interim forecast,
February 2011, »EU recovery ganing
ground«,01/03/2011
Office of the Government of the Republic
of Slovenia for Economic Analysis and
Development, Slovenian Economic Mirror no.
1/ Year XVII, January 2011
International Monetary Fund, World Economic
Outlook, "Recovery, Risk, and Rebalancing",
October 2010
International Monetary Fund, World Economic
Outlook Update, "Global Recovery Advances
but Remains Uneven", January 2011
International Monetary Fund, Country Report
No. 10/245, Republic of Kosovo: Request for
Stand - By Arrangement, 29/07/2010

Growth of the
volume of shipments
in land transport

Sales revenues from land
transport rose by 11 per
cent and exceeded the
planned level by 4 per
cent. Road and groupage
transport, in which the
volume of shipments
achieved the pre-crisis level,
recorded remarkable results.
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Sales and marketing

The highest increase in sales was achieved in the land
transport area as one of the Group's three basic business
areas. The plan was exceeded primarily in groupage and
road transport areas and in seafreight products. The trends
of increase in trade flows in most of our markets give rise to
positive expectations for 2011.

Total sales by the Group
After the economic crisis that bottomed out in the year before, trade flows in the majority of the
Group's market began to increase. In spite of the positive changes, economic growth did not
reach the pre-crisis level by mid-year. In particular, a delay was observed in the recovery of the
economies of the West Balkan countries.
In the financial year 2010, Intereuropa Group earned EUR 190.6 million in sales revenues and
thus maintained, for the most part, the 2009 level. The lagging behind in the planned sales levels,
which was eight per cent at the end of the first half year, was reduced to five per cent in the
second half of the year.

Sales structure by business areas
Sales results are monitored by business areas. Compared with 2009, the sales structure by
business areas changed in favour of the increase in sales by the land transport business area.
This business area recorded an increase by six percentage points and totalled 62 per cent, while
the share of sales by intercontinental transport declined.
With an annual 11 per cent growth in services in the land transport area the planned level of sales
revenues was exceeded by four per cent. The largest progress was achieved in groupage and
road transport services as well as customs services.
Sales results of other business areas fell behind the last year's and planned levels. The business
area of intercontinental transport recorded the sharpest decline in sales as compared with the
previous year. The sales of these services fell behind the planned results particularly regarding the
revenues from automobile logistics in the Russian subsidiary, which was a result of changes in
trade flows and the decline in automobile manufacturing.
Table 7 l
Business area
Land transport

January-December 2010

Structural share

Index 2010/plan

Index 2010/2009

117,707

62%

104

111

Logistics solutions

24,963

13%

87

96

Intercontinental transport

42,814

22%

82

80

5,140

3%

92

92

190,624

100%

95

100

Other services

The geographical structure of sales revenues did not change much as compared with the previous
year. In the Group’s companies outside the EU, revenues were by one percentage point higher
than in the previous year. The bulk of revenues from sales is still accounted for by the controlling
company whose sales revenues totalled EUR 96.4 million.
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Table 8 |
Sales revenues of Intereuropa Group in 2010 by country

Slovenia
Croatia
Bosnia and Herzegovina
Serbia
Macedonia
Kosovo
Russia
France
Ukraine
Germany
Montenegro
Albania
EU Member States
Non-EU countries
TOTAL

(in EUR 000)

January-December 2010

Structural share

Index 2010/plan

Index 2010/2009

115,076
33,671
6,495
3,160
1,466
2,060
5,087
1,079
9,318
7,442
5,438
333
123,597
67,027
190,624

60%
18%
3%
2%
1%
1%
3%
1%
5%
4%
3%
0%
65%
35%
100%

97
108
80
87
118
85
39
84
121
138
74
427
99
90
95

97
105
89
91
109
99
95
87
121
152
84
502
99
102
100

Note: Sales revenues by country are shown for head offices of the Group companies.

The highest proportion of the Group’s services in the total sales revenues is accounted for by
customers established in Slovenia, followed by Croatia and Germany. The increase in sales on
the previous year was recorded for our customers in Ukraine, Germany and Slovenia, and the
sharpest decline for our customers in Russia.
Figure 5: Structure of sales revenues by country and customer head office in 2010

17.1%
Croatia

34.0%
Slovenia

3.2% Russia
6.4% Germany
3.6% Bosnia and
Herzegovina
2.8% Hungary
3.6% Norway
3.2%	Austria
2.7% Montenegro
3.3% Italy

16.2%
Other States

3.8% Switzerland

The Group’s sales in 2010 remained on the previous year's level. An increase
was recorded in land transport services, where the largest progress was
achieved in groupage and road transport services.
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Land transport

The business area of land transport achieved a 11 per cent higher
revenue from sales than in the previous year and exceeded the planned
level by four per cent. Land transport accounted for the largest share
in the structure of sales by the Group, and in 2010 this share rose by
additional seven percentage points on the previous year. The highest
increase was recorded by the parent company Intereuropa d.d. in
Slovenia. The planned levels were also exceeded by the subsidiaries in
Croatia, Germany and Ukraine.
In the land transport area, the share of net sales revenues on the Group level rose from 55 to 62
per cent. The share of sales revenues achieved by the Group companies in Slovenia accounted for
more than one half of the total revenues from sales. The highest increase in sales revenues was
recorded by the parent company Intereuropa d.d.
The planned objectives were exceeded by four per cent. The highest revenues above the planned
level were recorded by Intereuropa d.d., Intereuropa, logističke usluge, d.o.o., Zagreb, Intereuropa
Transport & Spedition GmbH, Troisdorf and TOV TEK ZTS Uzhgorod. The plan was also exceeded
by the subsidiaries in Macedonia and Kosovo; however, their sales revenues did not contribute
significantly to the total sales revenues of the Group.
The good results are due to the increase in trade flows on the market, economic recovery in the
countries that are Slovenia's key trading partners, such as Germany. However, the Group still has
to achieve the pre-crisis results of 2008.

In the land transport area, net sales revenues rose by 11 per cent on the
previous year and exceeded the planned level by four per cent.

Sales by products
In 2010, a positive trend in sales was recorded from month to month. We saw an increased
volume of goods on the market, which had a positive impact on groupage land transport
products. The number of shipments increased, but, unfortunately, margins are sinking due to
an increasingly strong competition. This is also due to the fact that input costs are on the rise,
which is a result of a lower availability of transport capacities in the market. At the same time, it
is becoming increasingly difficult to pass these input costs to the customers that are increasingly
pressing for lower costs of transport and other logistics services.
This year, many activities were carried out with a view to enhanced work process optimisation and
cost reduction, such as the establishment of the central purchasing department for international
road transport in Intereuropa d.d. In Group companies in Slovenia, Croatia and Bosnia and
Herzegovina, activities associated with work optimisation are in progress in the express transport
product. There is a growing need for a uniform information solution to support operating
procedures within the Group as a whole. It will provide for traceability of shipments, which will
increase the competition in the market, and will also affect favourably an increase in labour
productivity within the company and provide for uniform work processes and standards required
by the market.

The highest positive growth trend among land transport products was
recorded in 2010 in road transport and groupage products, which also had
a positive influence on support products such as customs services and
express transport.
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Figure 6: Structure of net sales revenues in the land transport area by country

52%

8% Ukraine
2% Kosovo

Slovenia

1% France
1% Macedonia
7% Germany
2% Montenegro
1% Serbia
4% Bosnia and
Herzegovina
1% Russia

21%
Croatia

Figure 7: Structure of net sales revenues by product
1% Car part distribution

13%

7% Railway transport

Groupage

21%

10%

Customs services

Express transport

48%

Road transport

Road transport
Road transport accounts for the largest share in the structure of net sales revenues among
Intereuropa's products. This share rose further from 26 to 30 percent in 2010. In the land
transport business area, this product accounted for 48 per cent of the total net sales revenues.
The largest share continued to account for the largest share of revenues of the company
Intereuropa Transport, d.o.o. (43 per cent), although its share shrunk by as many as eight
percentage points on the previous year's level, followed by Intereuropa d.d., which earns 32
per cent of total sales revenues from road transport.
In 2010, the Group exceeded the set objectives as well as the level of revenues from the previous
year. The Group saw an increase in the volume of goods in the market and, at the same time,
also a mismatch between the supply and demand for road transport services in the market.
The number of freight vehicles in the market declined due to economic recession, which resulted
in an increase in prices and a decrease in margins. Intereuropa d.d. set up a central purchasing
department that also contributed to optimising its transactions with suppliers of transport services.

Key objectives for 2011:
•

to preserve the key customers and attract new ones by providing them with high level
quality products,

•

to strengthen the role of the central purchasing department and to ensure a centralised
supplier management,

•

to reduce the number of vehicles that do not satisfy ecological standards,

•

to increase operational efficiency of the company Intereuropa Transport d.o.o.,

•

to coordinate market activities between Intereuropa Transport d.o.o. and forwarding units.
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Customs services
Customs services are a very important service provided by the Group. More than one half of the
total revenues from the sale of this product is achieved by the subsidiary in Croatia, and Slovenia
ranks second with one third of the total revenues from customs brokerage In both countries,
net sales revenues exceeded, for the most part, the 2009 level and the planned objectives.
Intereuropa Kosova L.L.C. and Intereuropa Skopje, DOO also performed above the planned levels,
while other companies lagged behind the plans.

Key objectives for 2011:
•

continuous care for maintaining the high level of knowledge: regular training, regular monitoring of changes in legislation and transfer of knowledge among employees,

•

enhancing specific knowledge used to provide our customers with advice and assist them in
finding solutions to logistics issues,

•

preparation of the Group's companies, particularly in Slovenia and Croatia, for Croatia’s accession to the European Union.

Groupage
The segment of groupage transport was severely hit by the economic crisis, and 2010 saw
some positive changes. Sales revenues were up by 19 per cent, which is the highest in Slovenia
where the Group realised as much as 87 per cent of its total revenues. This share rose by three
percentage points as compared with 2009. Results and objectives planned for the past year were
also fully achieved in Croatia. The growth of net sales revenues was the most strongly influenced
by the growth of international trade and consequently also the increase in the quantity of
transported goods. The Group, however, also witnessed a considerable decline in sales margins
on the market.

Key objectives for 2011:
•

to maintain the position of the leading supplier of groupage transport in Slovenia, Croatia,
Bosnia and Herzegovina and Serbia and to increase market shares in all other countries in
which Intereuropa Group has its operations,

•

to further enhance the dynamics of transports,

•

to provide customers with traceability of shipments by introducing a new information solution.

Express transport
Net sales revenues increased by one per cent on 2009. The largest share of sales revenues
was accounted for by the subsidiary in Croatia (65 per cent), followed by the parent company
in Slovenia (25 per cent), the subsidiary in Bosnia and Herzegovina (eight per cent), and the
subsidiary in Serbia (two per cent).
In Slovenia, where the biggest sales revenue increase was recorded, great efforts had been made
to restructure sales segments and optimise operations. The planned level of sales revenues was
also achieved by the subsidiaries in Croatia and Serbia, while inferior results were achieved by the
subsidiary in Bosnia and Herzegovina, where a number of activites were carried out in order to
optimise the product. In Croatia and Bosnia and Herzegovina activities were carried out in order to
reduce the volume of transport by own vehicles and to increase the proportion of outsourcing. A
shipment traceability project was also carried out in Croatia.

Key objectives for 2011:
•

final implementation of the new information support in Slovenia,

•

development of distribution services in the countries in which Intereuropa has its operations,

•

further process optimisation, control over costs and expenses, and finding optimum solutions
for implementation in order to maintain the topmost quality of the service.
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Railway transport
Although the Group's net sales revenues rose by as much as 26 per cent on the previous year,
results achieved in this area fell short of the planned level.
The Group manages railway transport together with its affiliate Intereuropa-FLG d.o.o., Ljubljana,
in which Intereuropa d.d. has a 50 interest and the other 50 per cent is held by the Austrian
company Express-Interfracht Internationale Spedition GmbH. The net sales revenues of this
company remained on 2009 level.
Railway transport is also organised with the help of the company TOV TEK ZTS, Uzhgorod, which
contributes an important share of net sales revenues from this product. The company performed
very well by increasing its net revenues from sales of railway services by as much as 44 per cent
on the previous year. The subsidiary in Russia failed to meet the plan.

Key objectives for 2011:
•

taking advantage of synergic effects resulting from cooperation between the Group companies,

•

further growth of railway transport, particularly in Ukraine and Russia,

•

care for maintaining and upgrading the level of knowledge,

•

taking advantage of geostrategic position at the intersection between Corridor 5 and
Corridor 10.

Plans for 2011
The Slovenian part of the Group made every effort to ensure cost effectiveness and optimisation
of its operations. Activities were continued for the construction of a new information system to
support land transport products, which will enhance process automation and increase productivity
within the company and provide the Group's customers with improved traceability of shipments.
The Group expects to reap the rewards of this work in 2011, and in the following years this
information solution will also be implemented in other companies of the Group.
A one per cent increase in sales revenues is expected for 2011. The highest increase is expected
in the railway transport product (in TOV TEK ZTS, Uzhgorod), and growth is also expected in the
area of customs services, express transport and car parts distribution. The decrease in sales
revenues for the road transport product is a result of the decrease in the number of vehicles in
Intereuropa Transport d.o.o. and Intereuropa-East Ltd..
Since the Group vitally depends on the markets of Western Europe for which a modest economic
growth is anticipated and, since, on the other side, we operate on the markets of South Eastern
Europe, where the crisis has only now revealed its true nature, the Group will have to continue
coping with economic crisis and its consequences.
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Intercontinental transport

In seafreight products which accounted for more than one half of sales
in the business area of intercontinental transport, the Group exceeded
the planned annual objectives for net sales revenues by five per cent
and improved its sales results from the previous year. As a result of
higher vehicle turnover and reduced need for storage, automobile
logistics showed a decline in revenues, and so did the air transport in
which a growing trend was recorded in the second half of the year.
A higher demand for seafreight transport and the use of the entire logistics chain was observed
particularly in the second half of the year. Similarly good results were also achieved for the
shipping agency product, where, in the second half of the year, the achieved results exceeded the
planned levels and met the 2010 targets. A growth trend was also recorded in air transport.
Compared with the previous year, the major change in the proportion of realised sales revenues
occurred in the areas of seafreight and automobile logistics. The share of seafreight rose by 14
percentage points, and the share of automobile logistics declined by 15 percentage points.
Developments on the international market inspire us with optimism regarding the Group’s
operations in 2011. There is a noticeable recovery in maritime trade flows and growth is also
anticipated for car sales.

Figure 8: Structure of net sales revenues in intercontinental transport business area

1% UPS

9%

2% Shipping agency

Air transport

32%

56%

Automobile logistics

Seafreight

Seafreight
Seafreight products include conventional cargoes, full and less than container loads (FCL and
LCL) as well as RO-RO services which are based on ferry transport services. They also includes
activities of the shipping agency which are provided in Slovenia by the company Interagent,
d.o.o., Koper.
In 2010, seafreight accounted for 23 per cent of the Group’s total net sales revenues, exceeding
the planned level by five per cent.
Sales objectives in Slovenia were exceeded by seven per cent. Sales of the conventional
seafreight product were nine per cent higher than anticipated, which was a result of the Group's
sound performance in Slovenia and Croatia. On the Group level, container transport achieved the
planned sales volume, and sales in Slovenia exceeded the plan by 10 per cent. Sales of the RORO product fell short of the plan since the carrier on the Group's most important line between
Slovenia and Albania frequently changed the terms of service. However, a major shift to land
transport of goods was recorded in turn.
Sales objectives of subsidiaries engaging in seafreight were exceeded in Albania and Ukraine,
while sales of the subsidiary in Croatia remained within the planned limits. The Group set up
a network of seafreight agencies in all ports of the eastern Adriatic through which it effectively
provided services to the entire area of South Eastern Europe. Strengthening of cooperation
with the partnership and agency network and comprehensive management of seafreight logistic
continues to remain of key importance.
The shipping agency ended the financial year as planned. It was particularly successful in the
second half of the year, when the Group was awarded a contract for container transport with
regular weekly service for Koper. In 2010, the Group maintained its leading role in terms of
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the number of ships represented in the port of Koper although the number of arrivals of ships
transporting automobiles was less than expected. According to the development and operational
guidelines for 2011, development of regular container service between the Far East and Koper
and maintaining the leading role in representing ships in the port of Koper remain at the forefront.

The Group’s seafreight transfer exceeded the planned level of sales
revenues by five per cent. The Group performed very well in providing
conventional freight and container services and recorded a significant
growth as compared with 2009.

Automobile logistics
Automobile logistics has become one of the most important products of the Group which
manages several automobile terminals in Slovenia and in foreign markets. The most important
markets in automobile terminal services are the Russian and the Slovenian markets. Services
provided in Russia also include terminal services which comprise transshipment of automobiles
and their storage. In 2010, the Group also introduced a new service of automobile transport by
means of ten freight vehicles. This area also remains important in Koper where the Group handles
over 30 per cent of the total quantity of vehicles passing through the port of Koper. Due to a
rapid turnover of vehicles in the Tchekhov terminal and consequently lower revenues from vehicle
storage, the Group recorded a sharp decline in revenue in 2010. The Slovenian part of the Group
witnessed a change in import and export transport routes of its key customers that set up their
own manufacturing base in Europe, which resulted in a lower volume of overseas transshipment
through the port of Koper.
The Group nevertheless achieved important development goals. The Tchekhov automobile terminal
significantly expanded its clientele and obtained new contracts for automobile transport. The
rate of utilisation of the terminal’s capacities was also on the increase. The customers' forecasts
of considerably larger quantities of cars sold in Russia in 2011 inspire the Group with optimism.
However, it faces increased pressures on the price of its services, which result in lower margins.

Air transport
Air transport services were exposed to the influence of various factors associated with the global
economic crisis. Aggravated market conditions adversely affected the Group's operations which
fell short of the planned level. This was due to very low air freight rates and the decline in air
transport volume in the region. Demand for transport of more valuable goods that require a rapid
method of transport slackened. The best performance was recorded by the subsidiary in Serbia
whose sales targets were exceeded by 21 per cent. The largest volume of operations continued to
be achieved in Slovenia with a 65 per cent share of the total sales revenues.
The company faced increased competition in the market and the presence of global logistics
companies, which additionally contributed to the fragmentation of the relatively closed circle of
customers and available cargo. Although freight rates remained low, they rose during the year and
were considerably higher than those for the competitive product of less than container seafreight
transport. In the second half, particularly in the last quarter of the year, an increase in demand for
air transport services was recorded in the majority of markets. A similar trend was also observed by
our trading partners who considerably intensified their commercial activities relating to shipments
to the Balkans area. For these reasons, a further development of this product and growth in the
area of South Eastern Europe are expected in 2011. Particular emphasis will be placed primarily on
a more aggressive sales approach and a comprehensive customer management.

In spite of the decline in sales results in the air transport area, the
development of this product in the Group companies is satisfactory since the
Group maintained and in some cases even increased its market share.

UPS
Express shipment delivery services are carried out in the territory of Bosnia and Herzegovina.
Due to the impact of the crisis, a great deal of attention was paid to the streamlining of costs and
exploring the possibilities for optimising the delivery of shipments in the territory of the country.
Special attention was paid to introducing new IT programmes and the resulting increase in
productivity. Sales results remained on the previous year's level and slightly below expectations.
The Group nevertheless maintained its market share and still ranked among the three major
express shipment delivery providers in Bosnia and Herzegovina.
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Plans for 2011
The following activities are planned in the area of intercontinental transport:
•

an increase in sales activities for all products and provision of a full range of logistics services
to respond to the needs of customers,

•

obtaining contracts for agency services for the regional air carrier and concerted action among
the Group companies in the area of air transport services,

•

further development of automobile logistics focusing on both import and export trade flows
through the port of Koper,

•

intensified development of all seafreight products in the Group companies focused on full container load and less than container load transport through Pan-European Transport Corridors
V and X,

•

exploring the possibilities of winning an agency contract for a container carrier in the ports on
the eastern coast of the Adriatic Sea,

•

strengthening of the partnership network by existing and new global logistics companies and
integration of all companies of the Group into a uniform partnership network,

•

development and introduction of information support for the purposes of intercontinental
transport in subsidiaries.

Logistics solutions

The logistics solutions business area earned EUR 24.9 million of net
sales revenues or 13 per cent of net revenues of the Group. The
realised sales revenues were 4 per cent lower than in 2009.
The business area of logistics solutions provides two types of products:
•

storage and distribution and

•

logistics projects.

This business area provides its services on two key markets – Slovenia and Croatia, which
account for 80 per cent of the business area’s total sales. A six per cent decline in sales was
recorded on both markets. Operations were still hindered by slow economic recovery. Minor
positive changes were noticed in trade flow trends which resulted in an increase in inventories.
A considerable decline in demand for logistics solutions was equally observed in other counties
in which the Group has its storage capacities. The Russian subsidiary also provides terminal
services which include transshipment and storage of automobiles. Sales of the subsidiary in
Bosnia and Herzegovina, which accounts for seven per cent of sales of logistics solutions,
showed a 3 per cent decline on the previous year’s figures. With a six per cent share in the total
sales, the Montenegro subsidiary was seven per cent behind the planned level. The Group’s
Serbian subsidiary, which accounted for a five per cent of sales of logistics solutions, approached
the previous year’s level by recording a four per cent decline. The structure of sales revenues by
country did not change significantly as compared with the 2008 level.
The area of logistics solutions includes the provision of integrated services of supply and sales
logistics on customers’ request. The sheer storage of goods in terms of occupancy of storage
space for a limited period of time was increasingly giving way to more complex logistics of goods
in transit from the seller to the buyer. Due to the changes in the logistics market, the company
developed new, technology and IT-supported services for both suppliers and buyers.
Figure 9: Structure of net sales revenues in the business area of logistics solutions in 2010
by country
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Storage and distribution
A major part of revenues from storage and distribution was realised in 2010 in the area of logistics
solutions. Intereuropa provides storage as one of its logistics services at various locations in which
the Group operates. In the provision of storage services, the Group takes advantage of its storage
capacities that are evenly distributed and concentrated in large logistics centres. Warehouses are
also specialised in the storage of particular categories of goods such as dangerous substances,
foodstuffs in required temperature regimes and other product groups classified as domestic,
customs and excise goods.
Distribution is intended for target markets that require the supply of the customer’s points of
sale or other points of sale on a daily basis or in regular intervals. Distribution at all times consists
of two services: storage and transport distribution services and, at customers’ request, also
other products.
Due to the disposal of property, the total storage area by country was slightly reduced to 261,400 sq. m.

Figure 10: Structure of Intereuropa Groups’ logistics terminal area by country at the year-end
2010 (in %)
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Logistics projects
In the past year, Intereuropa Group upgraded the range of integrated and complex logistics
services. The Group developed a method of operations of its own in which logistics solutions are
provided by combining various products on request (storage, groupage, distribution, seafreight,
air transport, etc.). These services were always based on logistics projects that are highly complex
and required a great deal of expertise.
Logistics projects were project managed, and the task force was composed of experts of both
companies. For an efficient implementation of a logistics solution, a synchronised network of
various activities in various work procedures in the logistics chain was set up, providing the Group
with a rapid flow and exchange of information between the logistics chain entities. This approach
required a partnership between the buyer and seller of logistics services since only joint action
could produce good results and supply chain efficiency. In the field of exchange of information and
data, the Group acted in compliance with GS1 standard.

Plans for 2011
Plans in the area of storage and distribution particularly include the following:
•

to develop integrated information support in the field of logistics solutions,

•

to optimise operational logistics processes with a view to enhancing productivity and improving logistics capacity utilisation,

•

to restructure customers in order to increase the share of customers with an integrated logistics solution,

•

to further specialise and adapt logistics solution to the customers’ needs.

In the area of logistics projects, the Group’s key objective is to continue with professional
activities within logistics projects in order to devise and implement solutions tailored to individual
customers’ needs.
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New users
also of our
seafreight and
in air transport
services

Seafreight services
exceeded the planned sales
revenue level by 5 per cent
and attracted new major
customers. The total sales
in intercontinental transport
area saw a decrease of
one fifth from the previous
year due to a decline in
automobile logistics.
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Operational review
Operational performance of the Group

Intereuropa’s operations in the past year were characterised
by financial consolidation, structural adjustment of
companies to the decline in turnover in 2009 and disposal
of property with a view to securing financial stability of the
parent company and of the Group as a whole. Without
taking into account the impairment of assets and property
disposals, the Group’s profit or loss was EUR 1.6 million
higher than in the previous year.
The Group’s operations were also influenced by high dependence of its logistics activities on
the developments in the trade sector. With the first signs of recovery, economic activity of most
countries in which Intereuropa Group has its operations was just a few per cent above zero.
Individual parts of the group performed differently. Without taking into account the impairment of
assets and property disposals, the Group’s operating profit or loss was EUR 1.6 million higher
than in the previous year when they were still negative. In Slovenia, the Group streamlined its
costs to achieve EUR 35 million higher net operating profit or loss. Its net operating profit or loss
was also EUR 0.5 million higher in other countries of ex-Yugoslavia excluding Croatia. Reported
results were lower in Russia, Croatia and Ukraine by EUR 1.3, EUR 1.8 and EUR 0.4, respectively.
Failure to achieve the planned operational objectives caused the Group to abandon its operations
in its subsidiary TOV Intereuropa – Kiev, Ukraine.
In the Group’s financial operations, higher interest expenses (EUR +0.8 million), costs of hedging
against currency and interest risks (EUR +3.1 million), and impairments of investments in nonGroup companies (EUR +2.8 million) were recorded. A higher income from foreign exchange
gains (Russian subsidiary) was reported for the Group which thus achieved EUR 0.9 million higher
operating results from financing than in 2009, totalling EUR 9.8 million.
Like in 2009, the parent company recorded high expenses of revaluation of investments in
subsidiaries:
•

EUR 29.1 million impairment of investments in subsidiaries,

•

EUR 13.7 million impairment of receivables for interest within the Group and

•

EUR 2.2 million impairment of tangible fixed assets.

Moreover, a large-scale impairment of tangible fixed assets was carried out in the subsidiary in
Moscow (EUR 31.7 million) and writedowns of financial investments in Croatia (EUR 2.8 million).
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Sales revenues
After a considerable decline in the previous year, the Group achieved almost the same level of
sales revenues in 2010.
On the Group and parent company levels, a significant change was observed in the structure
of sales. Sales rose in the land transport area and declined in the area of logistics solutions and
intercontinental transport. A detailed overview of sales results by business areas and service
groups and markets in which Intereuropa Group has its operations is shown in the chapter Sales
and Marketing.
The Group’s volume of sales remained almost on the previous year’s level while the parent
company reported a decline by less than four per cent. The decline was partly also a result of the
decline in sales revenues resulting from property disposal.
In spite of an almost equal level of sales, an increase in sales revenue per employee resulting
from workforce downsizing was recorded.
Figure 11: Trends in sales revenues of the Group and of the parent company between
2007 and 2010
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Figure 12: Trends in sales revenues of the Group and of the parent company per employee
between 2007 and 2010
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Operating expenses
The structure of operating expenses in the reviewed period was comparatively stable. The
main focus was on the cots of services and labour costs. Such structure of expenses had been
anticipated since a major part of the Group’s expenses was accounted for by revenues from
freight forwarding activity.
In the category of costs of services, direct costs of services which accounted for 82 per cent of
the costs of services (80 per cent in 2009) were the most important.
Figure 13: Structure of operating expenses expressed as a share of the Group’s sales revenues
between 2007 and 2010
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Since assets are shown at fair value, high revaluatory expenses were shown due to impairments
of fixed assets. The highest impairments were carried out by the company Intereuropa – East Ltd.,
Moscow. In order to facilitate comparison with the previous years, the years 2009 and 2010 are
shown in the chart also without revaluatory expenses.
As compared with the previous year, the most conspicuous changes are those in the structure of
labour costs, which declined, and in the costs of services, which showed an increase. Since the
volume of sales remained on 2009 level and the majority of costs of services were direct costs, a
decline in margins was obvious. On the one hand, this resulted from a change in the structure of
sales and, on the other hand, from market pressure to reduce the rates of the Group’s services.
The absolute labour cost decrease was higher than the increase in the costs of services, which
is why the Group showed an increase in its operating results and, at the same time, the value
added, net of the influence of any other operating income, declined by eight per cent.

Operating profit or loss
Operating profit or loss for 2009 and 2010 was strongly influenced by revaluatory operating
expenses. For easier comparison with the previous years, revenues were also shown with the
eliminated effect of revaluatory operating expenses.
Figure 14: Trends in profit or loss of the Group and of the parent company between 2007 and 2010
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Financial income and expenses
The Group’s financial management is concentrated to the maximum possible extent in the parent
company. Profit or loss from financial activities before 2007 improved the Group’s net profits and
in the following years, a surplus of financial expenses over financial income was recorded. This
was due to a change in the structure of capital in favour of debt capital, which is also shown in the
Group’s statement of financial position below.
Figure 15: Profit or loss from financial activities of the Group in the period 2007-2010
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Figure 16: Profit or loss from financial activities of the parent company in the period 2007-2010
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Structure of the statement of financial position of the Group
Intereuropa Group's statement of financial position for the period 2007-2010 showed a high
dynamics of assets owned by the Group. In 2007, the Group's total assets increased by 41 per
cent or EUR 119 million, and in 2008 and 2009 by additional 11 and eight per cent, respectively.
The increase related to, for the most part, to an increase in tangible fixed assets, organic growth
and acquisition of the company Zetatrans A.D. Podgorica in 2007.
In 2010, the value of fixed assets was impaired by EUR 34 million and disposals of tangible
fixed assets totalled EUR 12 million. The Group’s assets also showed a decrease in longterm investments.
The Group's rapid growth was financed particularly by debt capital through the parent company.
Liabilities showed the highest increase in financial liabilities. They rose by 221 per cent or EUR
111 million in 2007, and by additional 38 per cent or EUR 61 million in 2008. The share of
short-term financial liabilities was 59 per cent at the end of the year; consequently, the Group
launched activities to refinance its financial liabilities the following year. In 2010, the Group finally
refinanced its financial liabilities and reduced the share of its short-term financial liabilities to 15
per cent. Disposal of assets resulted in a reduction in debt by EUR 18.3 million in 2010.
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Table 9 |
Structure of the Group‘s statement of financial position 2007-2010 (in absolute values)

ASSETS
A. LONG-TERM ASSETS, of which
Tangible fixed assets
Long-term financial investments
B. SHORT-TERM ASSETS, of which
Short-term operating receivables
Cash assets
LIABILITIES
A. CAPITAL
B. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES, of which
Long-term financial liabilities
C. SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES, of which
Short-term financial liabilities
Short-term operating liabilities

(in EUR 000)

2007

2008

2009

2010

408.571
320.187
285.086
13.979
88.384
74.019
8.380
408.571
186.154
84.636
77.796
137.781
83.752
51.691

451.678
356.584
330.861
6.807
95.094
71.632
8.508
451.678
169.360
95.647
91.112
186.671
131.942
53.114

489.270
406.821
377.910
4.034
82.449
63.080
5.318
489.270
188.804
132.141
109.215
168.326
115.946
52.325

425.428
351.801
322.865
3.896
73.627
56.303
12.216
425.428
148.163
196.507
175.765
80.758
31.098
49.297

Figure 17: Structure of the Group’s assets 2007-2010
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Figure 18: Structure of the Group’s liabilities 2007-2010
100%
61 mio EUR
90%

59 mio EUR

75 mio EUR

70 mio EUR

223 mio EUR

225 mio EUR

207 mio EUR

169 mio EUR

189 mio EUR

80%

In per cent

70%

162 mio EUR

60%
50%
40%
30%
20%

186 mio EUR

148 mio EUR

10%
0%
2007

2008

Capital

Financial liabilities

2009

2010

Other liabilities

Structure of the parent company's statement of
financial position
Changes in the statement of financial position of the company Intereuropa d.d. Koper in the period
2007-2010 were similar to those of the Group. The increase in fixed assets was not as explicit as
on the Group level, unlike, however, the increase in short-term financial investments by which the
parent company financed the increase in assets of its subsidiaries. In 2009, a capital increase of
the company Intereuropa – East Ltd., Moscow, was carried out totalling EUR 58 million and an
impairment of a subsidiary’s investments by EUR 60 million. Revaluation of the Group’s land to
fair value increased the value of fixed assets and of capital, each by EUR 57 million. In 2010, the
Group additionally impaired its investments in subsidiaries as shown by a decline in investments in
and loans to subsidiaries.
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Figure 19: Structure of assets of the parent company 2007-2010
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Liabilities showed the highest increase in financial liabilities. After a period of growth 2007-2009,
the parent company's financial liabilities were reduced through property disposal by six
per cent or EUR 11 million.
The share of short-term liabilities was 65 per cent at the year-end 2008, 15 per cent in 2009,
and 10 per cent after refinancing was completed in 2010.

Figure 20: Structure of liabilities of the parent company 2007-2010
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Table 10 |
Structure of the parent company’s statement of financial position 2007-2010 (in absolute values) (in EUR 000)

ASSETS
A. LONG-TERM ASSETS, of which
Tangible fixed assets
Long-term financial investments, of which
Shares an holdings in Group companies
B. SHORT-TERM ASSETS, of which
Short-term operating receivables
Short-term financial investments
LIABILITIES
A. CAPITAL
B. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES, of which
Long-term financial liabilities
C. SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES, of which
Short-term financial liabilities
Short-term operating liabilities

2007

2008

2009

2010

313,071
253,616
104,739
133,629
84,149
59,455
35,791
22,147
313,071
159,127
49,231
46,540
104,713
73,381
29,455

359,850
245,878
109,650
124,400
83,041
113,971
36,881
71,575
359,850
152,311
65,222
62,412
142,316
115,768
26,434

410,132
284,564
162,893
106,623
82,032
125,568
38,806
82,332
410,132
136,675
111,682
95,343
161,776
101,237
60,539

313,950
254,628
146,353
90,934
50,797
59,321
25,795
33,337
313,950
88,398
181,549
166,862
44,003
18,460
25,543
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Table 11 |
Operations 2007-2010

(in EUR 000)
Group

Net sales revenues
EBITDA
proportion of sales
EBIT

2008

2009

2010

2007

2008

2009

2010

235,499

257,697

191,117

190,624

143,386

141,551

99,986

96,428

27,337

27,864

15,136

21,554

6,959

4,443

1,828

9,961

11.6%

10.8%

7.9%

11.3%

4.9%

3.1%

1.8%

10.3%

14,165

13,196

-50,638

-27,195

2,174

-292

-16,953

2,453

6.0%

5.1%

-26.5%

-14.3%

1.5%

-0.2%

-17.0%

2.5%

7,740

5,273

-1,513

137

1,172

-707

-2,981

18

3.3%

2.0%

-0.8%

0.1%

0.8%

-0.5%

-3.0%

0.0%

26,477

3,688

-53,907

-39,193

19,383

3,265

-71,352

-46,398

11.2%

1.4%

-28.2%

-20.6%

13.5%

2.3%

-71.4%

-48.1%

408,571

451,678

489,270

425,428

313,071

359,850

410,132

313,950
-12.8%

proportion of sales
EBIT, net*
proportion of sales
Net profit or loss
proportion of sales
Assets
ROA
Capital

7.6%

0.9%

-11.5%

-8.6%

7.2%

1.0%

-18.5%

186,154

169,360

188,804

148,163

159,127

152,311

136,675

88,398

15.5%

2.1%

-26.2%

-20.8%

12.7%

2.1%

-39.6%

-34.2%

111,460

60,494

25,301

2,008

31,425

8,155

860

549

2,671

2,793

2,496

2,232

972

954

829

773

ROE
Capital investments

Parent company

2007

Number of employees
at the end of the year:

* Eliminated other operating income and revaluatory operating expenses

The Group’s 2010 results were significantly influenced by the end of recession
and the termination of the Group's process optimisation activities and, at the
same time, by the adjustment of the amount of assets to fair value, which was
reflected in a high level of revaluatory expenses due to impairment of tangible
fixed assets and investments in Group companies (by the parent company).

Cash flow analysis
The Group's cash flow from operating activities totalled EUR 27.0 million, representing a 52
increase on the previous year. The growth trend of cash flow from operating activities of Intereuropa
Group thus continued. Disinvestment accounted for a predominant share of investment activities
and resulted in a positive cash flow from investing activities totalling EUR 13.1 million. After
offsetting the EUR 33.1 million negative cash flow from operating activities, the Group companies'
total cash assets at the end of the year exceeded the year-end 2009 level by EUR 6.9 million.
The parent company's cash flow from operating activities was EUR 6.0 million, i.e. EUR 0.2 million
more than in the previous year. Disinvestment accounted for a predominant share of investment
activities with EUR 18.4 million positive cash flow from investing activities. The positive cash flow
from operating and investing activities was used to offset the EUR 24.9 million negative cash flow
from financing which a result of repayment of principal and servicing interest for obtained loans.
Table 12 |
Cash flow for 2007 and 2010

(in EUR 000)
Group

Parent company

2007

2008

2009

2010

2007

2008

2009

2010

Cash flow from operating activities

11,637

13,641

17,770

26,950

4,995

1,418

5,741

5,959

Cash flow from investing activities

-105,926

-50,257

-14,702

13,069

-88,165

-44,955

-18,124

18,434

Cash flow from financing activities

99,554

35,834

-9,537

-33,114

82,620

42,863

10,068

-24,863

0

667

2,861

0

0

667

2,861

0

46

243

418

-7

-32

0

0

0

5,311

128

-3,190

6,898

-582

-7

546

-470

Cash flow from discontinued operations
Exchange rate changes on cash
Cash flow for the period
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Shares and share ownership structure

In 2010, the Slovenian capital market still operated under
the influence of the financial and economic crisis and
the uncertainty associated with it that caused investor
confidence to deteriorate reflected negatively on the liquidity
of securities. A drop in securities prices and a low level of
trading in securities were the main characteristics that also
applied to Intereuropa's shares.
Shares of Intereuropa d.d.
•

Initial capital consisted of 7,902,413 non-par value IEKG shares.

•

Shares were first traded on the Ljubljana Stock Exchange in 1998.

•

Shares were admitted to the first stock exchange quotation in 2005.

Table 13 |
Key data on IEKG shares
2007

2008

2009

2010

7,902,413

7,902,413

7,902,413

7,902,413

0

18,135

18,135

18,135

Book value per share in EUR (31 Dec)

20.14

19.32

17.34

11.21

Average price in EUR (31 Dec)

37.93

8.73

5.65

3.90*

Weighted average price in EUR

40.19

31.81

6.85

4.49

Maximum price in EUR

51.07

40.00

10.45

5.96

Minimum price in EUR

26.11

7.89

5.2

3.35

299,739

68,988

44,649

30,819

70,398

16,551

6,621

1,774

Earnings per share in EUR

2.45

0.39

-9.05

-5.88

Cash flow per share in EUR

2.21

0.40

-8.48

-5.23

Gross dividend per share in EUR

0.83

0.58

0.00

0.00

Number of shares
Number of own shares
Trading data

Market capitalisation in thousands of EUR
Turnover in thousands of EUR
Indicators

P/BV

1.88

0.45

0.33

0.35

P/CF

17.14

21.63

-0.67

-0.75

P/E
Capital gain
Dividend yield
Total return

15.46

22.37

-0.62

-0.66

48.7%

-77.0%

-35.3%

-31.0%

3.0%

1.5%

0.0%

0.0%

51.7%

-75.5%

-35.3%

-31.0%

* On introducing a new trading system Xetra in December 2010, the Ljubljana Stock Exchange replaced the “average price” with “closing price”.

Explanatory notes:
Book value = capital / (number of ordinary shares – number of own shares)
Market capitalisation = year-end average price x number of shares listed on the stock exchange
Earnings per share = earnings / (number of ordinary shares - number of own shares)
Cash flow per share = earnings - dividends+depreciation) / (number of ordinary shares - number of own shares)
P/BV = year-end average price / book value per share
P/CF = year-end average price / cash flow per share
P/E = year-end average price / earnings per share
Capital gain = average price increase in one year
Dividend yield = gross dividend / year-end average price
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Trading in IEKG shares in 2010
During the year, the price per share of Intereuropa ranged between EUR 3.35 and EUR 5.96 per
share. Due to a very modest turnover, it lost 31.0 per cent of its market value and stabilised at
EUR 3.90 at the end of the year. The Slovenian blue chip index SBITOP declined to a somewhat
lesser extent by losing 13.5 per cent of its value.
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As many as 423,704 shares changed their owners during the year. The total turnover per share
was EUR 1,774,000, and the daily turnover EUR 7,000, which accounted for only 27 per cent
of the turnover in 2009. In addition to the generally calm atmosphere in the capital market, one
of the reasons for the low turnover was also the fact that investors were still waiting for the
development of events regarding the creation of the "Slovenian logistics holding" or other form of
integration with a potential new strategic partner.

The number of shareholders declined by 380, mostly among individuals
whose number decreased by six per cent.

Turnover in EUR 000

Figure 22: Trading in Intereuropa’s shares in 2010
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Mateja Tevž
Controlling
Intereuropa d.d.
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SI-6000 Koper
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www.intereuropa.si
T: +386 5 664 12 36
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Figure 21: Trends in average price per IEKG share and SBITOP index in 2010
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Share ownership structure of the company
At the end of the year, share ownership of Intereuropa’s ten major shareholders was 60.0 per cent
or 0.9 percentage points less than in the previous year. During the year, the following changes
were recorded for these shareholders in Intereuropa’s share ledger:
• 	Abanka Vipa, d.d., increased its holding to 2.9 per cent after having acquired additional
49,642 IEKG shares and became the company’s seventh largest shareholder.
•

The company Interfin naložbe, d.d., increased its holding to 1.6 per cent after having
acquired additional 14,282 shares and became the company's tenth largest shareholder.

Table 14 l
Top ten shareholders as at 31/12/10
Reg.no.
Shareholder
		

No. of shares
31/12/2010

Proportion
31/12/2010

1.

Luka Koper d.d.

1,960,513

24.8%

2.

Kapitalska družba d.d.

719,797

9.1%

3.

Slovenska odškodninska družba d.d.

474,926

6.0%

4.

INFOND d.o.o. UVS Infond Global

313,391

4.0%

5.

NFD 1 Delniški investicijski sklad d.d.

304,312

3.9%

6.

NLB d.d.

240,000

3.0%

7.	Abanka Vipa d.d.

230,942

2.9%

8.

Zavarovalnica Triglav d.d.

213,640

2.7%

9.

Delniški VS Triglav Steber I d.d.

152,482

1.9%

10.

Interfin naložbe d.d.

127,508

1.6%

There were practically no changes in the list of top ten shareholders at the
end of the year as compared with the previous year. There was only a slight
increase in holdings of Abanka Vipa, d.d., and Interfin naložbe, d.d.
The number of shareholders declined by six per cent during the year. As at 31 December 2010,
6,101 shareholders were registered in the share ledger. Foreign investors as at the last day of the
year accounted for 2.3 per cent, which represented a 0.4 per cent increase on the previous year.

Figure 23: Ordinary share ownership structure of Intereuropa as at 31 December 2010

6.0%
SOD
9.8%
KAD
4.3%
Other companies

30.4%

Financial companies

24.3%
Individuals
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Share ownership among Management Board and
Supervisory Board Members
Ernest Gortan, President of the Management Board and Tatjana Vošinek Pucer, Vice President of
the Management Board, held not shares of Intereuropa d.d. as at 31 December 2010.
Table 15 |
The number of IEKG shares held by Supervisory Board members as at 31 December 2010

Bruno Korelič
Maksimilijan Babič
Nevija Pečar
mag. Maša Čertalič

Number of shares

Share in %

10

0.000

100

0.001

4,185

0.053

99

0.001

Authorised capital
At ordinary annual general meeting of shareholders held on 1 July 2010, shareholders adopted
a resolution to amend Articles of Association of the company Intereuropa d.d. under point 5.13,
authorising the Management Board to, within five years of legal registration of this amendment
to Articles of Association, without special resolution of the general meeting, but subject to
approval by the company’s Supervisory Board, increase the company's initial capital by issuing
new shares for contributions up to one half of initial capital subscribed on the date of adoption
of the resolution at the 22nd general meeting of the company, in the nominal amount of EUR
16,488,092.56 (authorised capital). As at 31 December 2010, the company Intereuropa d.d.'s
authorised and unutilised capital totalled EUR 16,488,092.56.

Dividend policy
An accelerated investment cycle in the period 2006-2009 was followed by the need for additional
finance for the completion of investments. For this reason, the shareholders, acting on the
proposal of the Management Board, passed a resolution not to pay any dividends for 2008.
Moreover, effects of the economic crisis in 2009 already reflected on the company's negative
net operating result. Due to a negative net operating result for 2009 and liquidity risk exposure in
2010, the general meeting of shareholders did not discuss the distribution of profits in 2010.
The Management Board will redefine the company's dividend policy after having checked the
implementation of strategic objectives set by Intereuropa Group's strategic operational plan for
the period until 2014 and after the Group's operating results have improved.

Communication with investors
The company’s communication strategy is based on the principle of transparent communication
and equal and timely notification to all shareholders. Shareholders have a decisive influence on
strategic decisions and business policies; therefore, regular and open communication with the
existing and potential shareholders is regarded as the right way to strengthening the company’s
performance.
The following tools are used to communicate with the existing and potential shareholders:
•

ordinary general meetings of shareholders;

•

participation in conferences at home and abroad;

•

regular presentations of the company at investor conferences in financial centres
at home and abroad;

•

press conferences on the announcement of operating results and other price-sensitive
information;

•

regular communication through SEOnet system;

•

regular communication with financial media;

•

in-house bulletin “Interglas za delničarje”;

•

the company’s web pages;

•

e-news newsletter.

Shareholders’ comments and proposals are welcome at info@intereuropa.si.
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Statement on corporate governance
Corporate governance of Intereuropa d.d, and of Intereuropa Group is based on the principles
of the parent company and of the Group and on the provisions of the Code of Governance of
Public Limited Companies. The corporate governance policy represents an action item for the
Group’s all corporate governance bodies. It is, at the same time, also a commitment to providing
transparency in the system of management and governance.
Governance of the controlling company and of the majority of subsidiaries is a two-tier one:
it is exercised through the management board and the supervisory board. The duties and
responsibilities of individual corporate governance bodies are laid down by the company’s
Articles of Association and rules of procedure of individual bodies, which can be accessed at
the company’s web site under the heading Corporate Governance. In addition to the Code of
Governance of Public Limited Companies, the guiding principle of corporate governance is
also the Corporate Governance Policy of Intereuropa d.d. which was adopted last year by the
management board and the supervisory board and is published on the website www.intereuropa.
si under the heading For Investors (sub-heading Corporate Governance).

The general meeting of shareholders

The general meeting of shareholders in 2010
The shareholders of Intereuropa d.d. convened at their 22nd general meeting which was held on
1 July 2010. The meeting was attended by 59.81 per cent of initial capital.

The general meeting adopted the following major resolutions:
•

the general meeting took note of the annual report of Intereuropa Group for 2009, the
auditors’ opinion and the written report by the Supervisory Board on verifying the annual
report for 2009 and the method and extent of verifying the company’s governance in 2009,
which was submitted by the Supervisory Board;

•

the general meeting decided on approving the work of Intereuropa d.d.’s Supervisory and
Management Boards in the financial year 2009;

•

the general meeting decided on amendments to the company’s Articles of Association,
particularly for the purpose of bringing them into line with the provisions of the Act Amending
the Companies Act and registration of the power of attorney conferred on the Management
Board to increase the company’s initial capital up to one half of its initial capital in the next
five years;

•

the general meeting took note of the new Supervisory Board members, workers’
representatives and the lawsuit brought against the former Management Board members;

•

the general meeting appointed the auditing company Ernst & Young, Revizija, poslovno
svetovanje d.o.o., Dunajska cesta 111, Ljubljana, as the auditor for the financial year 2010.

Decisions of the general meeting can be accessed in full at the company’s website
www.intereuropa.si, under the heading For Investors, sub-heading The General Meeting.

Principles of operation and method of convening
The basic function of the general meeting as the company’s supreme governing body is to
facilitate a direct exercise of shareholders’ rights in deciding on the company’s affairs. The
operation of the general meeting is governed by the Companies Act (hereinafter: ZGD-1), the
company’s Articles of Association and Rules of Procedure of the General Meeting which is
published on the company’s website under the heading For Investors.
The company’s Management Board normally calls a general meeting once a year on its
own initiative, at the request of the Supervisory Board or at the request of its shareholders.
Shareholders of Intereuropa d.d. are notified in due time by publishing the invitation to the general
meeting in daily newspapers, on Intereuropa d.d.’s website and through SEOnet publication at the
Ljubljana Stock Exchange.
Materials for the general meeting with proposals for resolutions may be examined by shareholders
at the company’s head office in Koper, in SEOnet system of the Ljubljana Stock Exchange and on
the website www.intereuropa.si under the heading For Investors from the date of convocation to
the date of the general meeting.
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Conditions of participation and communication with
shareholders
Only shareholders registered in the company’s share ledger held on the central register of KDD
– Centralna klirinško depotna družba, d.d., Ljubljana (Central Securities Clearing Corporation)
and their proxies which notify their participation within the statutory time limit have the right to
participate in the General Meeting. Shareholders’ proxies must submit their proxy together with
the notice of participation. Each share gives the shareholder one vote at the General Meeting.
Intereuropa d.d. encourages active participation of as many small shareholders as possible and,
for this reason, in addition to the invitation to the general meeting, also publishes notification and
proxy forms. The corporate website also includes a heading For Investors, where, in addition to
the information about the general meeting, small shareholders can also obtain the information
about the company’s governance and annual and interim reports.
Shareholders are notified of the resolutions of the general meeting after the general meeting
through the company’s website, intranet and SEOnet of the Ljubljana Stock Exchange.
Communication with shareholders and potential investors is also dealt with in the chapters Shares
and share ownership structure and Key public communication in Sustainability Report.

The Supervisory Board

Structure of the supervisory board
Articles of Association of the company Intereuropa d.d. provides for seven members of the
Supervisory Board, of which four members are representatives of shareholders, and three members
are representatives of employees. Members of the Supervisory Board are elected for a period of
four years and may be eligible for re-election. Members of the Supervisory Board that represent
the interests of shareholders are elected by the general meeting. Representatives of employees are
elected by the workers’ council and only notifies the general meeting of their election.

Members of the Supervisory Board in 2010
Reg. Name and
no.
surname*

year of
birth:

Position in Supervisory Board

Qualification:

Employment

Other major functions

Term of
office

1.

Bruno Korelič

1944

Chairman of the Supervisory
Board – representative of capital

B.S.Ec.

Retired

Member of the Supervisory
Board – Petrol d.d. Ljubljana

11/04/2009

11/04/2013

2.

Tadej Tufek

1975

Chairman of the Supervisory
Board – representative of capital

M.S. in economics
and business

President of the Management
Board of Adria Airways
d.d. Ljubljana*

Member of the Supervisory
Board of Banka Celje d.d.

10/09/2009

10/09/2013

3.

Vinko Može

1948

Chairman of the Supervisory
Board – representative of capital

B.S.C.Eng.

Aerodrom Ljubljana d.d.

Member of the General
Meeting of Kad d.d. Ljubljana

30/07/2009

30/07/2013

4.

Maša Čertalič

1976

Chairman of the Supervisory
Board – representative of capital

M.S. in transport and
logistics management

Luka Koper d.d.

10/09/2009

10/09/2013

5.

Nevija Pečar

1957

Chairman of the Supervisory
Board – representative of capital

Secondary school
of economics

Intereuropa – Koper
Branch office

President of the trade
union ŠAK – KS 90

19/11/2009

19/11/2013

6.

Maksimilijan Babič

1950

Vice-Chairman of the Supervisory
Board - representative of employees

High school graduate

Intereuropa – Border
services Branch office

President of the council of
workers of Intereuropa d.d.

19/11/2009

19/11/2013

7.

Ljubo Kobale

1962

Member of the Supervisory Board
– representative of capital

Commercial clerk

Intereuropa - Celje Branch
office – BU Maribor

19/11/2009

19/11/2013

*President of the Management Board until 14 January 2011

Activities in 2010
The Supervisory Board of Intereuropa d.d. performed its activities with unchanged membership
throughout 2010. The Supervisory Board held seven regular sessions. In accordance with its basic
tasks of supervising the operations of the company and of the Group, the Supervisory Board
performed the following duties:
•

regularly monitored the company’s operations in accordance with strategic orientations and
objectives,

•

discussed the annual and quarterly reports of the Management Board on Intereuropa
Group's operations,

•

granted its approval for the Strategic Business Plan prepared by the Management Board of
Intereuropa Group for the period 2010-2014 and monitored its implementation,

•	Appointed Tatjana Vošinek Pucer Vice-President of the Management Board of Intereuropa d.d.,
•

adopted the company’s governance policy.
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In addition to the major activities listed above, the Supervisory Board together with the
Management Board presented its view on the potential establishment of a logistics holding, by
expressing its doubts regarding this project and its willingness to participate in additional in-depth
project studies. Its position was publicly announced on the Ljubljana Stock Exchange website and
communicated to the media.
Activities of the Supervisory Board are presented more thoroughly in the Report by the
Supervisory Board.

Audit committee
The Audit Committee provided the Supervisory Board with technical support and advice in most
complex decisions regarding the supervision of operations and implementation of the company's
vision, mission and strategic objectives.
Members of the Audit Committee in 2010:
•

Tadej Tufek – Chairman,

•

Nevija Pečar,

•

Bruno Korelič,

•	Alfio Kocjančič – outside expert.

The Audit Committee performed its activities in conformity with the objectives and tasks set out
in the Companies Act, the Corporate Governance Policy of Intereuropa d.d., Deed of Formation
and Rules and Procedures for Audit Committee. The Audit Committee held four meetings. After
each meeting the Audit Committee drew up the minutes and sent them to the Supervisory Board
for consideration.
Activities of the Audit Committee are presented more thoroughly in the Report by the Supervisory Board.

Responsibilities, method of operation and remuneration
Responsibilities, management and method of operation of the Supervisory Board are laid down
by the Companies Act (ZGD-1), the company's Articles of Association and Rules of Procedure
of the Supervisory Board. The Corporate Governance Policy of Intereuropa d.d. lays down
the Supervisory Board's responsibilities regarding the company's management with the prime
responsibility for setting up a system of identifying a conflict of interest and autonomy of its
members. All members of the Supervisory Board signed in March 2010 a statement by which
they defined their position regarding the criteria of autonomy referred to in point C.3 of Annex C
to the Code of Governance of Public Limited Companies and a statement on their qualification
for performing the tasks of Supervisory Board members. The statement was published on
Intereuropa's website under the heading About Us, sub-heading The Company's Management.
Meetings of the Supervisory Board at which the Board adopts its decisions must be convened at
least on a quarterly basis. The Supervisory Board lays down an annual plan of its activities and
defines the subject matter and time schedule of its meetings. The Supervisory Board reports on its
activities to the general meeting in writing. Supervisory Board members are entitled to attendance
fees pursuant to the resolution of the general meeting of 10 April 2009:
•

members of the Supervisory Board EUR 330.00 gross per meeting,

•

President of the Supervisory Board EUR 429.00 gross per meeting,

•

members of the Supervisory Board’s committee EUR 231.00 gross per meeting,

•

chairman of the Supervisory Board’s committee EUR 300.30 gross per meeting.

The information on remuneration of the Supervisory Board members in 2010 are published in note
26 to the Financial Report of the Parent Company Intereuropa d.d. According to the provisions of
Articles of Association, Supervisory Board members cannot participate in the company's profits.
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The Management Board

The Management Board of the parent company Intereuropa d.d.
The two-member Management Board performed its activities with the same membership
throughout 2010: Ernest Gortan, President of the Management Board, and Tatjana Vošinek Pucer,
Vice-President of the Management Board, who was appointed to this position by the Supervisory
Board on 24 May 2010. Before that date, she was a procurator of the company (in the period
between 14 December 2009 and 23 May 2010).

Members of the Management Board:
Ernest Gortan, President of the Management Board
•

born in 1968

•

Bachelor of Science in Electrical Engineering and M.Sc. in Management (Bled School of Management)

•

in charge of managerial and executive functions in the field of marketing and logistics in companies Secom, d.o.o. and Luka Koper, d.d., and president of the management board of the
company BTC Terminal Sežana , d.d.

•

term of office from 10 June 2009 to 10 June 2014

•

responsible for business areas of forwarding and logistics in the controlling company and in
affiliates, for quality, legal affairs, human resources and services to the management, internal
audit service and public relations department

Tatjana Vošinek Pucer, Vice-President of the Management Board
•

1964, Bachelor of Science in Economics (Faculty of Economics of Ljubljana)

•

in charge of managerial and executive functions in the field of sales and investments in companies Iplas, n.sol.o., R & P Express d.o.o. in Vipta d.o.o. and duties of crisis management in
companies Preskrba, d.d., Sežana and Emona Obala, d.d., Koper

•

term of office from 24 May 2010 to 24 May 2015

•

responsible for the area of finance, investments, real property and information support

Activities in 2010
The Management Board managed the company and the Group in conformity with business and
strategic orientations. The Management Board achieved the objectives of the company in a
responsible manner and with a view to achieving benefits for the company's shareholders, by
taking into account the interests of all stakeholders.
Changes in operating circumstances required the adoption of new strategic guidelines and
objectives; therefore, at the beginning of the year the Management Board devised and introduced
a new Development Strategy of Intereuropa Group for 2010-2014. The Strategy was also
approved by the company's Supervisory Board.
In conformity with the recommendations of the Code of Governance of Public Limited Companies,
the Management Board, together with the Supervisory Board, also adopted the Corporate
Governance Policy of Intereuropa d.d., which includes the key corporate governance guidelines
and principles of the parent company and of the Group as a whole.

The Management Board and the Supervisory Board adopted the Corporate
Governance Policy of the company, which represents a basis for operation of
corporate governance bodies of the parent company and of the Group.

Principles of operation and remuneration of the Management
Board
The Management Board's activities and division of areas of competence are defined by the
Rules of Procedure of the Management Board. The term of office of the Management Board is
five consecutive years. The Management Board manages, represents and acts on behalf of the
company in relation to third parties.
The Management Board has a maximum of four members; however, the actual number of
members is determined by the Supervisory Board according to the principle of efficiency and
rationality. One Management Board member is thus appointed pursuant to the Worker Participation
in Management Act and, by acting within the rights and duties of a Management Board member,
acts of behalf and represents workers' interests in respect of personnel and social issues.
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Remuneration of members of the Management Board is commensurate with the tasks of
Management Board members and the company's financial situation. It comprises a fixed and a
variable part. The latter depends on the performance of the company, which is determined on the
basis of the achieved or exceeded objectives laid down by the annual business plan. According
to Articles of Association, the Management Board is also entitled to a share in the company’s
profits subject to a decision by the Supervisory Board. The information on remuneration of the
Management Board is shown in the financial report by Intereuropa d.d.

Management and governance of Group companies
An effective system of governance and management of subsidiaries is one of the pillars of
successful attainment of operating objectives and enhanced transparency of the Group’s
operations. The policy of integration between Intereuropa d.d. and its subsidiaries has been
defined by the Corporate Governance Policy of Intereuropa d.d.

Principles of governance of subsidiaries
The controlling company provides an active governance of its subsidiaries by ensuring unity in the
following fields of governance:
•

shaping of the vision of operations, mission and development strategies;

•

internal organisation of areas of corporate activity;

•

coordinated action on the market of sellers and buyers;

•

operational planning, investments and financing;

•

uniform accounting policies,

•

control of operations (controlling, auditing activities) and quality;

•

personnel and wage policy, and development and transfer of knowledge;

•

strategic marketing and communication with the public;

•

uniform development of information technologies;

•

other areas of management set out in the Group's development programmes.

Intereuropa d.d. manages the companies in the Group on a transnational group principle. In
this way, Intereuropa wishes to achieve a global efficiency and, at the same time, respond to
the needs of the local market to the maximum possible extent. Intereuropa ensures optimum
cooperation between subsidiaries, transfer of knowledge from the parent company to subsidiaries,
and encourages the transfer of knowledge and good practices among the Group companies.
The operation of the companies within Intereuropa Group conforms to the following:
•

local legislation;

•

decisions of governing bodies of the parent company and of the subsidiary companies;

•

business cooperation agreements between the parent company and individual subsidiaries;

•

valid internal procedure manuals and rules adopted by the parent company's Management Board.

Proactive monitoring and supervision of operations
Intereuropa’s Management Board and top management members are on the supervisory
boards, boards of directors or management boards of subsidiaries, which ensures a coordinated
implementation of strategic decisions, enhances the flow of information and control over the
subsidiaries’ operations.
In the past year, the Management Board performed its supervisory function by regularly monitoring
the operations and achievement of the planned objectives by all subsidiaries. In additional to
monthly reporting, the Management Board continued with the practice of quarterly projections of
operations, which was introduced in the past year due to the negative impact of the economic
crisis and which allowed the Management Board to respond to the fluctuations in demand by
adopting proactive measures. In companies in which the controlling company is not the sole
owner, the Management Board supervises their operations through members of management
boards and senior managers that are members of supervisory and management boards.
Cooperation between the controlling company's Management Board and Management Boards of
subsidiaries is carried out through permanent mutual relations, electronic channels and meetings
held at the head office of the controlling company and in individual subsidiaries. Top management
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and executive officers of all Group companies convened at the regular annual conference in 2010
to examined the Group's current operations and planning platforms for 2011.

An active management guidance of our subsidiaries ensures a coordination
of development, marketing and product implementation in a manner which
allows us to achieve operational efficiency for the Group as a whole.

Operational audit

External audit
The general meeting of shareholders of Intereuropa d.d. appointed the auditing company Ernst
& Young d.o.o., Ljubljana, as the auditor of financial accounts of the controlling company and
Intereuropa Group for the financial year 2010.
Transactions of the company Intereuropa d.d. and its subsidiaries with auditing companies are
shown in the company's financial statements.

Internal audit
The internal audit service operates within the controlling company and on the level of Intereuropa
Group as a whole. Its fundamental task is to verify the operation of the system of internal controls
from the viewpoint of controlling all types of risk to which Intereuropa Group is exposed. The
purpose of the internal audit service is to assist the Group's management in improving its asset
management, enhanced cost effectiveness and efficiency of operation within the framework of the
adopted strategic business plan and business and financial plans.
Annual operational plans and reports on the activities of the internal audit service are discussed
and approved by the company's Management Board and the Supervisory Board's Audit
Committee. The internal audit service observes International Standards for the Professional
Practice of Internal Auditing, the Code of Professional Ethics of Internal Auditors, the Code of
Principles of Internal Auditing, the legislation and other regulations and internal rules of the internal
auditing service.

Activities in the financial year 2010
Internal auditors continued with implementation of the long-term plan 2007-2011. They acted
in conformity with the Plan of Activities of the Internal Audit Service for the Financial Year 2010,
which was adopted by the Management Board of the company Intereuropa d.d. The contents of
the annual plan were also communicated to the Supervisory Board's Audit Committee.
The plan for the financial year 2010 provides for ten regular internal auditing assignments. The
internal audit service actually carried out one extraordinary and eight regular auditing assignments
in various areas of Intereuropa Group's activities and operations. Internal audits were carried
out in three subsidiaries, four business units of the parent company and in the area of two
support functions. Reports included assurances regarding the operation and effectiveness of
the established internal controls as well as recommendations for their improvement. We also
monitored the implementation of issued recommendations. One half of recommendations were
implemented by the end of the financial year; checks on the implementation of recommendations
from the completed audits will be continued in 2011.
The internal audit service also performed advisory tasks and participated in individual projects
of the company, and part of the time was dedicated to expanding the professional knowledge
of employees and improving the quality of their work by upgrading internal auditing methods in
accordance with international standards for the professional practice of internal auditing.

Description of principal characteristics of internal controls and
risk management in the company in connection with the financial
reporting process

Principal characteristics of internal controls
Financial statements of Intereuropa Group and of the company Intereuropa d.d. are drawn
up in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards which include requirements
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regarding recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of accounting events in financial
statements. Reporting also takes into consideration the requirements of the Companies Act.
Direct and indirect internal accounting controls are in place in the accounting process in order to
prevent intentional and unintentional irregularities, misuse and fraud.
The basic accounting principles for drawing up individual financial statements for Intereuropa
Group companies for the purpose of consolidation and preparation of consolidated financial
statements are laid down by consolidation rules. Interim financial reports are prepared on a
quarterly basis and comprise condensed interim information compared to the annual report.
These rules also lay down the basic points regarding the disclosure of information. Disclosure
requests defined by individual standards or notes should be granted if the information is of
essential importance. The information is classified as essential when its omission or misstatement
has an influence on business decisions of its users, which are based on financial statements.

Risk management associated with financial reporting
Financial reporting means the presentation of accounting data and information to internal and
external users. Financial reporting represents a basis for making business decisions. Reporting
involves the risk of credibility (timeliness and expression value) and reliability (reality and objectivity)
of statements. Tracking and tracing largely depends on the following:
•

appropriate functioning of the internal control system in the process of keeping books of
account and assessing of accounting data,

•

appropriate staffing of the accounting department,

•

accuracy and completeness of accounting data and

•

consistency of accounting procedures with legal and other regulations, professional and
professional ethical principles, standards and policies and internal rules of the company.

We consider that exposure to such risk is moderate. Adequacy of accounting data and realistic
presentation of economic categories also mainly depend on the quality choice of criteria for
assessment of assets and liabilities.

Clarification of holding of securities in terms of acquiring a qualifying
holding, special control rights and limited voting rights

Major direct and indirect holding of the company’s securities
in terms of acquiring a qualified holding
The information about acquisition of a qualifying holding, as specified by the Takeovers Act are
promptly published in SEOnet, electronic notification system of the Ljubljana Stock Exchange, and
sent to the Securities Market Agency.

Holders of qualifying holdings in Intereuropa d.d. as at 31 December 2010:
Luka Koper, d.d., Koper		

24.8 per cent (1,960,513 shares)

Kapitalska družba, d.d., Ljubljana

9.1 per cent (719,797 shares)

Slovenska odškodninska družba, d.d., Ljubljana

6.0 per cent (474,926 shares)

All above-listed shareholders were direct holders of shares of Intereuropa d.d.

Clarifications on each holder of securities with special
control rights
Individual shareholders of the company have no special control rights based on their holding
of the company’s shares. They are also not subject to any restrictions in exercising their voting
rights. The company is not aware of any agreements between shareholders that could give rise to
restrictions of transfer of securities or voting rights.
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Clarifications on all restrictions of voting rights and
own shares
Shareholders of Intereuropa d.d. are not subject to any restrictions on exercising their voting rights.
In accordance with Article 249 of ZGD-1, the company has no voting rights under its own shares.
As at 31 December 2010, Intereuropa d.d. held 18,135 own shares with designation IEKG totalling
EUR 180,000 or 0.2295 per cent of all shares. The total number of voting shares is thus 7,884,278
or 99.7705 per cent of all shares. Intereuropa d.d. did not buy or sell own shares in 2010.

Statement of Compliance with the provisions of the Code of Governance
of Public Limited Companies
The Management Board and the Supervisory Board of the company Intereuropa, Globalni
logistični servis, delniška družba, Koper, hereby declares that the company complies with the
recommendations of the Code of Governance of Public Limited Companies; however, with some
differences as disclosed and clarified below:

Chapter: Relationship between the company and its shareholders
Recommendation 4.2:
In the financial year 2010, the company did not invite its major shareholders, particularly
institutional investors and the state, to disclose to the public their policy of managing their
investment in the company Intereuropa d.d. On the convocation of the general meeting in the
financial year 2011, the company will invite its shareholders to disclose this information pursuant
to this recommendation.

Chapter: The Supervisory Board
Recommendation 8.4:
The company currently uses no special information technology in order to distribute the materials
to the members of the general meeting and convene the meetings. Materials and invitations are
sent to the Supervisory Board members in paper form.
Recommendation 13.1:
The Supervisory Board set up a four-member committee composed of three members of the
Supervisory Board and one outside member. The Nomination Committee and the Personnel
Commission have not yet been established.

Chapter: Transparency of operations
Recommendation 20.3:
The company estimates that there is no need for adopting an internal regulation that would further
restrict trading in securities of the company and of its affiliates. The company has determined that
the provisions of the Financial Instruments Market Act (ZTFI) are sufficiently accurate and binding
so that any duplication of the same provisions is unnecessary.
Some recommendations of the Code of Governance of Public Limited Companies are not relevant
to the company's operations and are not mentioned separately. Recommendations given to the
company and its bodies for individual cases will be taken into consideration by the company when
such cases occur.
The statement relates to the period between the last publication of a similar statement, i.e.
30 April 2010, and the date of publication of this statement.
On 8 December 2009, the Ljubljana Stock Exchange, the Slovenian Directors' Association and
the Managers’ Association of Slovenia adopted a revised Code of Governance of Public Limited
Companies, which has been in use since 1 January 2010 and can be accessed on the web pages
of the Ljubljana Stock Exchange (www.ljse.si) in the Slovenian and English languages.
The statement of compliance of the company's governance with the provisions of the Code of
Governance of Public Limited Companies is an integral part of the Annual Report 2010 and is also
published on the company's web pages www.intereuropa.si.
Intereuropa d.d., Koper
President of the Management Board			
Ernest Gortan
			

Chairman of the Supervisory Board
Bruno Korelič
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Custom-tailored
logistics solutions
for the most
transport-sensitive
goods

Logistics solutions recorded
a 4 per cent decline in sales
revenues on the previous
year. The structure of
customers using the services
of the Group’s specialised
warehouses with a higher
value added also improved.
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Risk management

The principal objective of managing risks to which
Intereuropa is exposed on a daily basis as an international
group is to ensure an improved performance by means of
an effective and state-of-the art approach and to enhance
confidence of the company’s stakeholders. Intereuropa
identified liquidity, human resources and strategic risks
as key risks in 2010 and effectively managed them by
implementing the planned measures.

Risk management system
The basis for action in the field of risk management are strategic and operational objectives of
Intereuropa Group. Risk management is regarded as a comprehensive managerial process which
involves the participation of all employees of the Group and comprises all management functions.
Risk Management Rules represent the basis for the implementation of this process. These Rules
lay down the methodology for risk identification, methods of risk measurement and assessment
as well as the basic points for adopting risk management measures and monitoring their
effectiveness. The responsibility for the implementation and coordination of the above-listed tasks
rests with the risk management committee which notifies the parent company’s management
board of its findings on a regular basis.
On the basis of the Group’s previous experience, the risks to which the Group is exposed are
classified into three basic categories:
•

financial risks,

•

operational risks and

•

functional risks.

In 2010, the company identified as many as 50 different types of risk and evaluated their effect
on the company’s operations. The company adopted measures aimed at reducing its exposure to
such risks as well as the method for controlling the efficiency of hedging against risks.

Key risks in 2010
The key risks identified in 2010 were the following:
•

liquidity risk,

•

human resources risk and

•

strategic risks.

Liquidity risk: Deterioration of the macroeconomic situation and non-payment and as well as
a relatively high debt level of the company were the reasons why Intereuropa d.d. was highly
exposed to liquidity risk. The company succeeded in mitigating the liquidity risk by signing an
agreement to refinance a portion of its short-term loans by long-term ones; however, the risk is
still rated as high.
Human resources risk: It was defined as one of the key risks due to its importance for the
implementation of the company’s logistics activities. Exposure to this risk was mitigated by
adopting additional measures within the system of management and communication, the
system of personal career development and the system of achievement-related motivation and
remuneration. This risk was rated as high and the exposure to it as acceptable.
Strategic risks: Key strategic risks also included the securing of financial stability of the company
and attracting a strategic partner for Intereuropa d.d. Exposure to this risk was reduced by
restructuring a proportion of debts and disposal of some property for deleverage purposes.
Attracting a strategic partner and funds for capital increase was particularly within the competence
of the company’s owners who considered creating a Slovenian Logistics Holding in 2010.
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Expected risks and future operations
In 2011, the company will continue to be exposed particularly to liquidity risk and the risk of
securing the company's financial stability. It will continue implementing individual risk hedging
measures.
The major benefits of systematic risk management are considered to be a timely perception of
trends and faster precautionary reaction, obtaining of quality information necessary for adoption
of business decisions and, consequently, achievement of better performance.

The major risks to which the company was exposed in 2010 included
liquidity risk and long-term strategic risks that the company successfully
controlled. As many as 65 different types of risks were identified on the
controlling company level, followed by adoption of hedging measures and
the method of monitoring hedging efficiency. In 2011, the company will
continue to be exposed particularly to liquidity risk and the risk of securing
the company's financial stability.

Risks		
small
likelihood

Probability of risk		
medium
likelihood

Impact on operations

high
likelihood

low

x

x

medium

high

1. Financial risks
Credit risk
Currency risk

x

Interest rate risk
Liquidity risk

x
x

x

x

x

2. Operational risks
2.1. In the area of continental transport
Sales risks
Change in partnership network

x

x

x

Change in fuel price

x
x

x

2.2. In the area of intercontinental transport
Sales risks

x

x

Transactions with suppliers and
partnership-agency network

x

x

Risk of competition in the logistics market

x

x

2.3. In the area of logistics solutions
Sales risks

x 		

Risk of availability of
storage capacities

x		

Risk of meeting product
group requirements

x		

x
x
x

3. Functional risks
x

x

Risks of information and
communication technology

Strategic risks

x

x

Human resources risks

x

x

Business report

Financial risks
The Group continued to strengthen stability and predictability of cash flows by actively managing
its financial risks. The objective was to achieve a minimum exposure to individual types of financial
risk. For this purpose, the Group carried out a number of activities that represented an important
part of the financial function.
The key financial risks did not change as compared with previous year. These included the following:
•

credit risk as the risk of the counterparty’s failure to comply with its obligations,

•

currency risk,

•

interest rate risk and

•

liquidity or solvency risk.

Financial risks are described in greater detail in the Financial report.

Credit risk
Exposure to credit risk is particularly high at the time of economic crisis and is therefore given
more attention. This risk is demonstrated particularly as a risk of non-payment for the supplied
services, and the management of this risk is an integral part of our day-to-day activities. The
Group controls it by studying the information on the creditworthiness of its customers, by setting
appropriate credit limits, collateralising receivables at risk and continued active monitoring of
outstanding receivables.
Due to the above-mentioned activities and highly diversified receivables among a number of
customers from various fields of activity and geographical regions, Intereuropa Group's credit risk
exposure to individual customers is considered to be low. In spite of a high probability of credit
risk, this risk has a minor influence on the Group's operations.

At the time of a financial and economic crisis, credit risk is so much more
likely to occur. The Group maintains a low degree of influence of this type or
risk on its operations by actively managing the risk and maintaining a high
degree of diversification of its receivables.

Currency risk
Exposure to currency risk as a risk of change in the rate of exchange by the Group companies
that operate in the euro zone is low since the cash flow of these companies is almost entirely
expressed in euros.
The Group companies that operate outside the euro zone are more exposed to this risk. In this
regard, one should point to the risk of change in the rate of exchange for the Russian ruble,
Serbian dinar, Croatian kuna and Ukrainian grivna. Measures for reconciliation of cash inflows
and outflows in individual currencies, in terms of both time and size, provide for a rather effective
hedging of these companies against risk in the field of cash flow. However, foreign exchange
positions statement of financial position of companies whose loans are denominated in euros
remain open. There is a high probability that a change in the rate of exchange for the national
currency will have a considerable influence on the operations of these companies.
Foreign currency exposure is dealt with in greater detail in the financial part of this Annual Report.

Foreign currency exposure of the Group as a whole is rated as probable with
medium impact on its operations.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is particularly a risk of increase in financial expenses due to an increase in the
rate of interest.
Debt accounted for a considerable proportion of the Intereuropa Group's liabilities. he majority of
the Group's costs of financing were linked to EURIBOR, a variable rate of interest, and there was
no hedging against its changes; therefore, changes in EURIBOR were closely monitored. In 2010,
EURIBOR rose by 43 per cent, and its rising trend continued. Accordingly, it may be estimated
that interest rate risk exposure was high with medium impact on the Group's operations. The
influence of the variable rate of interest EURIBOR on the profit and loss account is shown in the
financial part of this Annual Report.
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Exposure to interest rate risk is rated as high with medium impact on
operations.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity or solvency risk is expressed as a risk that the Group companies could not provide
sufficient liquid funds to meet all their liabilities.
Liquidity risk is managed by active cash management. In 2010, the Group succeeded in either
rescheduling its all short-term loans as long-term or renewing them (in the case of line of credits
which are used to finance working capital and current liquidity management). In the future, liquidity
risk will be, therefore, dependent primarily upon the possibility of regular repayment of financial
liabilities and complying with other obligations under loan agreements.

The probability of liquidity problems is rated as medium, and it will have a
significant influence on our operations.

Non-payment risk
Non-payment gave rise to a risk of non-payment for the supplied services which was hedged
out particularly by a lien on goods. This risk was mitigated by maintaining contacts, flexibility and
providing quality services at the level of the existing conditions to customers.
The Group managed this risk by monitoring incoming payments and keeping a record of
overdue amounts. The Group also monitored its own prices and measured the profitability of the
customer's operations by performing a cost centre analysis. Risk control was taken over by the
branch office and the business unit. Efficiency of risk reducing measures were controlled through
monthly monitoring of amounts due and not yet due amounts at the business unit level. Nonpayment risks are expected to have a medium impact on the Group's operations. The probability
of their occurrence is very high.

Operational risks
In all three business areas – land and intercontinental transport and logistics services – the major
risks are associated with ongoing consequences of economic downturn and global market
developments.
Effects of the crisis on land transport were particularly reflected in the transport cost increase,
and intercontinental transport in the impact of adverse economic conditions on the operation
of suppliers and on securing terms of delivery and customer solvency. In the area of logistics
solutions, effects of recession were associated with a reduced volume of operations and
consequently also with price pressures resulting from surplus storage capacities.

Land transport
Risk of consequences of global economic recession
This risk is associated with the global market in which the Group provides logistics services. Since
the major part of the Group's revenues is generated in Slovenia, mitigation of this risk depends
largely on the recovery of Slovenia's economy.
The European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD) forecasts 1.7 per cent economic
growth for Slovenia in 2011, which is less than for other countries in the area. Considering
interdependence between the recovery of Slovenia's economy and the recovery of West European
economies (particularly German), it is understandable since the forecasts anticipate a lower
economic growth in Western Europe than in 2010. In addition to undercapitalised banking sector
and problems with bad loans, economic forecasts also highlight a slow pace of structural reforms
and changes in corporate governance as the key risks on the way to a faster economic recovery
in Slovenia. Austerity measures hinder the implementation of fiscal incentives for economic
development and a faster growth of domestic demand.
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The forecasts for other countries in the area are more encouraging: more than three per cent
growth is anticipated for the countries of South Eastern Europe. An even higher growth rate is
expected for the Russian and Ukrainian economies (+4.6 per cent and +4 per cent, respectively).
Economic crisis caused a mismatch between supply and demand for transport services in the
market, which resulted in higher costs of transport. The risk associated with this situation is posed
by impossibility of passing higher input costs of suppliers to customers who are also struggling for
existence and the lowest possible costs of services.
The Group managed the risk associated with the consequences of global economic recession by
optimising its processes and searching for synergic effects within individual companies and the
Group as a whole. The Group monitored regularly the market developments, both in the countries
in which the Group had its operations and in its major foreign trading partners. The Group also
followed the development of its customers. Risks were monitored on the level of individual
products and heads of organisational units. The risk level was high and could significantly
influence the attainment of the set objectives.

Risk of rising fuel prices
This risk is associated with changes in the market prices of fuels which are beyond the Group's control.
According to some analysts, oil prices will also continue to grow in 2011. Considering the fact
that the cost of fuel accounts for almost 30 per cent of the price of transport, the rise in the price
of fuel represents a high operational risk. The Group's efforts were focused on securing the most
favourable suppliers; however, it could not always avoid the fluctuation of market prices. The
Group regularly monitored the prices of fuels and adjusted the price of its services accordingly.
The Group held regular monthly coordination meetings with a view to adopting appropriate costrelated decisions (selection of the most favourable supplier) and decisions on sales activities
(changes in sales prices). The risk control was the responsibility of the management of the relevant
business area in cooperation with heads of individual organisational units.

Risk associated with unforeseeable changes in partnership network
This type of risk is due to logistics market globalisation which leads to various private equity
takeovers.
Changes in ownership occur as owners decide to sell their businesses due to a difficult
economic situation during the recession. In the case of family businesses, the most common
reason for such changes is that family members lose interest to continue with the management
and governance of their companies or become aware that their company has little chance of
survival in the global market unless it becomes a part of a larger system. Medium-sized family
businesses are increasingly forming “alliances” in order to be able to compete with large systems.
Intereuropa can join no such alliance due to its ownership structure. All this can result in a change
in its partnership network since there is a possibility of a conflict of interest with a new owner
that already has companies of his own or a solid partnership network in the countries in which
Intereuropa has its operations. On the other side, the same risks may also be involved in eventual
change in Intereuropa's ownership.
This is a relatively high risk, the effects of which depend on the country or the number of countries
in which a change of partnership could occur. The risk associated with unforeseeable changes
in partnership network was controlled by integrating with a larger number of trading partners in
individual areas and by means of a continued and active monitoring of that area. The risk control
was the responsibility of the management of the land transport business area.

The major risk of probability of occurrence of risk events and its impact on
operations was associated with the consequences of economic recession.

Intercontinental transport
Risk of transactions with suppliers and partnership-agency network
The risk in this area was rated as moderate since shipping companies and air carriers and their
services dynamically adapted to the market situation and changed their services more frequently.
This had a direct impact on the Group’s activities; however, the market offered many alternative
solutions so that the Group could adapt to the changed circumstances. For this reason, this type
of risk was considered to have a medium influence on the Group’s operations.
Shipping companies, air carriers, ports and land transport operators continuously increased
the price of their services. As a result, any differences from requirements and agreements could
have resulted in a loss of the Group’s customers. This type of risk was rated as moderate and
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was monitored on the level of individual products, where risks were managed by heads of
organisational units, branch office managers and product manager for the Group as a whole.
Reporting was monthly at regular meetings of the company’s management.

Risk of transactions with customers
Due to the crisis, Intereuropa’s customers expected a higher flexibility of service, regular tracking
and tracing of goods and regular notification. In this way, they reduced their inventories and
secured a lower financial burden.
Non-payment and demand for deferred payments are expected to increase in 2011. Transactions
with customers represented the key operational risk since they included the Group’s response to
customers’ demands and, at the same time, the monitoring of the customers’ financial standing.
This risk was rated as moderate and its impact on the Group’s operations as medium. It was
measured by heads of organisational units and sales departments. A survey and reporting on the
situation regarding customer transactions and trade receivables was performed monthly at joint
meetings of branch office managers. The estimated results were used as the basis for further
relations with customers.

Risk of competition in the logistics market
The impact of the crisis was also reflected in reallocation of market shares between logistics
companies, which was a result of market segmentation and consequently also increased the
customers’ switching to various other logistics companies.
The competition in winning new contracts and managing the existing customer base is expected
to grown in 2011. This will impede the growth of revenues and physical volume of operations.
This risk was considered to have a moderate impact on the Group’s operations. Development
and activities of competitive firms were monitored regularly. Activities in this area were carried
out by heads of individual organisational units and product managers and were reported to the
company’s management at regular monthly meetings.

The probability of occurrence of operational risks in the area of
intercontinental transport was rated as moderate. Essential risks were
associated with operations of suppliers and key customers that were still
under the influence of the global economic crisis.

Logistics solutions
Sales risks
On the one hand, sales risks were associated with customers’ expectations and their satisfaction
with Intereuropa’s services and, on the other hand, with Intereuropa’s cost effectiveness, i.e.
competitiveness. Services were provided in accordance with customers’ expectations. The
Group’s sales approach and operational difficulties encountered in the provision of complex
logistics services that include several products were coordinated at the meeting of representatives
of various business areas. Customers increasingly turned to suppliers that provided them with
complex and integrated logistics solutions that were efficient and IT supported and ensured
traceability of goods and orders. It all had to be integrated with the customer’s information system.
On the other side, storage locations were integrated with the local economy, particularly in
"closed" areas, which increased their dependence on economic operators in that environment.
The risk of loss of customers was mitigated by setting up mechanisms for a permanent internal
control of the quality of implementation of services; at the same time, satisfaction of the
company's customers was frequently checked with their key executive officers. Responsibility
for risk control was assumed by the business area, branch office and business unit that adopts
appropriate measures.
Efficiency of measures aimed at mitigating risks were monitored through monthly control of sales
and financial results at business area and business unit levels as well as by means of monthly
analysis of sales and financial results, customer satisfaction and complaints at the level of business
units. Sales risks have a strong influence on the Group’s operations and were rated as probable.

Risks associated with the global economic crisis
These risks are associated with a reduced volume of business resulting from the negative impact
of the economic crisis. The main reasons for these risks were the termination of cooperation by
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key customers and a lower volume of sales in the majority of other, minor customers, for which a
decline in trade flows and consequently also in the storage of goods was recorded.
At the same time, the Group faced a strong pressure by its clients to reduce the price of its
services since the strategic markets in which the Group has its operations suddenly witnessed
excess storage capacities. The risks associated with the economic crisis were controlled by
means of synergic measures and using internal reserves. The market situation is monitored and
prompt measures for boosting sales are adopted at regular monthly coordination meetings.
Risks associated with the global economic crisis are expected to have a strong on the Group's
operations. The probability of their occurrence is very high.

Risk of availability of storage capacities
A risk of this kind occurs in case of renewed demand by existing customers for sites with already
occupied storage capacities or in case of new demand by potential customers.
This risk was controlled through arrangements with customers, internal direction of demand to
appropriate locations and by cost controllability of other products. In this way, the clients were not
affected by the costs of storage of goods at various locations. To this end, the Group provided
substitute premises that had to be used in an optimum manner.
When there was a great interest in a particular site, the Group proposed investment in new
storage capacities. Risk control was exercised by the relevant business area by continuously
monitoring the market needs of customers in cooperation with company managers, branch office
managers and heads of business units. Risks of availability of storage capacities are expected to
have a medium impact on the Group's operations. The occurrence of this risk is rated as unlikely.

Risks of meeting product group requirements by means of additional
requirements (Dangerous substances, foodstuffs, animal fodder)
Specialisation of activities in individual product groups resulted in additional risks in the standard
work process, which were associated with additional requirements of individual product groups
in complying with technical requirements for facilities and means of transport and requirements of
the technology of work itself.
The risk was controlled by monitoring statutory technical requirements for buildings, by means
of established controlled systems, such as HACCP for foodstuffs and fodder, and a continued
monitoring of the processes of acceptance and storage and additional warehouse operations
and delivery of goods. Risk control was exercised by relevant business areas, subsidiaries or
business units.
Effectiveness of risk mitigation measures was measured by statutory annual internal controls
carried out by persons responsible for internal control and by means of system audits and
periodic external controls carried out by competent inspection services.
Risks of meeting product group requirements by means of additional requirements are expected to
have a minor influence on the Group's operations. The occurrence of this risk is rated as unlikely.

Due to an increasingly unpredictable macroeconomic environment and a
growing influence of economic recession, risk management in the area
of logistics solutions was focused particularly on measures for reducing
sales risks and risks of availability of storage capacities. The two risks were
identified as strategically most important for the area of logistics solutions.

Functional risks
Functional risks are associated with the concept, implementation and supervision of business
processes and activities. They are managed by means of internal controls, maintenance,
insurance, organisation and processes.
Major functional risks faced by Intereuropa Group are the following:
•

risks associated with implementation of strategic business plans,

•

risks of information and communication technology,

•

risks associated with human resources management.
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Strategic risks
This type of risk includes particularly risks associated with implementation of strategic business
plans whose main objective is to secure financial stability of the Group.
The Group’s financial stability mainly depends on the following:
•

successful loan restructuring arrangements with banks,

•

extension of short-term loans for current asset financing,

•

successful outcome of proposed disinvestment and

•

provision of adequate cash flow from operating activities for settling of all financial liabilities.

In spite of adverse economic conditions, the Group reached an agreement with banks to
restructure its loans in 2010. The Group succeeded in extending short-term loans obtained for
current asset financing and carried out the planned disinvestment. Activities associated with the
provision of financial security remain a priority of the Management Board’s agenda also for the
financial year 2011.

Risks of information and communication technology
The parent company deals with these risks from the viewpoint of negative consequences which
particularly include the following:
•

misuse and violation of data integrity can occur in the use of information and communication
technology,

•

IT solutions are not available for operational support due to suspension of activities, obsolete
equipment, exposure to viruses and inadequate support.

The risks of information and communication technology are managed in accordance with an
integrated risk management system of Intereuropa d.d. An administrator is appointed for each risk
type, mainly in the department for computerisation of operations. The risk administrator regularly
monitors the risk indicators and, due to increased likelihood of risk occurrence or higher level of
estimated damage that is not considered acceptable by taking account of the required financial
investments, takes precautionary measure to avoid or mitigate the consequences.

Risks associated with human resources management
These risks are associated with attracting appropriate staff, staff development, remuneration and
motivation. Highly qualified and motivated staff are a key component of the Group's development;
therefore, special attention is given to effective staff development, building a culture of success
and staff training.
The Group has in place the systems to manage its staff in a quality manner: system of planning
staff requirements, system of education and training at all levels, system of remuneration and
performance evaluation, system of identification and management of key and promising staff,
system of internal communication and system of staff participation in management. The Group
exercises a continuous staff turnover control, particularly for the key and promising staff, and
ensures an optimum staff turnover level.

The major types of risk include strategic risks associated with the securing
of financial stability of the Group. Managing these risks requires a loan
restructuring arrangement with banks which the Group achieved in spite of the
difficult situation in the economic environment, extension of short-term loans
for current asset financing, and implementation of the proposed disinvestment.
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Development and investments
Development of computerisation of operations
Intereuropa Group continued developing the computerisation of its logistics services in order to
maintain and strengthen its long-term competitiveness. The development and introduction of new
IT solutions contributed to the improvement of processes in terms of implementing the strategic
objective of process optimisation in all segments of its operations.
The Group earmarked EUR 740,000 for investment in computerisation, of which EUR 447,000 or
60.5 per cent of the total IT investment within the Group for its operations in Slovenia (the parent
company and subsidiaries Intereuropa IT d.o.o., Intereuropa Transport d.o.o., Interagent d.o.o.
and Interzav, d.o.o.). Due to the Group's strategy of active cost reduction, major investments
in the replacement of worn-out workplace computer equipment were cancelled. In other Group
companies, investments in computerisation totalled EUR 293,000.
Figure 24: Investments in computerisation of the Group's operations
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Activities in the field of computerisation of the Group's
operations in Slovenia
Achievements in three major areas in 2010:
•

Performance management, where the Group proceeded to build an integrated system of
business intelligence that will enhance the automation of reporting, ensure a higher data
integration, facilitate access to reports, improve their availability and satisfy a variety of needs
for data access and presentation. A state-of-the-art business intelligence system will allow
Intereuropa to respond flexibly to changes and customers' demands with a view to ensuring a
prompt adaptation of processes and business functions.

•

Workplace computerisation, where the Group upgraded Microsoft tools with a solution for
email and direct communication. This will contribute to higher work efficiency as a result of
easier communication between employees and lead to improved customer satisfaction.

•

Preparations for purchasing process computerisation through digitalisation and safekeeping of documents. This will contribute to higher staff efficiency, achievement of ecological
objectives and ensure state-of-the-art service to customers.

The Group's objective is to provide its customers with higher value added by developing the computerisation of its operations with new solutions. This policy is in line with the current economic circumstances.

In this context, the Group's activities in 2011 will be focused on the implementation of the
following projects:
•

Continued introduction of IT solutions for achieving a more highly automated integration
of the logistics supply chain with motorways of the sea and air corridors. New solutions
will contribute to the shortening of transport routes, more efficient work and enhanced transparency of goods transport.

•

Continued introduction of the revised transport management system (TMS). Central capturing of data for all operations will enhance work efficiently and provide customers with better
quality of treatment of orders and tracking and tracing of shipments.

•

Optimisation of warehouse management system (WMS) solutions.

71

72

Business report

•

Inclusion of new customers through standard interfaces in the area of land transport and
logistics solutions. It is facilitated by the Group's e-commerce platform and provides customers with efficient services with no paperwork.

Computerisation of operations of other Group companies
The main projects of Intereuropa's major foreign subsidiaries in the field of computerisation were
the following:
•

Intereuropa, logističke usluge, d.o.o.: the setting up of a secondary location and ensuring a
high degree of availability of information system and business continuity;

•

Intereuropa RTC, Sarajevo:
• server room update in conformity with safe room standards to reduce the risk of
unauthorised access and disaster exposure,
• preparations for the introduction of VoIP telephony with a view to reducing costs and
improving the efficiency of work and integration into the customer management system,
• development of IT solutions for warehousing management support with a view to
enhancing work efficiency and improving the quality of logistics services.

The implementation of the following major projects is planned for 2011:
• Intereuropa, logističke usluge, d.o.o.:
• adapting systems to suit their integration with the new EU-NCTS system,
• revision of the human resources management system in line with legal requirements
for working time recording and computerisation of workflows with a view to managing
absence from work and ensuring maximum staff efficiency;

• Intereuropa RTC, Sarajevo:
• introduction of a new warehousing management support system,
• introduction of GPS system for tracking vehicles with a view to optimising the
transport routes and ensuring the possibility of tracking and tracing of goods and
enhancing customer satisfaction,
• introduction of fiscalisation system in line with legal requirements and adaptation of
ERP system,
• upgrade of server infrastructure with a view to ensuring a high degree of availability of
information system and business continuity.

Capital investments
Table 16 l
Survey of implementation of the planned capital investments in 2010*				(in EUR 000)

Immovable property

Equipment

Plan 	Achievement
			
Intereuropa d.d.

Total investments		

Plan 	Achievement
Plan	Achievement	Achievement in %
						

745

302

1,586

247

2,331

549

23.6

Subsidiaries

3,440

384

3,356

1,075

6,796

1,459

21.5

Total Group

4,185

686

4,942

1,322

9,127

2,008

22.0

*Division into tangible and intangible fixed assets: within the framework of investments in immovable property and equipment totalling EUR 2,008,000, investments
made in tangible fixed assets and intangible fixed assets on the Group level were EUR 1,550,000 and EUR 458,000, respectively.

Intereuropa Group
Due to macroeconomic market conditions and the Group's financial situation, capital investments
related principally to the completion of already initiated investment projects and execution of
urgent operations and purchases. This particularly applied to the parent company Intereuropa
d.d., which carried out only investments required for maintaining the minimum normal operating
conditions and producing immediate benefits.
Intereuropa Group's capital investments totalled EUR 2,008,000, of which EUR 686,000 in
immovable property and EUR 1,322,000 in equipment. Capital investments accounted for 22.0
per cent of the Group's annual investment plan.
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Investments by the parent company Intereuropa d.d.
Major investments made by the parent company Intereuropa d.d. included the following:
•

protection against hail – protective net for automobiles in the parking lot of Logatec Logistics
Centre,

•

general overhaul of a cold store in Maribor (stages I and II) including the replacement of mechanical installations,

•

resurfacing of the additionally acquired area in Koper automobile terminal,

•

acquisition of storage racks in Dravograd and

•

acquisition of licences and franchises.

Some office equipment was specifically purchased with money received from awards received
from the Fund of the Republic of Slovenia for Promotion of Employment for Disabled Persons and
refund of contributions for employment of disabled persons above the statutory quota.

Investments by subsidiaries
Major investments made by Intereuropa Group companies included the following:
•

refurbishment of a warehouse in Belgrade,

•

finishing works in the logistics centre in Moscow,

•

refurbishment of office premises in Podgorica,

•

acquisition of four towing vehicles in Zagreb,

•

acquisition of licences for information system and product support and

•

update of IT infrastructure and server system in Zagreb.

Plans for 2011
On the Group level, investments are planned at EUR 2,399,000. The largest amount will be
invested in information technology (licences and computer equipment) and warehouse equipment
(forklifts and storage racks). The parent company Intereuropa d.d. plans to invest EUR 1,417,000.
Like in the previous year, all major investments in 2011 will be accompanied by an additional
statement of reasons and supported by a feasibility study.

In 2010, Intereuropa Group concentrated on emergency investments only.
Figure 25: Comparison between the planned and realised capital investments of Intereuropa
Group in 2010 (in EUR 000)
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Sharing
of knowledge
and experiences
of employees

The Group developed a
responsible attitude towards
its employees and enhance
their professionalism.
Emphasis was given on
internal transfer of knowledge,
and investment in the quality
of the working environment
resulted in 0.66 percentage
point higher rating of this
segment in assessing
organisational climate.

Sustainability report

Sustainability
report
Responsibility to employees and to the social and natural
environment are the pillars of sustainable development,
which is one of our key guidelines and a permanent
commitment of the international logistics group Intereuropa.
Responsibility towards sustainable development is a token
of our competitiveness and development orientation.
Our guidelines on the path to maintaining and strengthening good relations with the immediate
and wider environment are:
•

ethics towards employees, the natural environment, the local community and society at large,

•

care and attention for the needs of the environment,

•

strict compliance with legal rules

•

meeting the demand of consumers for better quality of services and complying with social and
environmental standards.

Employee care
In complex operating conditions the company managed to achieve its business and strategic
goals through consistent planning and implementation of its personnel employment policy. In
the implementation of its personnel policy, the company continued to rely on its internal human
resources, its reduced labour costs, optimised work processes and introduced measures to
improve work motivation of its employees.
The aforementioned measures contributed to the strengthening of the company’s intellectual and
social capital as important factors for the Group's long-term development. They include primarily
the professional experience and qualification of its staff and the capacity of teams of specialised
individuals with strong sales know-how and the provision of a complete range of logistics services.

Changes in the number of employees
The global crisis is also reflected in changes of the number of employees of the Group. In order
to reduce its reduce labour costs, the Group continued reducing the number of its staff for the
second consecutive year.
As at 31 December 2010, the Group had 2232 employees, which is 264 or 11 per cent less than
the previous year. The staff employed in the Group’s operations in Slovenia accounted for 43.4 per
cent and employees in subsidiaries abroad accounted for 56.6 percent of the Group’s total work
force. The number of staff in the Group’s operations in Slovenia was reduced by 153 or 14 per
cent, and the number of staff in its subsidiaries abroad by 111 or 8 per cent. The fluctuation rate
was, consequently relatively high and totalled 14 per cent in larger companies.
In order to ensure cost-effectiveness and optimum employee structure, the Group adopted the
following measures:
•

restrictions on employment: recruitment was limited solely to professionals with professional
experience and to areas where filling of vacancies with internal reallocations was not possible,

•

periodic part-time recruitment through student employment brokerage services or employment
agencies,

•

staff reallocation within and among the Group units and companies, with almost 150 employees changing their workplace or work area in the Group’s operations in Slovenia
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•

payment of severance pay to 77 employees in the Group's operations in Slovenia since it was
impossible to arrange for their reallocation,

•

by limiting employment under service contracts: at the end of 2009, there were 50 staff employed under service contracts in the Group’s operations in Slovenia but only 38 at the yearend 2010,

•

due to economy measures, the company’s Management Board decided to reduce the initial
premium for voluntary supplementary pension insurance premium paid by the company on
behalf of employees.

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had 92 percent employees on indefinite contracts and 8 on
fixed-term contracts.

Figure 26: Changes in the number of employees in the period 2007 -2010
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Table 17 |
The number of employees in Intereuropa Group by company in 2009 and 2010
31/12/2009

Incoming

Outgoing

31/12/2010

Difference 10-09

Ind 10/09

Intereuropa d.d., Koper

829

47

103

773

-56

93

Intereuropa Transport, d.o.o., Koper

232

1

62

171

-61

74

20

1

1

20

0

100
100

Interagent, d.o.o., Koper
Interzav, d.o.o., Koper

4

0

0

4

0

36

0

36

0

-36

0

1121

49

202

968

-153

86

597

27

58

566

-31

95

18

2

4

16

-2

89

Intereuropa RTC d.d. Sarajevo

188

16

44

160

-28

85

AD Intereuropa - logističke usluge Beograd

127

6

19

114

-13

90

30

2

8

24

-6

80

170

12

15

167

-3

98

26

6

1

31

5

119

Intereuropa IT, d.o.o., Koper*
Slovenia
Intereuropa, logističke usluge, d.o.o., Zagreb
Intereuropa Sajam, d.o.o., Zagreb

Intereuropa Kosova L.C.C., Priština
Zetatrans A.D. Podgorica
Intereuropa Skopje, DOO Skopje
Intereuropa Transport DOOEL Skopje**
Intereuropa –East Ltd., Moscow
TOV TEK ZTS, Uzhgorod

2

0

2

0

-2

0

143

102

123

122

-21

85

46

6

8

44

-2

96

TOV Intereuropa - Ukraine, Kiev

7

0

7

0

-7

0

TOV DDT, Onokivci***

1

0

1

0

-1

0

14

1

1

14

0

100

Intereuropa S.A.S., Saint Pierre de Chandieu

4

0

0

4

0

100

Intereuropa Global Logistics Service Albania shpk, Durres

2

0

0

2

0

100

Other countries

1375

180

291

1264

-111

92

TOTAL

2496

229

493

2232

-264

89

Intereuropa Transport & Spedition GmbH, Troisdorf

* 01 June 2010 merger with the parent company
** in liquidation since 22 September 2010
*** in 2010 merger with TOV TEK ZTS Uzhgorod
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Employment structure

Employment structure by gender
The Group’s employment structure by gender was 65.7% male and 34.3% female, and remained
at 2009 levels. Equally, there were no major changes in management which was composed of
62.5% male and 37.5% female employees under service contracts.

Qualification structure of employees
Operational staff with the 4th and 5th qualification level (vocational secondary education and high
school and secondary vocational technical education) predominate in the Group. Compared with
the previous year, the percentage of employees with education levels mentioned above remained
roughly the same; however, significant changes were recorded in the other two groups due to
changes in the recording of data in the subsidiary Intereuropa - East Ltd., Moscow. Funding is
accorded to employees with high potential, enabling them to obtain a higher level of qualification.
At the end of the year, the Group had contracts for education with 32 employees.
Tabela 18 |
Qualification structure in Intereuropa Group in the period 2007-2010
Year

1st – 3rd level*

4th-5th level**

6th -7th level***

2007

10.6 %

64.0 %

25.4 %

2008

9.2 %

64.5 %

26.3 %

2009

7.9 %

61.2 %

30.9 %

2010

10 %

62.0 %

28 %

*
Incomplete elementary education and short-term vocational education
** Vocational secondary education and high school and secondary vocational technical education
*** Post-secondary vocational and higher education, university undergraduate education and master’s degree

Figure 27: Qualification structure in Intereuropa Group in 2010
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Training and development of employees
Professional and personal development of employees are being implemented through permanent
education and training. In this way, the company further enhances the consolidation of its values,
particularly the strengthening of its customer orientation, partnership relations and teamwork.
Intereuropa’s international business environment enables its staff to develop and work in different
business areas.
A good half of the functional training (51%) was accounted for by internal transfer of knowledge
and skills, particularly in the fields of IT support to business processes and safe working
conditions. Intereuropa's professionals transferred their know-how to novice employees in the
form of mentorship.
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Figure 28: The total number of hours dedicated to education and training in 2010 as compared
with 2009 by field
70%
58%

60%

63.2%

50%
40%
30%

23.4%
20.5%

20%

9.1%

10%
0%

Logistics
2010

Safety at
work

6.5%

Supporting
activities

9.3%
7.7%

0% 0.6%

Foreign
languages

Management
skills

0.2%

1.5%

Marketing

2009

The main forms of training in the parent company included introduction of new software support
to logistics processes (ISPRO) for approximately 461 employees. On the Group level, employees
participated in workshops in the field of safety at work, which included first-aid training,
compliance with minimum sanitary requirements and safe work in the railway transport area.
Various training courses were also organised in the field of logistics (customs clearance, control of
transport permits) and other professional fields (accounting, finance, IT).
Based on internal call for expression of interest under the title “Knowledge makes the dreams
come true”, Intereuropa d.d. organised foreign language (English, Russian) and computer courses
for a total of 34 employees, who received government subsidies for this purpose.
Employees in the Group’s Slovenian operations underwent, on an average, 33 hours of training,
and employees of the Group’s foreign subsidiaries an average of 10 hours.

Table 19 |
Education and training of Intereuropa Group’s staff in the period 2007-2010

Hours of training
(functional training and part-time study)

2007

2008

2009

2010

35,353

37,696

54,072

45,000
12,813

Hours of internal transfer of knowledge
The number of hours of training per employee
*Total expenditure on training
*Total expenditure on training per employee

6,803

28,568

13

13

22

20

308,555

345,702

193,831

89,812

115.5

123.8

77.7

40.2

* This amount includes only tuition and participant fees

Co-operation with educational institutions
The longstanding co-operation between Intereuropa Group and a variety of educational institutions
in the local and broader environment was promoted by:
•

presenting the company’s logistics activities during organised visits on the company’s premises and in educational institutions,

•

arranging for compulsory industrial placement for 47 high school and university students,

•

working in cooperation with high school and university students in order to assist them in writing their term papers and theses on Intereuropa’s various business areas,

•

granting scholarships to three students through the Scholarship Fund of the University of
Primorska, enabling them to do their professional practice work at the company,

•

sending Intereuropa's professionals as lecturers at various conferences and important meetings.
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Quality of work life
The Group continued with the implementation of improvements to the quality of work life of its
employees and adopted some additional measures:
•	A family-friendly company: an open day for employees’ children was organised at the company's head office. It was attended by 33 children who could familiarise themselves with their
parents’ workplace. The initiative was warmly welcomed and similar events will also be organised in other business units.
•

The advantage of flexible working hours with a view to facilitating work and family obligations
was used by 20 employees within the Group.

•

Employees were presented with a letter of thanks on retirement or with a birthday card on
round-number birthdays, signed by the President of the Management Board.

•

Financial aid totalling EUR 68,372 was given by the Group to 108 of its employees afflicted by
financial and health problems (EUR 43,065 in 2009).

•

Long-service bonuses for 10, 20 and 30 years of service in the Intereuropa Group, organisation of New Year dinner party for employees and presentation of symbolic New Year’s gifts to
employees' children.

•

Employees were offered the opportunity to rent company holiday facilities at favourable prices.

•	An average of EUR 37 per employee per month was paid by the Group’s Slovenian operations
for 858 employees (88.4 percent) under the voluntary pension insurance scheme.

'Golden Thread' measurement of organisational climate
2009/2010
The results of the last measurement of organisational climate showed that the average rating
was, as expected, slightly lower (0.3 percentage points) than in the period 2007/2008. Ratings
in the category of the quality of working environment, where there are still considerable human
resource reserves, were higher compared to the previous measurement and above the average
for large enterprises.
Measurements showed slightly lower perception of safety among employees, which was not
surprising given the global economic crisis. Employees also expressed the feeling that they
received too little praise and recognition for a work well done, and the sense of affiliation with
Intereuropa as employer slightly declined as compared with the past few years.
Measures for improving the situation were adopted on the basis of the results of these
measurements and their implementation is mainly already in progress:
•

holding annual development discussions with all units and preparation of development plans
and holding discussions with key and promising employees,

•

regular monthly employee, unit or team presentations on the Intranet, with an emphasis on the
presentation of best practices within units and presentation of small, remote departments,

•

management availability and openness of the management, more frequent two-way communication,

•

the president of the management board and/or the deputy member of the management board,

•

publication of brief summaries of the main topics and knowledge provided by each type of
training underwent by any employee on the Intranet under the heading “Training”,

•

organisation of internal Group conferences for individual stakeholders, including team-building programmes,

•

annual organisation of annual round table by the management to discuss current issues with
high-potential employees still awaiting appointment to senior positions, at which members of
the management are also present.
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Health and safety at work

Employee health and safety at work
Alongside the quality of services, the concern for employee health and safety is an indispensable
part of the Group’s working process. They play a major role in the achievement of set objectives
and employee well-being.
The system of health and safety at work is based on identifying and assessing the risks in the
workplace and on implementing safety measures for their mitigation. Proceeding from the risk
assessment and safety statement, a continuous education and training of employees for a healthy
and safe working environment is ensured.
In order to improve the quality of work, particularly from the viewpoint of keeping up-to-date
and accurate records of personnel training and preventive medical examinations, the keeping of
records in SAP application was introduced at the end of the year. The project will be completed in
the first half of 2011.

Work safety training
This kind of education and training was carried out internally and in cooperation with external
specialists. As many as 373 employees, including students and workers hired on a temporary
basis at the parent company and subsidiary levels were trained in the fields of work safety and
health, fire protection and first aid The situation in this area is similar to the previous year’s when
373 workers participated in this type of training.

Employee healthcare
Preliminary, periodical directed or extraordinary medical examinations in cooperation with
approved medical practitioners and occupational health services were organised.
Last year, as many as 311 employees underwent preliminary and periodical directed medical
examinations. In addition to workers exposed to higher risk of injury, employees who, before that
date underwent only a pre-employment medical examination were also referred to these check ups.
In the Group’s Slovenian operations, 137 employees were included in organised influenza
vaccination, which is 31 less than in 2009.
Within the framework of concern for employee health, Intereuropa offered its staff the possibility of
in recreational exercise in their leisure time.
The above-mentioned precautionary measures were instrumental in managing sickness
absenteeism (sick leaves of up to 30 days are chargeable to the company) on the usual level of
about 2 per cent.

Injuries at work
In the Group’s operations in Slovenia, 27 employees suffered work injuries in 2010, among them also
a driver from Intereuropa Transport, d.o.o., who suffered serious injuries in a road traffic accident.
On the Group level, 40 employees were injured at work, of which two persons suffered serious
injuries. The number of injuries remained roughly the same as in the previous year, when a total of
35 cases of work injuries were recorded, however the number of serious injuries decreased by 1.5
per cent.
On the Group level, there were two serious injuries in 2010, against five serious injuries in 2009.
An analysis of sources and causes of injuries and their agents showed that the majority of injuries
occurred as a result of human factors (incautiousness, incorrect approach to work, failure to
use personal protective equipment). About one third of the injuries were suffered by drivers, with
skidding off the road representing the main cause of injury. A serious road traffic accident was the
reason for only one injury.

Work equipment examination and testing
Certain of health and injury are always involved in the use and operation of work equipment (e.g.
forklifts, hoists, gas and electrical installations, lightning conductors and other installations). For
this reason, all equipment is subject to regular checkups. More than 223 types of work equipment
were examined and tested in individual organisational units. A slight increase in the number of
checkups was recorded as compared with the previous year when 214 types of work equipment
were subjected to examination.
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Fire protection
Special attention was given to controlling the risk of fire. Regular examinations of the facilities
and both active and passive fire protection equipment (fire extinguishers, hydrants, fire detectors,
domes for smoke and heat extraction, automatic fire-screen doors, etc.) were carried out.
Employees undergo periodic fire protection training.

Responsibility to the natural environment

Intereuropa strives to contribute to the global goal of
reducing of hazardous emissions into the environment,
restricting energy losses and reducing and recycling waste.
In this respect, the company strictly complies with the
national requirements and adapts to the EU and global
guidelines set out in environmental directives.
We put our efforts to include a responsible attitude towards the environment in all of our business
processes and decisions, in particular:
•

construction and reconstruction of buildings,

•

purchase of capital equipment and additional equipment,

•

handling waste computer equipment,

•

waste management,

•

handling procedures for hazardous cargo,

•

water and energy consumption.

Only the most urgent investments and no major reconstructions of the facilities were made in 2010.

Energy efficiency and separate collection of waste
Energy efficiency continued to be implemented by regular and systematic measures, such as:
•

regular cleaning and servicing of furnaces, chimneys and air conditioning equipment,

•

regulation of heating installations,

•

analyses of wastewater and flue gas analysis,

•

reconstruction of parking lots by fitting them out with pollutant traps.

Greater consideration was given to the separate collection of waste, where long-term objectives
were set for waste reduction and anticipated effects. Press containers are used to separate
non-hazardous waste (cardboard, paper, wood, metal, glass, tires and plastic foil). Dangerous
chemicals and waste oils are collected in appropriate storage facilities, while organic waste of
animal origin is handed to certified contractors.
Computer monitors, cartridges, batteries and other IT equipment (printers, cables, mice and
CPUs) are collected separately. Worn out computer equipment is handed for disposal at least
once a year under an agreement with a certified waste collector and in accordance with the law.
In 2010, a rooftop at Otiški vrh was rented out for the installation of a photovoltaic array
comprising 4,400 modules with a power of 999 kWp, enough to meet electricity requirements
of 275 households. The array permits an annual reduction of 660 tones in CO2 emissions.
Two agreements have already been signed for the installation of PV arrays on the rooftops of
Intereuropa buildings in Celje and Logatec. By doing so, Intereuropa indirectly joined the cofinancing programme for renewable energy sources.

Intereuropa strives to promote activities that contribute to the reduction
of hazardous emissions into the environment, energy losses and to the
reduction and recycling of waste.
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Mitigation of adverse impacts on the environment in
transport and business processes
Intereuropa is aware that transport is one of the major sources of pollution. As a logistics
company, Intereuropa are involved in the organisation of various modes of transport. Transport
by trucks is one of the most important areas in which the company can directly influence a
responsible environmental management.
Various activities are used to mitigate adverse impacts on the environment in this area, particularly
the following:
•

gradual elimination of vehicles with EURO 5 engines from the fleet, and

•

separate disposal of waste materials such as tires and oils.

Intereuropa also contributes to environmentally-friendly conduct in other processes by replacing
paper administration with electronic and by saving energy in offices and warehouses.
Management of hazardous substances and waste, etc. Information and raising employee
awareness is also provided through the company’s bulletins and other internal communication
tools. The use of technology and a range of services that include and support the principles
of environmental protection actively contribute to the raising of awareness of environmental
principles in other business partners.

Objectives for 2011
The existing Municipal Waste Management Plan for treatment of municipal waste in Intereuropa
will be upgraded in order to ensure a single company-wide waste collection in 2011.
There is a plan to introduce an electronic document management system for the individual
business areas, and the company will continue to implement energy efficiency and costeffectiveness measures with regard to consumption of energy and other materials.

In 2011, additional improvements are expected in the field of energy
efficiency and cost-effectiveness.

Responsibility to the social environment

The Group’s positive attitude and active participation in the
local and broader social environments in various markets
in which the Group has its operations are important factors
for sound performance and development. They were also a
recurring theme in 2010. Despite the unfavourable economic
conditions and the Group’s complex financial situation,
the Group did its best to invest in the social environment
and to maintain and strengthen the good relations with
stakeholders in this environment.
The Group’s interaction with its social environment helps to improve the quality of life of the
employees and of the society at large. The Group’s responsible attitude contributes positively
to the environment in which it operates. It applies both to the parent company and its foreign
subsidiaries which are also actively involved in their local and broader social environment.
Funds are granted with due care and prudence to many recipients from various interest groups.
Intereuropa's primary objective is to focus on opportunities that contribute to Intereuropa’s
recognition and reputation in Europe and beyond.
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Structure of donations and sponsorships of Intereuropa Group
The structure of donations and sponsorships by area has changed in time but has always
promoted variety and equal treatment of its all business areas. Certain long-term forms of
sponsorship partnerships and projects have developed and consolidated in time.
The Intereuropa Group has been distinctly in favour of participating in humanitarian campaigns,
and this year they again accounted for the largest share of the sponsorships and donations
budget. The Group’s development, education, knowledge and progress orientation was
demonstrated through its support to projects in education and science, the major contribution
being made to scientific development in the area of the Group‘s activities without neglecting, at
the same time, the broader social development areas.
Economic crisis and market conditions hindered the Group's operations in 2010 and consequently
took its toll on originally earmarked by the Group for sponsorships and donations. Nevertheless,
the Group managed to support quite a number of socially useful projects.

We supported the Čebelica association for aid to children and responded
to the needs of children from socially disadvantaged families. The Group’s
employees collected clothing, footwear, school supplies, toys and other
equipment. Items collected in this way were sent to Maribor through
Intereuropa Express logistics service and handed to the cause.
Intereuropa d.d. responded to the invitation of the Section of Tropical
Medicine of the Faculty of Medicine in Ljubljana and with the help of its
logistics services organised the transport of medicines and other medical
supplies to Uganda.
We supported the Silva Fund of the Association for Life Quality of People with
Special Needs.

Quality management system

In 2010, Intereuropa continued to implement the adopted
strategy for the establishment of an integrated management
system. The year was marked by earning a new quality
certification for the status of authorised economic operator
(AEO) in Intereuropa d.d. and successfully completed
external evaluations in all six Group companies certified for
quality systems management standard ISO 9001:2008.
Implementation of the quality management strategy
Intereuropa Group continued with the implementation of the adopted strategy for the establishment
of an integrated quality management system. At the end of 2010, as many as 76.3 per cent of
all Group employees worked in certified companies, which is 5.9 percentage points more than in
the previous year. In addition to the activities in the area of quality management, environmental
protection, food safety and occupational health, the Group established a safety management
system for the supply chain in the controlling company and achieved the AEO certificate.
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Quality indicators
In the area of forwarding and logistics, quality indicators are linked to the promptness of the
services rendered and safety of the customers' goods. In Intereuropa d.d. the speed of delivery of
goods in international and national transport remained on the previous years’ level. The safety of
goods, measured in terms of goods damage and the number of compensation claims associated
therewith, showed a significant improvement.
The number of complaints in the parent company in 2010 was down by 20 percent on 2009 with
50 per cent less claims costs. The company is insured against operational risk with its subsidiary
Interzav d.o.o.

Internal verification of service quality
Internal evaluations were carried out in all certified companies throughout 2010. Internal evaluation
results show that business operations complied with the standard in the majority of processes.
Corrective measures have been initiated with regard to activities in which discrepancies occurred.

As many as 76.3 percent of the Group’s employees work in the six
certified companies, which is 5.9 percentage points more than in the
previous year.
Table 20 l
External verification of service quality in 2010
Company
Standard
Certification
		
body
			

Month of
Discrepancies
Recommendations
external			
evaluation			

Measurement
of customer
satisfaction

Intereuropa d.d.

ISO 9001:2008

SIQ

March

0

16

Intereuropa Transport d.o.o.

ISO 9001:2008

SIQ

March

0

2

Intereuropa, logističke
usluge, d.o.o., Zagreb

ISO 9001:2008

SIQ

March

0

7

Interagent d.o.o., Koper

ISO 9001:2008

BV

June

0

3

•

Intereuropa RTC d.d. Sarajevo

ISO 9001:2008

SIQ

December

0

17

•

Intereuropa Transport &
Spedition GmbH, Troisdorf

ISO 9001:2008

BV

February

0

1

Internal verification of food safety management system –
HACCP
The controlling company established food safety management system in its warehouses in
Maribor, Dravograd, Celje and Ljubljana. In November and December, HACCP system verification,
i.e. verification of compliance with good practices with regard to food safety was carried out in
all four warehouses. Discrepancies were identified in ten cases and eleven recommendations for
improvement were made.

External verification of service quality
Only two minor discrepancies were identified on the Group level in external verification processes.
These related to incompleteness of data in delivery notes and inadequate analysis of data
regarding compliance with road transport regulations.

The year 2010 was marked by achievement of a new standard and
AEO certificate for secure and safe supply chains in Intereuropa d.d.,
and successfully concluded external evaluations of quality management
systems in six Group companies.

External verification of the system of organic product
storage on import from third countries
For the fourth consecutive year, the Koper Branch successfully passed the assessment of
conformity of storage of organic products imported from third countries, as laid down in Council
Regulations (EC), Nos. 834/2007 and 889/2008.
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Plans for 2011
With the introduction of state-of-the-art software as well as standardised and automated work
processes, an increase is expected in the level of service quality, particularly in the area of
land transport.

Responsibility to suppliers
Intereuropa has maintained good business relations based on reliability and trust with its suppliers.
The procurement of various services, work equipment, materials and personnel is carried out in an
efficient and cost-effective manner by complying with high quality standards.

Building and maintaining good business relations with suppliers
The system of integrated supplier relationship management is defined in the Rules of Procedure
for Quality Management, organisational rules, work guidelines and Group rules. In order to ensure
a smooth work process, Intereuropa strives to maintain a professional, solid, reciprocal and fair
relationship with key and other suppliers of important resources.

Suppliers are categorised according to their importance and capability in:
•

partner suppliers (suppliers with whom Intereuropa has a long-term cooperation agreement),

•

authorised suppliers (suppliers considered as capable and reliable),

•

non-authorised suppliers (suppliers not meeting the selection criteria).

Other suppliers include one-off and minor suppliers.

Assessment and selection of suppliers
Suppliers are assessed annually in major business areas and included in appropriate lists
(authorised/non-authorised) on the basis of a uniform methodology and the prescribed criteria
(price, quality, delivery times and other area-specific criteria). Suppliers are notified writing about
achieved results. Intereuropa is open to any comments, suggestions and wishes with a view to
improving its mutual relationship with its suppliers.
To ensure equal footing of suppliers and optimum solutions, selection is carried out among three
suppliers in conformity with the regulations and the list of suppliers. Selection is carried out by
the selection committee or another responsible person in cooperation with the experts from
appropriate areas. The adequacy and quality of the supplied services or materials are monitored
regularly, and timely measures are taken with a view to ensuring end user satisfaction.

Types of services and materials by area
Services and materials are procured according to the needs of individual business areas.

Land transport:
•

international forwarding services (groupage),

•

road and rail transport services in international and local transport,

•

fuel,

•

after-sales services.

Intercontinental transport:
•

airfreight,

•

seafreight,

•

port and airport services.
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Central Purchasing and Real Estate Management Department:
•

construction services (construction, regular and major maintenance),

•

warehouse equipment, transport vehicles, office equipment (procurement, maintenance),

•

material and services related to operating overheads (electricity, water, gas, fuel oil, office supplies, security, cleaning).

Human and General Resources Department:
•

search for, selection and recruitment of personnel,

•

organisation and implementation of employee training,

•

preventive employee healthcare.

Information technology:
•

computerisation of integrated logistics solutions,

•

computerisation of financial and controlling functions,

•

business-to-business electronic commerce platform,

•

satellite communications equipment,

•

system tools for server infrastructure and workstations,

•

server and communications infrastructure,

•

local computer equipment.

Objectives for 2011
The principal task of procurement remains the supply of services and materials at best possible
prices and the provision of adequate quality for work processes while maintaining good business
relations with suppliers. Given the severe economic situation, unfavourable economic conditions
and trend towards cost reduction, Intereuropa will continue to strengthen activities aimed at
achieving of the aforementioned objectives.
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Communication with key publics

Intereuropa Group continued to strengthen proactive
communication with all stakeholders. Special attention
was given to financial public relations and relations with
employees and customers. The focus of communication
was on major achievements of the Group and new
developments in operations. The Group also responded to
the current situation and market demands.
Internal and external communication of the Intereuropa Group is the responsibility of its public
relations department, which provides for a harmonised and consistent communication with the
media, employees, customers and investors, and defines the flow and internal control of price
sensitive information.
The Group is committed to close cooperation with stakeholders and proper and up-to-date
communication of information. Communication objectives are closely associated with the
company's business objectives and corporate operating guidelines, while the implementation of
communication strategy is based on the Group’s development strategy. These are the starting
points for preparing regular communication strategies by selecting the target publics and defining
communication objectives for each target public, creating appropriate strategies, defining the
communication mode and tools and planning concrete communication activities.

Communication with the financial public
Intereuropa Group’s efforts are aimed at providing regular, open and accurate communication
with shareholders, analysts, bankers and potential investors. Close cooperation and correct and
timely communication of information to lending banks is of key importance and contributed to the
conclusion of the contract for long-term syndicated loan with five banks.
In order to maintain and strengthen its relations with investors, the Group continued to meet with
investors, analysts and bankers on a separate basis. By using various communication tools and
activities, the Group strengthened its reputation and visibility in the public. Target publics were
informed effectively of significant events in the Group through Intereuropa’s e-newsletters.
The Group provided for a comprehensive and quality media communication which contributed
to consistent information of the general public as well as the visibility and reputation of the
Intereuropa Group by using a proactive approach. In addition to regular press releases and media
information, the Group participated in various local projects which were also supported by the
media. In this respect, the Group consistently followed the rules on information disclosure to
which we are bound as a public limited company listed on the Ljubljana Stock Exchange.

Communication with employees
Proactive and consistent communication with employees is also essential, especially in the
current economic crisis. Such communication is carried out in person and by way of the monthly
electronic newsletter (InterInformator). The Group organises occasional management visits to its
business units and works’ council meetings in order to disseminate up-to-date information provide
for a mutual dialogue on the burning issues in the company. For additional information please refer
to the chapter Employee Care.

Communication with customers
The Group advocates the importance of communicating and maintaining close relations with
customers through regular and efficient cooperation. These ties are a confirmation of customer
confidence and pave the way for the strengthening cooperation that will also leads to a growth in
business.
In addition to regular contacts, 2010 was marked by regularly participation in and occasional
organisation of expert meetings and events. The Group strives to attend all major trade fairs and
conferences in the logistics area.
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Financially stable
and transparent
operations

The Group provided
for financial stability by
rescheduling the majority of
short-term financial liabilities
into long-term and through
property disinvestment.

Financial
report
of Intereuropa Group and
of the parent company Intereuropa d.d.

Global Logistics Service
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INTRODUCTORY REMARKS TO THE PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
Statement of management’s responsibility
The company’s Management Board is responsible for the preparation of the annual report of the
company Intereuropa d.d. and Intereuropa Group and of the financial statements and their fair
presentation to all stakeholders.
The Management Board hereby declares:
•

that the financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis for both the parent company
and its subsidiaries as well as on accrual basis,

•

that it consistently applies the selected accounting policies and appropriately discloses eventual
changes,

•

that accounting estimates are made in a well considered manner, in accordance with the principle of
prudence and due diligence,

•

that the financial statements so prepared conform to the legislation in force and IFRS.

It is responsibility of the Management Board to carry out measures with a view to maintaining the value
of assets of both the company and the Group and to take measures aimed at preventing fraud and
facilitating identification of fraud and other irregularities.
Within five years from the end of the financial year in question in which the tax needs to be calculated
and paid, the tax authorities may review the company's operations, which may give rise to additional
tax liability, default interest and penalties relating to corporation tax and other tax and levies. The
Management Board is not aware of any facts or circumstances which might affect any major liability of
the company arising thereunder.

Koper, 22 February 2010

Uprava družbe
President of the Management Board
mag. Ernest Gortan

Vice-President of the Management Board
Tatjana Vošinek Pucer
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Introductory remarks to the preparation of financial
statements
Intereuropa Group consists of the parent company Intereuropa d.d. and its subsidiaries; moreover, under
the equity method, the Group also includes the jointly controlled company, Intereuropa d.d. which is,
according to the criteria of the Companies Act, defined as a large company whose securities are traded
on the regulated market, and is, therefore, subject to the audit. As a parent company, it is liable to
prepare consolidated accounts and has its registered office at Vojkovo nabrežje 32, 6000 Koper, Slovenia.
The accounting part of the annual report includes financial statements with notes thereto for the parent
company and financial statements with notes thereto for Intereuropa Group. All financial statements
were drawn up in accordance with International Financing Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the
EU. The auditing company Ernst & Young, revizija, poslovno svetovanje, d.o.o., audited each part of the
annual report separately and delivered two separate auditor's reports.
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FINANCIAL REPORT OF INTEREUROPA GROUP FOR THE
FINANCIAL YEAR 2010
Financial statements of Intereuropa Group with notes
Financial statements represent consolidated financial statements of Intereuropa Group (hereinafter: the
Group) for the period ended 31 December 2010. In accordance with the provisions of Article 54 of the
Companies Act, the Group is obliged to draw up and publish its annual report and therefore also its
annual financial statements for the Group in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(hereinafter: IFRS) since the share of the parent company are listed at the Ljubljana Stock Exchange.
In addition to the parent company Intereuropa d.d., consolidated financial statements also included the
following companies as at 31 December 2010:
Table 1 |
Member companies of Intereuropa Group as at 31 December 2010
Country of
registered office

(in EUR 000)

% ownership as
at 31/12/2010

Total capital of
the company

Corresponding
net profit/loss
1/1-31/12/2010

Direct subsidiaries of the parent company Intereuropa d.d.				
Intereuropa Transport, d.o.o., Koper

Slovenia

100.00

2,151

-1,749

Interagent, d.o.o., Koper

Slovenia

100.00

845

84

Interzav, d.o.o., Koper

Slovenia

71.28

113

38

Intereuropa, logističke
usluge, d.o.o., Zagreb

Croatia

99.96

56,241

-944

Intereuropa Sajam, d.o.o., Zagreb
Intereuropa Skopje, DOO Skopje
Intereuropa RTC d.d. Sarajevo
Intereuropa - East Ltd., Moscow
A.D. Intereuropa - logističke
usluge Beograd
Intereuropa S.A.S.,
Saint Pierre de Chandieu
TOV TEK ZTS, Uzhgorod
Intereuropa Transport &
Spedition GmbH, Troisdorf
Intereuropa Kosova L.L.C., Prishtina

Croatia

51.00

1,416

125

Macedonia

99.56

1,711

92

Bosnia and
Herzegovina

95.77

14,237

237

Russia

100.00

-11,365

-32,586

Serbia

73.62

6,664

-70

France

67.60

47

-37

Ukraine

89.93

-241

55

Germany

90.48

122

13

Kosovo

90.00

301

107

Montenegro

69.27

23,078

1,435

TOV Intereuropa - Ukraine, Kiev

Ukraine

100.00

2,159

-413

Intereuropa Global Logistics
Service Albania shpk, Durres

Albania

100.00

46

15

Liquidation

-

49

50.00

232

34

Zetatrans A.D. Podgorica

Indirect subsidiaries of the parent company Intereuropa d.d.
Intereuropa Transport dooel, Skopje

Macedonia

Total controlled company included under equity method:
Total controlled company
Intereuropa-FLG, d.o.o., Ljubljana

Slovenia

As compared with the same period last year, this year saw the elimination of the company Intereuropa
Transport & Spedition GmbH, Lebring from the Group, which was sold in the second half of last year.
Moreover, there were some status changes within the Group: the company Intereuropa IT d.o.o. merged
with the parent company Intereuropa d.d., and in Ukraine, the company TOV DDT, Onokivci, merged with
the company TOV TEK ZTS, Uzhgorod.
A description of the principal activities of individual member companies of Intereuropa Group is provided
in chapter “Profile of Intereuropa Group” of the Business Report.
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Table 2 |
Consolidated profit and loss account of Intereuropa Group for 2010

(in EUR 000)
Notes

2010

2009

Sales revenues

1

190,624

191,117

Other operating income

2

7,351

2,319

Costs of services

3

-119,369

-114,727

Labour costs

4

-41,464

-47,709

Depreciation

5

-14,065

-14,330

Other operating expenses

6

-50,273

-67,310

-27,196

-50,638

Operating profit/loss
Financial income
Financial expenses

7,282

4,720

-19,913

-15,436

Profit/loss from financing activities

7

-12,631

-10,716

Recognised profit/loss from investments under equity method

8

34

47

-39,793

-61,307

0

2,625

Profit/loss from ordinary activities
Profit/loss from discontinued activities
Profits tax (including deferred taxes)

9

Net profit/loss for the accounting period
Net profit / non-controlling portion
Net loss / controlling portion
Basic and adjusted net loss per share (in EUR)

20

600

4,775

-39,193

-53,907

759

286

-39,952

-54,193

-5.07

-6.87

Notes to the financial statements are an integral part of the financial statements and should be read in
conjunction therewith.
Table 3 |
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income of Intereuropa Group for 2010
Notes
Net profit/loss for the accounting period
Other comprehensive income
Changes in the fair value of land

10

Transfer of surplus from revaluation of land to
retained profit (in the sale of land)

(in EUR 000)
2010

2009

-39,193

-53,907

-777

74,166

-1,884

96,753

-4,971

0

Deferred taxes in surplus from revaluation of land

24

1,398

-18,474

Change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets

16

-18

328

Deferred taxes in surplus from revaluation of
available-for-sale financial assets

24

6

255

12

0

0

-1,576

4,971

0

-935

0

Current tax from retained profit

-3

0

Other changes in retained profit

9

0

Other changes in surplus from revaluation of financial investments
Transfer of surplus from revaluation of available-for-sale
financial assets to revenues (in sale of financial investments)
Retained profit from revaluation of land (in sale of land)
Deferred tax from retained profit

Exchange translation differences
Total comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income - non-controlling portion
Total comprehensive income - controlling portion

24

20

638

-3,120

-39,970

20,259

368

1,555

-40,338

18,704

Notes to the financial statements are an integral part of the financial statements and should be read in
conjunction therewith.
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Table 4 |
Consolidated statement of financial position of Intereuropa Group as at 31 December 2010

(in EUR 000)

Notes

31/12/ 2010

31/12/2009

Tangible fixed assets

10

322,865

377,910

Investment property

11

6,789

7,025

Intangible fixed assets

12

8,851

9,491

Other long-term operating assets

13

643

517

Deferred tax assets

24

8,756

7,845

Loans and deposits given

14

84

80

Investments in the jointly controlled company

15

135

148

Other financial investments

16

ASSETS

3,678

3,805

351,801

406,821

17

3,424

10,180

269

203

14

1,347

2,764

0

5

18

56,303

63,080

68

899

19

12,216

5,318

TOTAL LONG-TERM ASSETS
Assets held for sale
Inventories
Loans and deposits given
Other financial investments
Short-term operating receivables
Short-term receivables for income tax purposes
Cash assets
TOTAL SHORT-TERM ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS

73,627

82,449

425,428

489,270

137,921

178,705

32,976

32,976

CAPITAL
Capital - controlling portion
Initial capital
Own shares

-180

-180

Reserves

66,989

113,900

Retained profits

38,136

32,009

Capital - non-controlling portion

10,242

10,098

148,163

188,803

TOTAL CAPITAL

20

LIABILITIES
Provisions

21

3,084

3,804

Long-term loans received and finance leases

22

171,893

107,009

Other long-term financial liabilities

23

3,872

2,206

Long-term operating liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

24

TOTAL LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

136

288

17,521

18,834

196,506

132,141

Short-term loans receiveda and finance leases

22

28,952

115,481

Other short-term financial liabilities

23

2,146

465

Short-term oprating liabilities

25

49,298

52,325

363

55

Short-term profit tax liabilities
TOTAL SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES

80,759

168,326

TOTAL LIABILITIES

277,265

300,467

TOTAL CAPITAL AND LIABILITIES

425,428

489,270

Notes to the financial statements are an integral part of the financial statements and should be read in
conjunction therewith.
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Table 5 |
Consolidated cash flow statement of Intereuropa Group for 2010

(in EUR 000)
Note

2010

2009

-39,193

-53,907

Cash flows from operating activities
Net profit/loss for the accounting period
Adjustments for:
•

depreciation

14,065

14,330

•

impairment and writedowns of tangible fixed assets

34,519

50,777

•

profit from disposal of tangible fixed
assets and investment property

-5,220

-1,183

•

elimination of badwill

0

618

•

loss from disposal of tangible fixed assets

165

49

•

non-cash expenses

461

704

•

non-cash income

•

financial income

•

impaired receivables paid

•

recognised profit/loss of the jointly controlled
company under equity method

•

financial expenses

•

net cash flow from operating activity of discontinued operations

•

profits tax

-224

0

-7,281

-4,720

1,516

965

-34

-47

19,913

15,436

0

-2,634

-600

-4,775

18,087

15,613

Change in receivables

3,735

4,730

Change in inventories

-66

67

6,165

-1,776

-958

-336

Operating profit before changes in net current assets and taxes
Changes in net current assets and provisions

Change in operating liabilities
Change in provisions
Profits tax paid
Cash flows from operating activities

-13

-528

26,950

17,770

987

1,803

58

171

20,539

3,007

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received
Dividends and shares in profit received
Cash receipts from disposal of tangible fixed
assets and investment property
Cash receipts from disposal of intangible fixed assets
Adjustment for net cash flow from discontinued operations
Cash receipts from long-term loans given

480

0

0

-227

0

96

1,460

0

273

2,914

-9,776

-19,669

-928

-1,197

0

-58

-24

-33

Expenses for increase of short-term loans and deposits given

0

-1,503

Expenses for acquisition of other financial investments

0

-6

13,069

-14,702

Cash receipts from decrease in short-term loans and deposits
Cash receipts from disposal of other financial assets
Expenses for acquisition of tangible fixed
assets and investment property
Expenses for acquisition of intangible fixed assets
Expenses for purchase and capital increase of subsidiaries
Expenses for long-term loans and deposits given

Cash flows from investing activities
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Note

2010

2009

1,201

75,704

Cash flows from financing activities
Cash receipts from obtained long-term loans
Cash receipts from derivative financial instruments

0

191

Interest paid

-10,533

-10,656

Expenses for repayment of long-term loans

-18,475

-69,534

-4,301

-3,745

Expenses for the settlement of derivative financial instruments

-447

-735

Dividends paid

-559

-762

-33,114

-9,537

5,318

8,508

-7

418

6,898

-6,051

0

2,861

12,216

5,318

Expenses for reducing short-term loans

Cash assets from financing activities
Opening balance of cash and cash equivalents
Exchange differences from cashflows
Cash flow from ordinary activities
Cash flow from discontinued operating activities
Closing balance of cash and cash equivalents

19

Notes to the financial statements are an integral part of the financial statements and should be read in
conjunction therewith.
Table 6 |
Consolidated statement of changes in equity of Intereuropa Group for 2010

(in EUR 000)

Reserves
Initial
capital

Own
shares

Capital
reserves

Reserves

Translation
reserves

Fair
value
reserves

Retained
profits

Capital controlling
portion

Capital - noncontrolling
portion

Total
capital

32,976

-180

36,040

12,687

-11,680

76,853

32,009

178,705

10,098

188,803

Total
comprehensive
income

0

0

0

0

1,044

-5,475

-35,907

-40,338

368

-39,970

Ne profit/loss for
the financial year

0

0

0

0

0

0

-39,952

-39,952

759

-39,193

Other
comprehensive
income

0

0

0

0

1,044

-5,475

4,045

-386

-391

-777

Payment of
dividends and
shares in profit

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

-606

-606

Change in
non-controlling
portion on
acquisition of
the subsidiary

0

0

0

0

0

0

-446

-446

382

-64

Transfer of
retained net profit
to reserves

0

0

0

83

0

0

-83

0

Offset of the
net loss for the
financial year

0

0

-36,040

-6,523

0

0

42,563

0

0

0

32,976

-180

0

6,247

-10,636

71,378

38,136

137,921

10,242

148,163

Notes

Opening
balance
1/1/2010

Transactions
with owners

Closing balance
31/12/2010

20

0

Notes to the financial statements are an integral part of the financial statements and should be read in
conjunction therewith.
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Table 7 |
Consolidated statement of changes in equity of Intereuropa Group for 2009

(in EUR 000)

Reserves

Retained
profits

Capital controlling
portion

Capital - noncontrolling
portion

Total
capital

827

72,885

160,010

9,350

169,360

-3,129

76,026

-54,193

18,704

1,555

20,259

0

0

0

-54,193

-54,193

286

-53,907

0

0

-3,129

76,026

0

72,897

1,269

74,166

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

-665

-665

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

-116

-116

Transfer of
retained net
profit to reserves

0

0

0

38

0

0

-38

0

0

0

Offset of net
loss for the
financial year

0

0

-13,363

0

0

0

13,363

0

0

0

Other changes

0

0

0

0

0

0

-8

-8

-26

-34

32,976

-180

36,040

12,687

-11,680

76,853

32,009

178,705

10,098

188,803

Initial
capital

Own
shares

32,976

Total
comprehensive
income

Capital
reserves

Reserves

Translation
reserves

Fair
value
reserves

-180

49,403

12,649

-8,550

0

0

0

0

Net profit/
loss for the
financial year

0

0

0

Other
comprehensive
income

0

0

Payment of
dividends and
shares in profit

0

Acquisition of
non-controlling
share

Notes

Opening
balance
1/1/2009

Transactions
with owners

Closing
balance
31/12/2009

20

Notes to the financial statements are an integral part of the financial statements and should be read in
conjunction therewith.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
The company Intereuropa d.d. (hereinafter: the company) is a company established in Slovenia. The
company’s registered office is at Vojkovo nabrežje 32, 6000, Koper. The Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 include the company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter:
the Group) and their holding in the jointly controlled company. Intereuropa Group provides integrated
logistics services in the area of land, seafreight and air transport and performs all terminal, customs and
logistics services that are necessary for a smooth flow of goods from manufacturer to buyer.

I. Basis for preparation

Declaration of conformity
The consolidated financial statements were prepared in compliance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU and the notes adopted by the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC).
Since the shares of the parent company are admitted to the first stock exchange listing, the Group is
obliged to prepare financial statements for the Group in compliance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) adopted by the EU (Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002).
As at the balance sheet date, there were not differences regarding Intereuropa Group’s accounting
policies between the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) employed and EU-adopted
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) in respect of the process of approval of accounting
standards in the EU.
The financial statements were approved by the company’s Management Board on 22 February 2011.
			

Basis for measuring
The consolidated financial statements were prepared by taking into account the original cost, except in
the following cases in which the fair value was used instead:
•

financial instruments at fair value to profit/loss (derivative financial instruments),

•

available-for-sale financial assets,

•

land.

Measuring methods employed are described in Point IV.

Functional and presentation currency
The following consolidated financial statements are prepared in euros (EUR). i.e. in the Group’s reporting
currency. All accounting information expressed in EUR is rounded off to one thousand units. As a result,
a +1 or -1 variance is possible in the disclosure tables.

Estimates and assessments employed
In the preparation of financial statements, the management is obliged to present its estimates,
assessments and assumptions that influence the use of financial policies and the shown values of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The actual results may deviate from such estimates and assessments.
The information on major estimates of uncertainties and critical assessments which the management
prepared in the process of implementing accounting policies and which have the strongest impact on the
amounts shown in the financial statements includes the following:
•

the value of doubtful loans,

•

replacement value which is used in the comparison with the book value in asset impairment test,

•

useful life of depreciable assets,

•

residual value of tangible fixed assets,

•

fair value valuation of financial instruments,

•

creation of deferred receivables and deferred tax liabilities,

•

creation of provisions,

•

assessment of the value of land which is valued at fair value (in cases where their value decreased,
the Group recognised impairments).

100

Financial report of Intereuropa Group for the financial year 2010

II. Changes in accounting policies
As from 1 January 2010, the Group has used the following changes in accounting policies:
•

shares without controlling have been measured according to the proportion of non-controlling part
of identifiable net assets of the acquired company. As a result, goodwill is calculated in proportion to
the controlling share of the owner (i.e. under the partial goodwill method),

•

changes in the share of equity held by the parent company in its subsidiary which do not result in a
loss of control are recognised directly in the capital (retained profit).

These changes had no impact on the financial statements since there were no such accounting events
in 2010.

III. Major accounting policies
The Group consistently used the same accounting policies from one period to another, which are
shown in the financial statements. Any changes were appropriately disclosed in case of changes in
accounting policies.

(a) Basis for consolidation

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are companies controlled by the parent company. A controlling relationship exists as long
as the Group has the possibility to decide on the company’s financial and operational policies in order to
avail itself of the benefits of their implementation. Assessment of this relationship takes into consideration
the existence and effect of potential voting rights that can be exercised or exchanged at a particular
moment. Financial statements of the subsidiaries are included in the consolidated accounts from the
date of the beginning of the controlling relationship until the date when it ceases.

Business combinations under joint management
Business combinations under joint management (these are business combinations in which all
companies that join together are ultimately managed by a single party or parties both before and after
the creation of a business combination, and this kind of management is not provisional) are recognised
under the integration method.
Assumed assets and liabilities are recognised at book value which was already shown in consolidated
accounts of the parent company.

Jointly controlled company
A jointly controlled company is a company whose all economic activities are jointly controlled by the
Group and are a result of a contractual agreement that is subject to unanimous financial and business
decisions. Its activities are shown under the equity method. Consolidated financial statements include
the Group's participation in profits and losses of the jointly controlled company calculated according to
equity method following the harmonisation of accounting policies from the date of the beginning of the
controlling relationship to the date when it ceases.

Transactions exempt from consolidation
Balances, unrealised profits and losses arising from intra-group transactions are exempt from
consolidation. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as profits, provided that there is no proof
of impairment.
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(b) Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions carried out in a foreign currency are converted into an appropriate functional currency within
the Group at the rate of exchange valid on the transaction date. Cash assets and liabilities expressed
in a foreign currency at the end of the reporting period are converted into the functional currency at the
then current rate of exchange. Non-cash assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency and
measured at fair value are converted into the functional currency at the rate of exchange valid on fair
value date. The rate of exchange applied is the ECB rate.
Exchange rate differences occurring from the settlement of cash items or conversion of cash items at
the rates other than those recorded for the accounting period following initial recognition of such items
or shown in previous financial statements are recognised in the operating profit or loss (as income or
expenses) for the period in which they occur.

Financial statements of foreign subsidiaries
In the conversion of financial statement data of foreign subsidiaries, whose functional currency differs
from the reporting currency (EUR), assets and liabilities and items shown in other comprehensive
income, are, for the purpose of inclusion into consolidated financial statements, converted into the
reporting currency of the consolidated financial statements at the rate of exchange as of the date as
at the reporting date, and income and expenses shown in the profit and loss account are converted at
the average rate of exchange for the period under review. Exchange rate differences occurring from the
conversion are recognised in other comprehensive income (translation reserve) until the disposal of a
subsidiary when exchange rate differences are transferred to the profit and loss account.
Table 8 |
Relevant rates of exchange

(in EUR 000)
2010
Country

2009

Functional
currency

Closing rate
in EUR*

Average rate
in EUR*

Closing rate
in EUR*

Average rate
in EUR*

EUR

-

-

-

44.3

Austria, France, Germany, Montenegro, Kosovo
Russia

RUB

40.8

40.2

43.2

Croatia

HRK

7.4

7.3

7.3

7.3

Macedonia

MKD

61.0

61.5

62.1

61.6

Bosnia and Herzegovina

BAM

2.0

2.0

2.0

2.0

Serbia

RSD

107.5

102.8

95.0

93.8

Ukraine

UAH

10.4

10.6

12.0

11.2

Albania

ALL

138.8

138.0

138.9

131.5

* - ECB reference rate taken into consideration

(c) Financial instruments
Financial instruments include investments in equity and debt securities, operating and other receivables,
cash and cash equivalents, loans received and given, and operating and other liabilities.

Non-derivative financial instruments (assets)
They are initially recognised at fair value. Normal acquisitions and disposals of financial assets are
recognised on the trading date, i.e. on the date when the company undertakes to buy or sell an asset.
Profit or loss from disposal of financial assets is also recognised on the same date. Measurement
following the initial recognition is described below.
Calculation of financial income and expenses is shown in the section relating to financial income
and expenses.
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Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are balances with banks and other financial institutions, cash in hand and
readily realisable securities.

Available-for-sale financial assets
After initial recognition, they are measured at fair value (including the costs of purchase that are directly
associated with the purchase. Changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income
(equity). After the investment is derecognised, the accumulated profits or losses shown in other
comprehensive income for the period are transferred to the profit and loss account.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. Loans are investments in financial liabilities of other companies, the
state of other issuers. Receivables represent the rights to request a particular person to repay its debt,
pay for the supply of goods or services and are based on financial and other relationships. They are
measured according to the amortised cost method by using the current rate of exchange. Profit or loss is
recognised in the profit and loss account in case of elimination of its recognition or in the case
of impairment.

Non-derivative financial liabilities
The Group initially recognises financial liabilities when they occur. Financial liabilities are initially
recognised on the trading date, when the Group becomes a contracting party in relation to a particular
instrument. The Group derecognises financial liabilities when the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or they expire.
After initial recognition, non-derivative financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost according to the
effective interest method.

Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments for which there is no security relationship between the risk hedging
instrument, the item hedged against risk and derivative financial instruments for hedging against risk
for which no effectiveness of hedging is defined are categorised as financial assets or financial liabilities
at the fair value to operating profit/loss ratio. Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at
fair value. The costs associated with transactions are recognised in the profit or loss when they occur.
After initial recognition, derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value. The profit or loss
arising from the measurement of their value (as a change in fair value) is recognised in the profit or loss
account. The fair value of these instruments in determined on the basis of valuation of the issuer of such
instruments on the balance sheet date and represents the current offered value of this transaction.

Capital
Initial capital
Ordinary shares are shown as capital. Additional costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares
are shown as a reduction of capital.

Redemption of own shares or holdings
On redemption of own shares or holdings, which is shown as a part of initial capital, the amount of paid
compensation, including cost directly attributable to redemption, is recognised as a change in capital.
Redeemed shares or holdings are shown as own shares and are deducted from capital.

Dividends
Dividends are recognised as liabilities and are shown when they accrue. They are recognised in the
Group’s financial statements in the period of the resolution of the general meeting of shareholders to
pay dividends.

Financial report of Intereuropa Group for the financial year 2010 103

(d) Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed asses are shown at cost, less depreciation and accumulated losses due to impairment.
Acquisition cost thus includes amounts which are directly attributable to the acquisition of assets as
well as capitalised borrowing costs. Parts of tangible fixed assets with different useful lives are shown
as individual tangible fixed assets. After initial recognition of tangible fixed assets, the acquisition cost
model is applied to buildings and equipment and the revaluation model to land. Land is measured
according to revaluation model; the revaluation amount represents the fair value on revaluation date,
less subsequently accrued losses due to impairment. The Group identifies the need for revaluation on an
annual basis. Land is revalued every five years or more often if there are signs of impairment.
If the book value of land increases due to impairment, the increase is recognised directly in the capital as
a revaluation surplus in the statement of comprehensive income. If the book value of land decreases as a
result of revaluation, the revaluation surplus for the same piece of land is reduced. If the decrease in book
value exceeds the accumulated revaluation surplus for the same asset, the difference in such reduction is
transferred to the profit and loss as expenses. The revaluation surplus for land, which is an integral part
of comprehensive income, is transferred directly to retained net profits following derecognition.

Borrowing costs
In the case of assets under preparation, the Group attributes the costs of borrowing directly to
acquisition, construction or manufacturing of the asset in preparation as a part of the acquisition cost of
such asset. The costs of borrowing include interest income and exchange rate differences arising from
foreign-currency denominated loans if they are to be accounted for as a translation of costs into interest.
Other costs of borrowing are recognised in the profit and loss account as expenses for the period in
which they occur.

Subsequent costs
The costs of replacement of a tangible fixed asset are recognised in the book value of such asset when
there is a possibility that the Group will be able to avail itself of the future economic benefits associated
with the operation of such asset and when the asset's acquisition costs can be measured with certainty.
All other costs will be recognised in the profit or loss as expenses on accrual.

Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated according to the straight line depreciation method by taking into account the
useful life of individual (component) parts of tangible fixed assets. This method reflects more accurately the
expected model of application of assets. Leased assets are depreciated by taking into account the lease
period and useful life. The estimated useful lives for the current and comparable periods are the following:
•

buildings

20 - 40 years

•

computer equipment

•

other plant and equipment 4 - 10 years

2 - 4 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and other values are re-examined on the reporting date and adjusted
as necessary.
			

(e) Intangible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets comprise long-term deferred development costs, investments in the acquired
industrial property rights (concessions, patents, licences, trademarks, etc.) as well as other rights and
goodwill of the acquired company. The depreciation period and depreciation method for intangible fixed
assets with ultimate useful life are verified at least at the end of each financial year. Intangible fixed assets
are shown after initial recognition according to the acquisition cost method, i.e. at cost less depreciation
adjustment and accumulated losses arising from impairment. Depreciation of intangible fixed assets with
ultimate useful life is calculated according to the straight line depreciation method during the estimated
useful life of intangible fixed assets.
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Goodwill
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and joint undertakings. The excess acquisition cost of
the merger beyond the fair value of the acquired identifiable assets and liabilities is recognised as goodwill.
Goodwill is not depreciated. Instead, it is tested annually by the acquiring company for impairment.

Acquisition of non-controlling interests
Acquisition of non-controlling interests is shown as transactions with owners of equity; as a result,
goodwill is not recognised as a consequence of such transaction. Eventual differences are recognised
directly in the capital.

Subsequent measurement
Goodwill is shown at cost, less eventually accumulated losses arising from impairment.

Research and development
In order to determine whether the asset created within the company satisfies the recognition criteria, the
company allocates the development of assets to:
•

the research stage and

•

the development stage.

Research expenditures associated with the acquisition of any new scientific and technical knowledge and
skills are recognised in the profit and loss account as expenses when they occur.
Development activities include the planning and designing the production of new and considerably better
products and processes. The costs of development are recognised if they can be reliably measured, if
the product or process is technically or commercially feasible, if there is a possibility of future economic
benefits, if the group has the necessary resources for the completion of development and if the Group’s
intention is to use or sell the asset. The recognised expenditure includes the costs of services, material
and other costs that can be attributed directly to the commissioning of assets for the intended use,
and capitalised borrowing costs. Other expenditures are recognised in the profit and loss account as
expenses when they occur.
Recognised expenditures for development are shown at cost, less depreciation adjustment and
accumulated losses arising from impairment.

Other intangible fixed assets
Other intangible fixed assets which are acquired by the Group and whose useful lives are restricted are
shown at cost, less depreciation adjustment and accumulated losses arising from impairment.

Subsequent costs
Subsequent expenses associated with intangible fixed assets are capitalised only when they increase
the future economic benefits arising from the assets to which the expenses relate. All other costs will be
recognised in the profit or loss as expenses on accrual.

Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated for the acquisition cost of the asset, i.e. in an amount other than acquisition
cost, less residual value.
Depreciation is recognised in the profit and loss according to the straight line depreciation method
by taking into account the useful life of intangible fixed assets except goodwill and shall begin to be
calculated when the assets are made available for use. This method reflects more accurately the
expected model of taking advantage of the future economic benefits of the assets. The estimated useful
lives for a comparable year are up to three, five and ten years. Depreciation methods, useful lives and
residual values are re-examined at the end of each financial year and adjusted as necessary.
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(f) Investment property
Investment property is held for the purpose of generating or increasing the value of long-term of
investments or both. For this reason, investment property gives rise to cash flows that are strongly
dependent on other assets held by the company. This distinguishes investment property from owner
occupied property which, together with the company’s other assets participates in the manufacture and
supply of goods or the provision of services and the related cash flows.
Investment property is defined as such by assessment. Intereuropa Group considers that parts of
immovable property which is partly given on operating lease and is partly used by Intereuropa d.d. or
individual subsidiaries cannot be sold separately (or given separately on finance lease). For this reason,
this kind of immovable property is considered as fixed assets used in the provision of services. Only
property given on lease in full is recognised as investment property.
After initial recognition, the acquisition cost model is used, according to which investment property is
shown at cost, less depreciation adjustment and eventual losses arising from impairment (the same
model is used for tangible fixed assets).
Investment property is depreciated at the same rates as immovable property within the category of
tangible fixed assets.

(g) Leased assets
The lease in which the Group assumes all major risks and benefits associated with asset ownership is
treated as finance lease. After initial recognition, leased assets are shown in the amount which equals fair
value or, if the latter is lower, the present value of the lowest lease amount. After initial recognition, assets
on finance lease are depreciated in the same way as other tangible fixed assets.
Other leases are treated as operating leases.

(h) Inventories
Stocks of materials are valued at cost, i.e. the cost consisting of the acquisition price, import duties and
direct acquisition costs. The purchase price is reduced by obtained discounts. Expenses for material are
shown according to the method of weighted average prices.

(i) Impairment of assets

Financial assets
Financial assets which are not shown in terms of fair value to profit/loss are considered to be impaired
when there is objective evidence that one or several events caused a reduction of the anticipated cash
flows under these assets and that they can be reliably measured.
Trade receivables (receivables for supplied services, default interest, etc.) are impaired by making
a 100 per cent value adjustment for all receivables older than 180 days from the maturity date of
individual receivables or by assessing the marketability of individual receivables. In the impairment
of receivables in lawsuits, enforcements, bankruptcy and compulsory settlement proceedings, the
assessment of recoverability (assessment of anticipated cash flows) is taken into account in respect of
the receivable category.
Receivables are written down on the basis of the completed bankruptcy proceedings, approved
compulsory settlements, unsuccessful execution proceedings and established irrecoverability of claims.

Impairment of loans given
When there is objective evidence that a loss occurred due to impairment of loans shown at amortised
cost, the loss amount is measured as a difference between the book value of assets and the present
value of anticipated cash flows discounted at the current original rate of interest. Impairment is also
made on the basis of the management’s assessment of irrecoverability of individual loans.
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Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are impaired when the market price either declines for more than one
year or when the decline exceeds 20 per cent of the assets’ acquisition cost. Losses of investment
securities available for sale are recognised for impairment purposes by transferring accumulated
losses, which are recognised in other comprehensive income for the accounting period and shown in
revaluation surplus, to the profit and loss account. The amount of accumulated losses which is removed
from other comprehensive income and recognised in the profit/loss, represents the difference between
the acquisition cost and the current present value, less the loss arising from impairment, which was
previously recognised in the profit/loss. Since fair value could not be reliably determined for individual
financial assets, they are shown at cost.
When there is objective evidence that a loss occurred due to impairment of financial assets shown at
amortised cost, impairment is made when the book value of financial assets on the cut-off date exceeds
the value of the proportional part of the book value of the total capital of the company in which the
company has its investments by more than 20 per cent. The impairment date is the closest date for
which this information can be obtained.

Non-financial assets
On each reporting date, the Group examines the residual book value of non-financial assets of the
Group, except deferred tax claims, in order to determine whether there are any signs of impairment. If
such signs do exist, the assets’ replacement value is determined. Assessment of impairment of goodwill
and intangible fixed assets with unspecified useful life, which are not yet available for use, is made on
each reporting date.
Replacement value of assets or cash generating unit represents their value in use or their fair value less
selling costs, i.e. the greater of such amount. In determining the value of assets in use, the anticipated
cash flows are discounted to their present value at a discount rate before taxation, which reflects the
current market estimates of the time value of the money and risks that are typical of such assets.
For impairment test purposes, assets that cannot be tested individually are classified into the lowest
category of assets which generate cash flows from subsequent use and are mainly independent from
receipts of other assets or asset groups (cash-generating unit). In order to test the impairment of
goodwill, the cash-generating units, to which goodwill is allocated, are merged so that the level of testing
the impairment reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes.
Goodwill acquired through merger is allocated to cash-generating units or a group of such units that are
expected to benefit from synergic effects of the merger.
Joint assets of the Group do not generate separate cash flows. When there is a sign of impairment of joint
assets, replacement value is determined for those cash-generating units to which joint assets are allocated.
Impairment of assets of cash-generating units is recognised when their book value exceeds their
replacement value. Impairment is shown in the profit and loss account. The losses recognised to a cashgenerating unit due to impairment is allocated by first reducing the book value of goodwill allocated to a
cash-generating unit and to other assets of the unit (unit group) in proportion to the book value of each
asset in the group.
Losses arising from goodwill impairment are not derecognised. In other assets, the Group evaluates
losses arising from impairment during the past periods at the end of the reporting period in order
to determine whether the losses have been reduced or if they still exist at all. Losses arising from
impairment are derecognised in case of a change in prices on the basis of which the Group determines
the replacement value of assets. Losses arising from impairment of assets are derecognised for
the amount by which the higher book value of assets remains below their book value that would be
determined after deduction of depreciation writedown if losses arising from impairment had not been
recognised for the assets in the previous years.

(k) Long-term assets classified as available-for-sale assets
Long-term assets or group for disposal, which include assets and liabilities (in the category of long-term
assets, this refers to investment property, intangible fixed assets, long-term financial investments, and
in the category of tangible fixed assets only to land and buildings due to their importance) for which it
is expected that their value will be offset particularly by way of disposal and not subsequent use, are
classified as available-for-sale assets whose sale is anticipated to take place no later than within the next
twelve months. There is a high likelihood that they will be sold during the ongoing overall plan and active
programme of finding a customer. It must be accompanied by active marketing of assets and efforts
to achieve a price that corresponds to the current fair value of assets. Assets (or component parts or
groups for disposal) are subjected to a new measurement in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policies immediately before assets are classified as available-for-sale assets. Long-term assets (or
groups for disposal) are recognised accordingly at their book or fair values, less the costs of sale, i.e. the
lower of their amount.
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Due to specific events and circumstances that are beyond the company’s control, and there is sufficient
evidence that the company consistently implements its plan of disposal of assets, the period of
termination of the sale can be extended beyond one year.
When available-for-sale assets no longer comply with the criteria for classification as available-forsale assets, they should be reclassified into another asset group, i.e. into the same group as before
classification as available-for-sale assets.

(l) Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits
Liabilities for short-term employee benefits are measured without discounting and are shown as
expenses after the work of employees associated with a particular short-term benefit is completed.

(m) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has legal or indirect liabilities arising from a past event and
such liabilities can be assessed with certainty and there is a high degree of probability that the settlement
of such liabilities will require elimination of factors that generate economic benefits. Amounts shown
as provisions represent the best possible assessment of expenses necessary to meet the existing
obligations on the date of the statement of financial position. The best possible assessment of provisions
requires risks and uncertainties that inevitably accompany the numerous events and circumstances.
Where the effect of the time value of money is essential, the amount of provisions is the present value of
expenses anticipated as necessary to settle the liability.

Provisions for termination benefits on retirement and longservice bonuses
•

The Group companies are bound to pay long service bonuses and termination benefits to employees
on their retirement in accordance with legislation, the collective agreement and internal rules of the
companies. For this purpose, they create long-term provisions. There are no other pension-related
liabilities. Provisions are created in the amount of the estimated future payments for termination and
long service bonuses, discounted at actuarial calculation date. Actuarial calculation is made in the
event of a significant change in the assumptions used by actuary in his latest calculation or in the
number of employees or every five years. In the mean time, provisions are reversed in the amount of
the actually incurred costs.

Provisions are recognised by including appropriate costs or expenses. They are directly reduced by
the amount of costs of expenses for the offset of which they were created. It means that such costs
or expenses no longer appear in the profit and loss account during the financial year. Provisions are
derecognised when the possibilities for which they were created no longer exist or such provisions are
no longer necessary. Income is recognised on the basis of derecognition of provisions. At the end of
the accounting period, provisions are adjusted so that their value equals the present value of expenses
which are anticipated as necessary to settle the liability.

(n) The Group’s long-term deferred income
The Group’s long-term deferred income includes donations received for acquisition of fixed assets and
meeting certain expenses. They are intended for covering the costs of depreciation of these assets and
certain expenses and are used by transfer to operating income.

(o) Income
Income is recognised when there is a probability that the company will avail itself of economic benefits
that can be reliably measured. In this case, the following criteria should be satisfied:
1. It should be possible to measure the income amount with certainty,
2. Probability that the company will be able to avail itself of economic benefits associated with
the transaction,
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3. The level of completeness of the transaction on the date of the statement of financial position should
be reliably measured,
4. The costs arising in respect of the transaction and costs of completion of the transaction should be
reliably measured.

Income from services rendered
Income from services rendered is recognised in the profit and loss account in respect of the
completeness level of the transaction at the end of the reporting period. The completeness level is
determined by examining the costs incurred (inspection of the work done).
Income from services rendered is measured in terms of selling prices of services rendered which are
indicated in invoices or other documents or in terms of prices of incomplete services depending on the
completeness level. It is estimated that, in the cases where a particular transaction is not yet completed
on the date of the statement of financial position, the outcome of the transaction cannot be reliably
estimated. For this reason, income is recognised only to the extent of the incurred direct costs for which
it is expected that they can be settled.
Amounts collected on behalf of persons such as the charged value added tax and other levies (e.g.
customs duties) are not included in sales revenues.
At the moment of sale, revenues from sales are reduced by discounts granted which are shown in
invoices or other documents, followed by the sales value of returned goods sold and subsequently
granted discounts.

State assistance
State assistance received to cover expenses is recognised with strict consistency as revenues in the
period in which the expenses concerned occur. State assistance associated with assets is recognised
in the profit and loss account with strict consistency as other operating income during the useful life of
individual assets.

(p) Leases given
Operating lease payments are recognised in equal shares during the lease term.

Leases received
The minimum lease amount is shown in financial expenses and reduction of outstanding debt. Financial
expenses are allocated to the periods during the lease term in order to achieve a fixed rate of interest for
the remaining portion of the debt for each period.

(q) Financial income and financial expenses
Financial income comprises interest income, investment income, dividend income, and income from
disposal of available-for-sale financial assets, changes in the fair value of fair value financial assets to
the operating profit/loss, foreign exchange gains and gains from risk hedging instruments, which are
recognised in the profit and loss account. Interest income is recognised on accrual basis by using the
effective interest rate method. Dividend income is recognised in the profit and loss account on the date
of exercise of shareholder's right to payment, which is, in exchange-listed companies, normally the date
when the right to current dividend payment ceases to be associated with shares.
Financial expenses comprise the costs of borrowing, foreign exchange losses, and changes in the fair
value of fair value financial assets to operating profit/loss, loss arising from impairment of financial assets
and loss on risk hedging instruments, which are recognised in the profit and loss account. The costs of
borrowing are recognised in the profit and loss account according to the effective interest method.
The costs of borrowing include interest expenses according to the effective interest rate method,
financial charges for finance leases and exchange rate differences arising from foreign currencydenominated loans when they are treated as a conversion of interest expenses. The costs of borrowing
immediately attributable to acquisition, construction, manufacture of assets under preparation are a part
of the acquisition cost of such assets. Other costs of borrowing are recognised in the profit and loss
account as expenses for the period in which they occur.
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(r) Tax on profit
Tax on profit or loss for the financial year includes the assessed tax and deferred tax. Tax on profit is
shown in the profit and loss account except in the part relating to items that are shown directly and
actually in other comprehensive income.
Assessed tax is calculated in compliance with the current tax legislation as at the date of the statement
of financial position. The financial year is a business year which coincides with the tax year.
Deferred tax is shown by taking into account the temporary differences between the book value of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and amounts for the tax reporting purposes.
The following temporary differences are not taken into consideration: goodwill in the case it does not
represent an income recognised for tax purposes, initial recognition of assets and liabilities which affects
neither the accounting nor the taxable profit, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries
and jointly controlled subsidiaries in the amount for which there is a high probability that it will not be
eliminated in the foreseeable future. Moreover, deferred tax is not recognised for the purpose of taxable
temporary differences occurring on the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred tax is shown in the amount in which it is expected to be paid on reversal of temporary
differences pursuant to the legislation in force at the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax liability is recognised to the extent of likelihood of availability of future taxable profit against
which the deferred liability can be charged in future. Deferred tax liabilities are reduced by the amount for
which claiming a tax relief associated with assets will no longer be likely.

(s) Discontinued operations
Discontinued operations are an integral part of a Group company, which is disposed of or classified
into available-for-sale assets and which represents a major independent programme in the field or
area of business, or which is a subsidiary acquired solely for the purpose of resale. Classification into
discontinued operations is carried out on disposal or when the conditions are met for classification into
available-for-sale assets, whichever comes first.

(t) Net profit/loss per share
The Group discloses the basic and adjusted yield on shares for its ordinary shares. The basic yield on
shares is calculated by dividing the profit or loss pertaining to ordinary shareholders by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in the financial year. Adjusted yield on shares is calculated by
adjusting the profit or loss pertaining to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in a financial year to gain the effect of all dilutive options of ordinary shares representing
convertible bonds and share options for employees. The Group owns no dilutive potential ordinary shares
and shows the same value for basic and adjusted yields on shares.

(u) Reporting by segments
A segment is an integral part of the group that performs business activities from which it earns an
income and bears costs relating to transactions with other components of the same group. Business
segment results are regularly monitored by the management which uses them in making decisions on
allocation of resources by segments and assesses the performance of the Group's operations. For this
purpose, separate financial data is available.
For the purpose of external users of business information, some segments are merged into a single
segment pursuant to the quantitative thresholds laid down in IFRS 8.
In addition to the merged segment and other segments, the consolidated financial statements should
also include the information for
•

Intereuropa Group and

•

adjustments.

For the annual reporting period, the management examines whether individual segments meets any
of the quantitative thresholds laid down by IFRS 8 and changes the list of business segments which
are included in annual reporting. Information on sales by customer and volume of operations in the
presented geographical areas is monitored by segments.
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(v) New standards and interpretations

Changes in standards and interpretations in 2010
In the current period, the following changes in the existing standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and adopted by the EU:
•

IFRS 1 – Revised – “First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards”, adopted by
the EU on 25 November 2009 (effective for annual periods commencing 1 January 2010 or later).

•

IFRS 3 – Revised – “Business Combinations”, adopted by the EU on 3 June 2009 (effective for annual periods commencing 1 July 2009 or later).
The scope of the standard changed and the concept of business transactions was expanded. The
changed standard also covers many other important changes:
-

all purchase price items transferred by the acquirer are recognised and measured at fair value
on the date of acquisition, including the amount the payment of which depends on future events
(conditional part of payment).

-

subsequent change in the conditional part of payment is recognised in the operating profit/loss,

-

transaction costs, except costs of issuing shares and debt, are treated as expenses on accrual basis.

The acquirer can measure any minority share at fair value on acquisition date (full goodwill) or according to the proportional share of fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired
company on a business-to-business basis.
•

IFRS 1 (amended 2008), “First-time Adoption of IFRS – Additional Exemptions for First-time Adopters”, adopted by the EU on 23 June 2010 (effective for annual periods commencing 1 January 2010
or later).

•

IFRS 2 (amended) “Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions”, adopted by the EU on
23 March 2010 (effective for annual periods commencing 1 January 2010 or later).

•

IAS 27 – Amended – “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements”, adopted by the EU on 3
June 2009 (effective for annual periods commencing 1 July 2009 or later).
The amended standard changes the treatment of non-controlling share, loss of control over the
subsidiary as well as allocation of profit or loss and other total profits between the controlling and
non-controlling share.

•

IAS 39 – Amended – ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” – Eligible Hedged Items,
adopted by the EU on 15 September 2009 (effective for annual periods commencing 1 July 2009
or later).
The amended standard describes in greater detail the application of the existing principles that determine whether special forms of cash flow risk reflect the hedge ratios. In order to reflect the hedge
ratio, the risks or parts should be recognised and measured separately; however, inflation cannot be
determined except in limited circumstances.

•

Changes in various standards and amendments issued in May 2008 (IAS 1, IAS 16, IAS 23, IAS 38,
IFRS 5, IFRS 7, IAS 7; IAS 8;IAS 10, IAS 19, IAS 20, IAS 27, IAS 28, IAS 29; IAS 31, IAS 32, IAS 34,
IAS 36, IAS 39, IAS 40, IAS 41).

•

Changes in various standards and interpretations “Improvements to IFRS (2009)” arising from the
annual project for improvement of IFRS published on 16 April 2009 (IFRS 2, IFRS 5, IFRS 8, IAS 1,
IAS 7, IAS 17, IAS 18, IAS 36, IAS 38, IAS 39, IFRIC 9 in IFRIC 16), particularly for the purpose of
addressing inconsistencies and interpretation of the text, and which were adopted by the EU on 23
March 2010 (effective for annual periods commencing on 1 January of later).

•

Changes in various standards and interpretations »Improvements to IFRS (May 2010) (IFRS 3, IFRS
7, IAS 27, IFRIC 13) – these changes begin to apply after 1 July 2010 or 1 January 2011.

•

IFRIC 12 – “Service Concession Arrangements”, adopted by the EU on 25 March 2009 (effective for
annual periods commencing 1 March 2009 or later).
The interpretation is intended for privately owned companies in connection with recognising and
measuring issues arising in the accounting treatment of concession arrangements for services in the
public-private area.

•

IFRIC 15 – “Arrangements for the Construction of Real Estate”, adopted by the EU on 22 July 2009
(effective for annual periods commencing 1 January 2010 or later).
The interpretation more accurately determines that income arising from real estate construction
contracts is recognised in respect of the level of completeness of the contractual activities in the following cases:
1. the contract complies with the definition of the construction contract according to IAS 11.3,
2. the contract applies only to the performance of services according to IAS 18 (e.g. a company
does not need to supply building materials); and
3. the contract is intended for the sale of goods, and income is recognised promptly during construction according to IAS 18.14.
In all other cases, income is recognised when all conditions of income recognition as provided for by
IAS 18.14 (e.g. after the completed construction or after delivery) are satisfied.
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•

IFRIC 16 – “Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation”, adopted by the EU on 4 June 2009
(effective for annual periods commencing 1 July 2009 or later).
The interpretation defines more accurately the type of risk to be hedged against, which company in
the Group may hold a hedged item; it explains whether the consolidation method impacts the hedging efficiency as well as the forms to be taken by a hedging instrument, including the amounts to be
reallocated to the profit/loss after foreign operations are discontinued.

•

IFRIC 17 – “Distribution of Non-Cash Assets to Owners”, adopted by the EU on 26 November 2009
(effective for annual periods commencing 1 November 2009 or later).
This interpretation applies to unilateral payment of non-cash assets to owners. In accordance with the
interpretation, the obligation to pay dividends is recognised when dividends are duly approved and are
no longer the object of assessment by the company, and is measured at fair value of assets paid out.
The book value of dividends is measured again on the reporting date, and the change in book value
is recognised in capital as adjustment of the amount of payment. Once the liability to pay dividend is
settled, the eventual difference between the book value of assets and the book value of dividends is
recognised in the profit/loss.

•

IFRIC 18 – “Transfers of Assets from Customers”, adopted by the EU on 27 November 2009 (effective for annual periods commencing 1 November 2009 or later).

The adoption of changes in the existing standards did not result in any major changes in accounting
policies, the Group's operation and financial position.

Standards and notes issued by IFRIC and adopted by the EU
but still not valid
As at the date of approval of financial statements, the following standards, adjustments and
interpretations adopted by the EU but are still not valid:
•

IAS 24 – Amended – “Related party disclosures to simplify the disclosure requirements for government-related entities and to clarify the definition of a related party”, adopted by the EU on 19 July
2010 (effective for annual periods commencing 1 January 2011 or later),

•

IAS 32 – Amended – ‘Financial Instruments: Presentation” – Accounting for share-related rights,
adopted by the EU on 23 December 2009 (effective for annual periods commencing 1 January 2011
or later).
In accordance with this amendment, the rights, options and subscription warrants for acquisition
of a certain number of own equity instruments of the company in return for a specified amount in
any currency represent equity instruments when the company offers its existing same-class owners
proportional rights, options or subscription warrants of own non-derivative equity instruments.

•

IFRS 1 (amended 2008), “First-time Adoption of IFRS – Limited exemptions from comparative IFRS
7 disclosures for First-time Adopters “, adopted by the EU on 30 June 2010 (effective for annual
periods commencing 1 July 2010 or later),

•

IFRIC 14 – “IAS 19 – “The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,. Minimum Funding. Requirements and
their Interaction” – Prepayments of a minimum funding requirement adopted by the EU on 19 July
2010 (effective for annual periods commencing 1 January 2011 or later).

•

IFRIC 19 – “Settlement of Financial Liabilities by Equity Instruments”, adopted by the EU on 23 July
2010 (effective for annual periods commencing 1 July 2010 or later).

The adoption of these standards, adjustments and interpretations will have no significant effect on the
Group’s financial statements during the initial period of application.

Standards and interpretations issued by IFRIC but not yet
adopted by the EU
Currently, the IFRIC adopted by the EU are not significantly different from the regulations adopted by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), with the exception of the following standards, changes
in the existing standards and interpretations that were not approved for use as at the date of approval of
financial statements:
•

IFRS 9 – “Financial Instruments” (effective for annual periods commencing 1 January 2013 or later).

•

IAS 7 – Amended – ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures” – Reclassification of financial assets (effective for annual periods commencing 1 July 2011 or later).

•

Changes in various standards and interpretations “Improvements to IFRS (2010)” arising from the
annual project for improvement of IFRS published on 6 May 2010 (IFRS 1, IFRS 3, IFRS 7, IAS 1, IAS
27, IAS 34, IFRIC 13), particularly for the purpose of addressing inconsistencies and interpretation of
the text (the majority of changes should ne used for the annual periods commencing 1 January 2011
or later).
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It is estimated that the introduction of these standards, changes in the existing standards and
interpretations in the period of initial application will have no major impact on the financial statements.
It should also be noted that IFRIC published a number of accounting changes and interpretations;
however, they were not approved by the EU to the date of the preparation of this document and,
therefore, they need not be disclosed in accordance with IAS 8.30. The Group will be obliged to comply
with these standards if they are adopted:
•

IFRC 9 – Financial instruments
This standard replaces IAS 39 and is effective and mandatory or annual periods commencing 1 January 2013. The first part of the standard which has been adopted so far sets new requirements for
classification and measurement of financial assets.

•

IFRC 7 – Amended – Financial Instruments: Disclosure to improve the transparency of disclosures in
transfer of financial assets.
This amendment was published in October 2010. It facilitates understanding of consequences of
financial assets and the possible risks to which the transferor is exposed.

•

IAS 34 – Interim Financial Reporting
It applies to the periods commencing after 1 January 2011. Amendments provide users with instructions for preparation of disclosures in accordance with IFRS 34; new disclosures are also included.

•

IAS 12 – Deferred tax (amended)
The change will become effective for annual periods commencing on or after 1 January 2012. This
amendment relates to the determination of deferred taxation for investment property valued at fair
value. The purpose of this change is to include a) an assumption that deferred taxation for investment property valued at fair value in accordance with IAS 40 should be determined on the basis of
an assumption that the book value of investment property will be restored with the sale, and b) a
requirement to defer taxation for assets which are not depreciated but are valued according to the
revaluation model IAS 16, which is always measured on the basis of the sales value of such assets.

IV. Fair value determination
In accordance with the Group's accounting policies and breakdowns, fair value needs to be determined
in a number of cases for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values of individual
asset groups for measuring and reporting purposes were determined according to the methods shown
below. Wherever additional clarifications are needed in connection with assumptions for determining the
fair values, they are provided in the breakdown of individual assets and liability items of the Group.

Tangible fixed assets
For recognition purposes, land is measured at the revalued amount, which represents the fair value
on revaluation date (the estimated value at which land could be exchanged on the valuation date and
after proper marketing activities in an arm's length transaction between the willing seller and the willing
buyer, on the assumption that the parties to the transaction are well informed and act reasonably and
without coercion.

Intangible fixed assets
The fair value of patents and trademarks acquired through business combinations is based on the
estimated discounted future value of license fees the payment of which will not be necessary due to the
patent or trademark ownership.

Inventories
The fair value of inventories is determined on the basis of their expected selling price in the ordinary course
of business, less estimated costs of completion and sales plus appropriate surcharge commensurate with
the quantity of work done for the completion of the transaction and sale of inventories.

Investments in equity and debt securities
The fair value of fair value financial assets to profit/loss, financial assets held until maturity and availablefor-sale financial assets is determined in respect of the offered purchase price at the end of the
reporting period.
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Operating and other receivables
It is estimated that the presented value of operating receivables reflects their fair value. The value of
other receivables in calculated as the present value of future cash flows discounted at the market rate of
interest at the end of the reporting period.

Derivative financial instruments
The fair value of forward contracts equals their offered market price at the end of the reporting period
if available. If it is not, the fair value is determined as a difference between the contract value of a
forward transaction and the current offered value for the forward transaction by taking into account the
transactions other maturities with a non-risk rate of interest. The fair value of interest rate swap equals its
market price on the reporting date.

Basic financial obligations
Fair value is determined for reporting purposes on the basis of the present value of future payments of
principal and interest discounted at the market rate of interest at the end of the reporting period.

V. Financial risk management
The Group is exposed to the following risks associated with the use of financial instruments:
•

credit risk,

•

liquidity risk,

•

market risk,

•

operational risk.

This chapter deals with the Group and its exposure to individual above listed risks, its objectives, policies
and procedures applied to the measurement and management of risks and management of its capital.
Other quantitative disclosures follow the notes to consolidated financial statements.

Risk management policies
The management is fully responsible for setting up the Group's risk management framework. A risk
management committee was established with the responsibilities for the development and supervision
of implementation of the Group's risk management policies. The risk management committee has the
following responsibilities:
•

to prepare reports on risk management in Intereuropa Group and submit them to the parent company’s Management Board and to the Supervisory Board;

•

to identify individual types of risks to which Intereuropa Group is exposed;

•

to continuously supervise and monitor the key risks;

•

to identify new major risks;

•

to lay down the methodology for measuring the exposure to individual types of risk;

•

to assess the Group’s exposure to individual types of risks;

•

to lay down and implement the policy of management of individual types of risk;

•

to prepare proposals for the implementation of measures of hedging against individual types of risk;

•

to adopt amendments and modification to the risk management rules and appropriate other organisational rules and guidelines associated with risks;

•

to carry out all other risk management tasks and activities in Intereuropa Group.

The Group also adopted its risk management rules. Risk management policies were laid down in order
to define and analyse the risks faced by the Group and these policies served as a basis for setting up
appropriate restrictions and controls and monitoring the risks and compliance with imposed restrictions.

Credit risk
The credit risk means that the Group will suffer a financial loss if a customer or a party to a financial
instrument agreement fail to comply with their contractual obligations. The credit risk arises particularly
from the Group's trade receivables.
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Operating and other receivables
The Group's exposure to credit risk depends particularly on the characteristics of individual customers.
However, the management also takes into account the demographics of the Group's customer base
and the customers' risk of insolvency from the viewpoint of the line of business and country in which
the customers have their operations since these factors can influence the credit risk, particularly in the
current adverse economic circumstances.
The policies are defined so that a creditworthiness analysis is carried out for each new major customer
before it is offered the standard terms of payment and supply. This analysis also includes external
assessments, if any.
The Group makes a value adjustment for impairments which represents the amount of estimated losses
from operating and other receivables and investments. The main components of this value adjustment are
the specific portion of the loss from individual major investments and the general part of the loss where
adjustment is made for groups of similar assets due to the losses already incurred but not yet defined.

Guarantees
The Group’s policy is to grant financial guarantees only to its subsidiaries that are majority owned by the
parent company.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial liabilities which are settled by
cash or other financial assets.
The Group provides liquidity by always having sufficient liquid assets to meet its liabilities in due time,
both in normal and extraordinary circumstances, in order to avoid unacceptable losses and risking the
loss of reputation.
The Group monitors the costs of services by activity, which assists it in monitoring the needs by
cash flows and optimising investment returns. The Group also ensures sufficient financial assets and
lines of credit to cover operating expenses in a particular period, including servicing of its financial
liabilities; however, this dos not include the possible consequences of extraordinary and unforeseeable
circumstances such as natural disasters.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk of change in market prices such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
equity instruments, which could affect the Group's revenues or the value of its financial instruments.
The purpose of market risk management is to manage and control the exposure to market risks within
reasonable limits by optimising, at the same time, the Group's profits.
The Group trades in financial instruments and assumes financial liabilities, both with a view to managing
its exposure to market risks.
Due to a declining trend in variable interest rates, no contracts for interest rate swaps or other derivative
financial instruments were made in the past year in order to hedge against fluctuations or rising variable
rates of interest. The impact of the variable rate of interest EURIBOR on the profit and loss account is
shown in the table Analysis of the influence of interest rate changes on profit before taxation.
Currency risk exposure is particularly high in the Group's companies that operate outside the euro zone.
It is particularly the risk of change in the rate of exchange for the Russian ruble, Serbian dinar, Croatian
kuna and Ukrainian grivna. In the filed of operating cash flows, these companies employ natural hedging
mechanisms against the risk of change in the rate of exchange for the national currency, which means
that they reconcile their cash inflows and outflows by currency, both in time and size, and do not enter
into foreign exchange futures contracts.
However, foreign exchange positions statement of financial position of companies whose loans are
denominated in euros remain open. There is a high probability that a change in the rate of exchange for
the national currency will have a considerable influence on the operations of these companies. One of
the most risk-exposed companies is the subsidiary in Russia.
Currency risk exposure in the Group companies which operate in euro-zone countries is low since cash
flow in these companies is almost entirely realised in euros.
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Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss resulting from a wide range of reasons associated
with ongoing processes within the Group, its staff, technology and infrastructure as well as from external
factors unrelated to the credit, market and liquidity risks, such as, among other things, the risks arising
from legal and regulatory requirements and the generally accepted corporation standards. Operational
risks arise from the Group's overall operations. The Group's objective is to manage its operational risks
by setting up a balance between the avoidance of financial losses and of the potential damage to the
Group's reputation and the overall cost effectiveness as well as by avoiding control procedures that
inhibit or restrict self-initiative and creativity. The key responsibility for the development and institution of
controls for operational risk management rests with the senior management of each business unit.
The Group's compliance with standards is supported by a programme of regular reviews carried out by
the internal audit service. Internal audit results are discussed with the management of the business unit
concerned and summary results are submitted to the Group's management and to the audit committee.

Management of capital
The Supervisory Board monitors all major return on equity indicators of the Group as well as the amount
of dividends paid to ordinary shareholders.
The parent company and its subsidiaries are not subject to capital requirements set by external bodies.

VI. Cash flow statement
The Group's cash flow statement shows the movement of cash inflows and outflows by taking into
account the indirect method for the accounting period and clarifies the changes in cash balances.
The data from the consolidated profit and loss account for 2010, items of consolidated statements
of financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009, and additional
necessary data were taken into account in the preparation of the cash flow statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
NOTE 1: Sales revenues
Table 9 |
Sales revenues

(in EUR 000)

Sales revenues

2010

2009

190,624

191,117

The Group’s sales revenues totalled EUR 190,624,000.

NOTE 2: Other operating income
Table 10 |
Other operating income

Profit from disposal of tangible fixed
assets and investment property
Income from reversal of provisions

(in EUR 000)
2010

2009

5,220

1,183

280

324

Other operating income

1,851

813

Total other operating income

7,351

2,319

The higher value of other operating income is mainly due to the disposal of tangible fixed assets and
investment property.

NOTE 3: Costs of services
Table 11 |
Costs of services

Direct costs

(in EUR 000)
2010

2009

97,903

91,276

Costs of telephone

1,330

1,473

Maintenance costs

4,593

5,037

Insurance premiums

1,809

2,016

92

190

Costs of training
Other costs of services

13,643

14,734

Total costs of services

119,369

114,727

Direct costs represent the costs which are directly associated with the provision of services.
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NOTE 4: Labour costs
Table 12 |
Labour costs

(in EUR 000)

Costs of wages and salaries

2010

2009

30,003

33,876

Costs of social insurance

5,927

6,636

Other labour costs:

5,534

7,196

880

1,215

3,143

3,452

•

Vacation allowance

•

Commuting and meal allowance

•

Other labour costs

Labour costs

1,511

2,529

41,464

47,709

The Group achieved lower labour costs of EUR 41,464,000, particularly due to a lower number of
employees than in the comparable period (Sustainability report, sub-heading Changes in the number
of employees).

NOTE 5: Depreciation
Table 13 |
Depreciation

(in EUR 000)

Depreciation of intangible fixed assets

2010

2009

774

660

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets
and investment property

13,291

13,670

Total depreciation

14,065

14,330

NOTE 6: Other operating expenses
Table 14 |
Other operating expenses

Costs of materials
Loss from disposal of tangible fixed assets
Impairment of tangible fixed assets
Elimination of goodwill

(in EUR 000)
2010

2009

11,256

11,175

154

49

34,527

50,777

11

618

Contributions for municipal land
use and similar expenses

1,002

2,042

Other operating expenses

3,323

2,649

50,273

67,310

Total other operating expenses

The value of impairment of fixed assets significantly contributed to the improvement in the category
of other operating expenses (Note 10). Impairment of tangible fixed assets of the Russian subsidiary
accounted for 92 per cent of the total value of impairment.
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NOTE 7: Financial income and expenses
Table 15 |
Financial income and expenses

Interest income
Income from dividends and participation in profit of others

(in EUR 000)
2010

2009

915

1,185

11

62

179

1,579

0

684

1,516

965

Income from debts written off

100

246

Net exchange rate differences

4,561

0

Total financial income

7,282

4,720

-10,587

-9,758

0

-682

-2,825

0

Income from disposal of financial investments
Income from derivative financial instruments
Income from reversals of adjustments of receivables
and recovered receivables written off

Interest expenses
Financial expenses for impairment and writeoff of financial investments
Financial expenses for impairment of financial
investments shown as available-for-sale assets
Expenses for derivative financial instruments
Net exchange rate differences
Expenses for value adjustment and write-off of receivables

-3,746

-693

0

-1,321

-2,755

-2,982

Total financial expenses

-19,913

-15,436

Financial result

-12,631

-10,716

NOTE 8: Results recognised according to equity method
The jointly controlled company, Intereuropa-FLG, d.o.o., Letališka 35, Ljubljana, in which the Group holds
a 50 per cent interest, contributed EUR 34,000 to the Group's results in 2010.
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NOTE 9: Tax on profit (assessed tax and deferred tax)
The Group's tax liability for the tax year 2010 was assessed at EUR 844,000. The major part of the
tax liability is accounted for by the subsidiaries in Croatia and Montenegro. Taxable and deductible
temporary differences are shown in deferred tax income totalling EUR 1,444,000.
Table 16 |
Adjustment to the effective tax rate

(in EUR 000)
2010

Taxation
Deferred taxation
Total tax on profit
Profit before taxation
Tax charged at the prescribed rate

2009

-844

-342

1,444

5,117

600

4,775

-39,793

-58,683

8,284

12,233

-7,330

-7,820

Tax on tax reliefs

66

133

Tax on income reducing the tax base

79

334

Tax on expenses not recognised for tax purposes

Tax on other items
Effective rate of tax

-499

-105

600

4,775

-1.51 %

-8.14 %

The weighted tax rate is 20.81 per cent.
The Group sustained EUR 39,193,000 net losses for the financial year: EUR 39,952,000 net loss was
sustained by the controlling part while the non-controlling part realised a profit of EUR 759,000.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
NOTE 10: Tangible fixed assets
Table 17 |
Movement of tangible fixed assets in 2010

(in EUR 000)

Land

Buildings

Other
installations
and
equipment

Equipment
under
finance
lease

Tangible fixed
assets under
construction

Advance
payments
for tangible
fixed assets

TOTAL

Acquisition cost
As at 1/1/2010

169,042

267,358

60,063

6,512

22,217

776

525,969

Acquisition cost

0

0

0

0

1,383

896

2,279

Acquisition

0

7,588

824

321

-8,733

0

0

Transfer of advance
payments

0

0

0

0

163

-163

0

Transfer among items
Disposals
Write-offs
Revaluation to fair value
Exchange rate differences
As at 31/12/2010

0

0

83

-83

0

0

0

-5,970

-5,651

-7,111

-143

-6

-7

-18,888

0

0

-10

0

-15

0

-25

-1,884

0

0

0

0

0

-1,884

-223

2,568

599

-458

991

27

3,504

160,965

271,863

54,448

6,149

16,000

1,529

510,954

Value adjustment
As at 1/1/2010

-24,691

-78,397

-39,731

-1,444

-3,795

0

-148,059

Depreciation

0

-6,310

-5,799

-946

0

0

-13,055

Disposals

0

1,797

5,508

0

0

0

7,305

Write-offs

0

0

9

0

0

0

9

Transfer among items

0

0

-12

12

0

0

0

-316

-26,950

-121

0

-6,902

0

-34,289

-25,007

-109,860

-40,146

-2,378

-10,697

0

-188,089

As at 1/1/2010

144,351

188,961

20,332

5,068

18,422

776

377,910

As at 31/12/2010

135,958

162,003

14,301

3,771

5,303

1,529

322,865

Impairments
As at 31/12/2010
Carrying amount

Land was revalued according to the comparable sales method. The last land valuation was performed
by independent valuers at the year-end 2009. As at 31 December 2010, the book value of land would be
EUR 46,059,000 if the acquisition cost model were used.
EUR 34,289,000 impairment of tangible fixed assets relates to impairment of tangible fixed assets in the
following companies:
Intereuropa - East Ltd., Moscow:

EUR 31,691,000

TOV TEK ZTS, Uzghorod

EUR 316,000

Intereuropa d.d.

EUR 2,161,000

Intereuropa Transport, d.o.o., Koper

EUR 121,000

The major part of impairment relates to the buildings of the Russian subsidiary (Intereuropa - East Ltd.,
Moscow), where the 12.43 per cent value of the weighted average of the cost of capital and 1.5 per cent
annual growth of revenues were taken into account in the assessment of the replacement value.
On the balance sheet cut-off date, Intereuropa Group pledged its tangible fixed assets as a collateral for
loans received in the total amount of EUR 196,604,000, other financial liabilities totalling 4,255,000, and
contingent liabilities totalling EUR 25,816,000. There were no other legal restrictions on the Group's free
disposal of its tangible fixed assets.
On the reporting date, the book value of mortgaged immovable property was EUR 259,626,000.
Table 18 |
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Movement of tangible fixed assets in 2009

(in EUR 000)

Land

Buildings

Other
installations
and
equipment

Equipment
under
finance
lease

Tangible fixed
assets under
construction

Advance
payments
for tangible
fixed assets

TOTAL

Acquisition cost
73,756

199,355

65,926

7,223

70,924

6,208

423,393

Acquisition

As at 1/1/2009

0

0

0

0

18,468

328

18,796

Capitalised costs
of financing

0

0

0

0

3,461

0

3,461

Activation

430

68,695

2,938

51

-72,114

0

0

Disposals

-67

-8

-8,452

-757

0

0

-9,284

Write-off

0

-1,001

0

0

0

0

-1,001

Transfers

206

205

0

0

5,369

-5,369

411

96,753

0

0

0

0

0

96,753

Strenghtenings
Exchange rate differences
As at 31/12/2009

-2,036

112

-349

-5

-3,891

-391

-6,560

169,042

267,358

60,063

6,512

22,217

776

525,969

Value adjustment
As at 1/1/2009

0

-51,357

-40,091

-1,084

0

0

-92,532

Depreciation

0

-5,754

-6,609

-1,067

0

0

-13,430

Disposals

0

4

6,969

707

0

0

7,680

Impairments

-24,691

-21,290

0

0

-3,795

0

-49,776

As at 31/12/2009

-24,691

-78,397

-39,731

-1,444

-3,795

0

-148,059

Carrying amount
As at 1/1/2009
As at 31/12/2009

73,756

147,998

25,835

6,139

70,924

6,208

330,861

144,351

188,961

20,332

5,068

18,422

776

377,910

NOTE 11: Investment property
Table 19 |
Movement of investment property

(in EUR 000)
2010

2009

Acquisition cost
As at 1 January

9,468

10,030

Transfers to tangible fixed assets

0

-411

Transfers to available-for-sale assets

0

-151

9,468

9,468

-2,443

-2,240

-236

-240

0

37

-2,679

-2,443

7,025

7,790

6,789

7,025

As at 31 December
Value adjustment
As at 1 January
Depreciation
Transfers to available-for-sale assets
As at 31 December
Carrying amount
As at 31 December
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Table 20 |
Income and expenses from investment property

(in EUR 000)

A. Income from lease of investment property
B. Direct operating expenses giving rise to
income from investment property

2010

2009

1,430

1,664

-437

-748

C. Profit from disposal of investment property

3,699

0

Total (A+B+C)

4,692

916

A. Income from investment property
In spite of a decline in the property market prices, market values of investment property in 2010 were
higher than their book values as at 31 December 2009. It was, therefore, estimated that there were
no indicators of eventual impairment. It is estimated that, on the reporting date, the market value of
investment property exceeded its book value by up to 15 per cent.

NOTE 12: Intangible fixed assets
A goodwill impairment test shows that 87 per cent of goodwill value is accounted by goodwill arising
from the Bosnian subsidiary, Intereuropa RTC d.d. The company was considered as the cash-generating
unit. The calculation is based on the anticipated values of sales in the period 2011-2015, for which
an average 2.7 per cent annual increase in sales was anticipated. The calculation is based on a 14.53
discount rate as the weighted average of the cost of capital. On the basis of discounted cash flows
it was determined that the replacement value of the cash-generating unit exceeded their book value,
including goodwill, and that there was no need for a goodwill impairment.
Table 21 |
Movement of intangible fixed assets in 2010

(in EUR 000)

Long-term
property rights

Goodwill

Long-term deferred
development costs

TOTAL

7,474

1,424

3,793

12,691

465

0

150

615

-517

0

0

-517

0

0

0

0

Acquisition cost
As at 1/1/2010
Acquisition
Disposal of subsidiary
Transfers
Impairment

0

0

0

0

-12

0

0

-12

7,410

1,424

3,943

12,777

-3,081

0

-119

-3,200

-774

0

0

-774

48

0

0

48

-3,807

0

-119

-3,926

As at 1/1/2010

4,394

1,424

3,674

9,491

As at 31/12/2010

3,603

1,424

3,824

8,851

Exchange rate differences
As at 31/1/2010
Value adjustment
As at 1/1/2010
Depreciation
Transfers
As at 31/12/2010
Carrying value

Long-term deferred development costs represent mainly investments in the development of IT solution to
support integrated logistics services.
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Table 22 |
Movement of intangible fixed assets in 2009

(in EUR 000)
Long-term
property rights

Goodwill

Long-term deferred
development costs

TOTAL

As at 1/1/2009

5,995

2,050

3,204

11,249

Acquisition

1,466

0

625

2,091

Disposal of subsidiary

-7

-5

0

-12

Transfers

28

0

-28

0

Reversal

0

-618

0

-618

Acquisition cost

Exchange rate differences

5

-3

-8

-6

7,487

1,424

3,793

12,704

-2,431

0

-122

-2,553

-660

0

0

-660

-3

0

3

0

-3,094

0

-119

-3,213

As at 1/1/2009

3,565

2,050

3,082

8,696

As at 31/12/2009

4,393

1,424

3,674

9,491

As at 31/12/2009
Value adjustment
As at 1/1/2009
Depreciation
Transfers
As at 31/12/2009
Carrying value

There are no restrictions on free disposal of intangible fixed assets by the Group.

NOTE 13: Other long-term operating assets
Other long-term operating assets almost entirely relate to deferred costs of borrowing (costs incurred
in connection with loan agreements, such as fees paid to representatives, advisors, etc.) which are
transferred to expenses in proportion to the elapsed time and in respect of the outstanding amount of
the principal. On the balance sheet cut-off date, other operating loan assets showed an increase by
EUR 126,000.

NOTE 14: Loans and deposits given
Table 23 |
Structure of loans and deposits

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

Long-term loans and deposits given

84

80

•

loans given

56

73

•

deposits

28

7

1,347

2,764

Short-term loans and deposits given
•

loans given

•

deposits

Total loans given

138

898

1,209

1,866

1,431

2,844
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Table 24 |
Movement of long-term loans and deposits given

Opening balance
New loans
Transfer to short-term portion

(in EUR 000)
2010

2009

80

68

23

33

-24

-4

Repayments

0

-7

Exchange rate differences

5

-10

84

80

Closing balance

Table 25 |
Long-term loans and deposits given, by maturity

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

Maturity from 1 to 2 years

35

13

Maturity from 2 to 3 years

15

17

Maturity from 3 to 4 years

0

9

Maturity from 4 to 5 years

0

9

Maturity more than 5 years

33

32

Total

84

80

Table 26 |
Long-term loans by security (excluding deposits)

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

Insured

33

40

Uninsured

23

33

Total

56

73

Table 27 |
Short-term loans by security (excluding deposits)

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

Against bills of exchange

31/12/2009

0

0

Against other forms of insurance

138

898

Total

138

898
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NOTE 15: Jointly controlled company
The company Intereuropa d.d. has a 50 per cent interest in the jointly controlled company IntereuropaFLG, d.o.o., Ljubljana.
Table 28 |
Movement of investment in the jointly controlled company in 2010 and 2009

(in EUR 000)
2010

2009

148

210

Profit under equity method

34

47

Total increase

34

47

Opening value
As at 1 January
Increase

Decrease
Payment of profits

-47

-109

Total decrease

-47

-109

As at 31 December

135

148

Table 29 |
Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the jointly controlled company

Assets

(in EUR 000)

31/12/2010

31/12/2009

2,831

2,732

Long-term assets

14

25

Short-term assets

2,817

2,707

Liabilities

2,831

2,732

232

260

18

33

Capital
Long-term liabilities
Short-term liabilities

2,581

2,439

Income

13,679

13,775

Expenses (including tax on profits)

13,612

13,680

67

95

Net profit or loss for the accounting period
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NOTE 16: Other financial investments

Available-for-sale financial assets
Table 30 |
Movement of available-for-sale financial assets

(in EUR 000)
2010

2009

3,805

6,528

0

64

Opening value
As at 1 January
Increase
Acquisitions
Reversal of impairment on asset disposal

60

0

-18

328

42

392

-170

-2,910

Revaluation to fair value

0

-146

Transfers

0

-58

-170

-3,115

3,678

3,805

Revaluation to fair value
Total increase
Decrease
Disposal

Total decrease
As at 31 December

The profit from sale of available-for-sale financial assets valued at cost totalled EUR 103,000 in 2010.

NOTE 17: Available-for-sale assets
Table 31 |
Available-for-sale assets

Tangible fixed assets and investment
property available for sale

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

45

3,942

Financial assets available for sale

3,379

6,238

Total available-for-sale assets

3,424

10,180

Available-for-sale assets include tangible fixed assets and investment property shown at book value,
which is lower than the expected sales value, less anticipated selling costs. The decline in their value
was largely due to a disposal of property by the parent company totalling EUR 3,684,000; moreover,
it was also due to an impairment of EUR 213,000. Available-for-sale financial assets representing a
financial investment, which is 100 per cent owned by the Croatian subsidiary, are shown at fair value.
In 2010, impairment of available-for-sale financial assets totalled EUR 2,825,000. Their value was
additionally exchange rate differences of EUR 34,000.
Available-for-sale financial assets include the mortgaged property of the company which is 100 per cent
owned by the Croatian subsidiary. On the reporting date, the book value of this property was
EUR 1,804,000.
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NOTE 18: Short-term operating receivables
Table 32 |
Short-term operating receivables

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

Short-term trade receivables

43,878

45,393

Other short-term trade receivables

12,425

17,687

Total short-term operating receivables

56,303

63,080

Table 33 |
Writedown level of trade receivables

(in EUR 000)

A. Short-term trade receivables (gross)
B. Value adjustment of receivables
Carrying value (A - B)
Write-off level of receivables (B / A)

31/12/2010

31/12/2009

51,121

51,785

7,243

6,392

43,878

45,393

14.17 %

12.34 %

Table 34 |
Movement of value adjustment of trade receivables and other receivables

(in EUR 000)

Value adjustment of receivables as at 1 January
- receivables written off

2010

2009

6,392

5,213

-351

-42

-1,455

-476

+ additional increase of value adjustment

2,657

1,697

Closing balance of adjustment as at 31 December

7,243

6,392

- collected receivables and discounts

The effect of value adjustment of receivables in 2010 is presented in expenses for value adjustments and
writedowns of receivables in Note 7.

Table 35 |
Structure of short-term trade receivables by maturity
Gross amount
31/12/2010
Unmatured

(in EUR 000)
Value adjustment
31/12/2010

Gross amount
31/12/2009

Value adjustment
31/12/2009

29,503

0

30,109

0

Matured from 0 to 30 days

9,296

37

7,795

71

Matured from 31 to 90 days

3,471

25

4,611

89

Matured from 91 to 180 days

1,494

188

2,179

396

Maturity more than 181 days

7,357

6,992

7,091

5,836

51,121

7,242

51,785

6,392

Short-term trade receivables

The major part of receivables maturing after 181 days is subject to litigations (enforcements, lawsuits,
bankruptcy and compulsory settlement proceedings).
Exposure of trade receivables to various types of risks is managed by means of the Group's own credit
rating system for local customers and by verifying credit ratings obtained for foreign customers from
specialised organisations. On the basis of the obtained information, customers with lower credit ratings
are required to provide a collateral (bills of exchange, bank guarantees, mortgages, real property liens
and sureties.

128

Financial report of Intereuropa Group for the financial year 2010

NOTE 19: Cash assets
The Group's cash assets totalled EUR 12,216,000. They consist of cash in bank, call deposits and cash
in hand. The reasons for increases and decreases in cash assets in 2010 are shown in the cash flow
statement.

NOTE 20: Capital
The Group's capital totalled EUR 148,163,000, of which EUR 148,163,000 and EUR 10,242,000 were
accounted for by the controlling part and by the non-controlling part, respectively. The movement of
capital items in 2010 is explained in the statement of comprehensive income and statement of changes
in equity.
Initial capital of the parent company Intereuropa d.d. is divided into 7,902,413 ordinary freely transferable
non-par value shares.
Ordinary non-par value shares give their holders the following rights:
•

the right to participate in the management of the company,

•

the right to participate in profits (dividends) and

•

the right to appropriate share of the remaining property following liquidation or bankruptcy of the
company.

All shares are fully paid up. Each non-par value share accounts for the same proportion and
corresponding amount in the company's initial capital. The proportion of each non-par value share in the
company’s initial capital is determined according to the number of issued non-par value shares. Non-par
value shares are indivisible.
Pursuant to the resolution of the general meeting of shareholders, the parent company's authorised and
unutilised capital totalled EUR 16,488,000 on 31 December 2010, the balance sheet cut-off date. The
parent company issued no authorised capital shares in 2010.
Table 36 |
(in EUR 000)

Long-term financial liabilities
Short-term financial liabilities

2010

2009

175,765

109,215

31,098

115,946

Total financial liabilities

206,863

225,161

Total capital

148,163

188,804

Debt/equity

1.40

1.19

Own shares
On 31 December 2010, the parent company had 18,135 own shares representing 0.23 per cent of its
initial capital. There was no change in the number of own shares since 31 December 2010.
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Reserves
Capital reserves
Table 37 |
Capital reserves

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

Capital surplus

0

0

General equity revaluation adjustment

0

36,040

Capital reserves

0

36,040

On the transition to IFRS, the general capital revaluation adjustment was included in capital reserves.
On the reporting date, net losses of the parent company are lower by EUR 36,040 due to the offset of
such losses.
Reserves for own shares were created in 2008 in the amount of their acquisition cost of EUR 180,000.
They are included in profit reserves.
Profit reserves were recognised in the amount of EUR 6,247,000 and showed an increase on the
comparable cut-off amount by EUR 83,000 due to the transfer of retained profits pursuant to the
resolutions of general meetings of the companies, and the offset of net losses by the parent company
resulted in a reduction of this item by EUR 6,523,000.
As compared with 2009, fair value reserves declined to EUR 71,378,000 on account of land revaluation
in association with deferred taxes and available-for-sale financial investments, deferred taxes and transfer
of the value of disposals of the Group's real property to retained profits.
As compared with 2009, translation reserves increased by EUR 1,044,000 and totalled EUR
10,636,000 on 31 December 2010. The increase is a result of exchange rate differences derived from the
conversion of capital items from local currencies into the reporting currency in financial statements
of subsidiaries.

Retained profits
Retained profits totalled EUR 38,136,000, which represented EUR 38,136,000 increase on the previous year.

Dividends per share
No dividends were paid in 2010.

Capital of the non-controlling part
The non-controlling part’s capital was EUR 10,242,000, representing an increase by EUR 144,000 on the
previous year.
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Net loss per share
The basic net loss per share (EUR –5.07) was calculated as net profit/loss pertaining to ordinary
shareholders of the parent company / weighted average number of shares excluding own shares).
The adjusted net loss per share equals the basic net loss per share since the parent company holds
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
Table 38 |
(in EUR 000)

Net loss/controlling portion for the
financial year in EUR 000
Average number of shares
Basic and adjusted earnings/loss per share (in EUR)

2010

2009

-39,952

-54,193

7,884,278

7,884,278

-5.07

-6.87

NOTE 21: Provisions
On the date of the statement of financial position, the Group had EUR 3,084,000 of unused long-term
provisions and long-term deferred income. The movement of provisions is shown in the table below:
Table 39 |
Provisions

(in EUR 000)

Provisions for terminal bonus
payments on retirement

As at
1/1/2010

Utilisation of
provisions

Reversal of
provisions
and transfer
to revenues

Additionally
created

Exchange
rate
differences

As at
31/12/2010

2,587

269

0

11

-12

2,316

Provisions for litigations

358

92

65

290

0

491

Other provisions

653

648

0

172

1

178

Long-term deferred income
Total

206

26

159

77

0

98

3,803

1,044

224

550

-11

3,084

The calculation of termination benefits on retirement and long service bonuses is based on actuarial
calculation which is based on the following assumptions:
•

the number of employees, their gender, age, total length of service, length of service in the company,
average gross wages per employee in the last quarter of 2007;

•

the method of calculating termination benefits on retirement according to the national legislation;

•

increase in average wages by country;

•

staff turnover by age, conditions for retirement in accordance with the minimum requirements for oldage pension;

•

discount rates employed: 5.7 per cent in Serbia, 5.85 per cent in Slovenia, 5.4 per cent in Montenegro, 7 per cent in Bosnia and Herzegovina, and 5.4 per cent in Croatia.

In the period under review, these provisions were reduced by the paid termination benefits on retirement
and long service bonuses.
Provisions for litigations were created on the basis of opinions and estimates obtained from internal and
external experts.
Long-term deferred income relates particularly to tangible fixed assets obtained free of charge and
tangible fixed assets purchased with monies received for employing people with disabilities above the
statutory quota. It is derecognised by against operating income in the amount of depreciation costs.

Financial report of Intereuropa Group for the financial year 2010 131

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
NOTE 22: Loans and finance leases received
Table 40 |
Structure of loans and finance leases received

Long-term loans received from banks
Finance lease
Total long-term financial liabilities

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

171,218

104,303

675

2,706

171,893

107,009

Table 41 |
Movement of long-term loans finance leases

As at 1 January
Refinancing of short-term loans
New loans
Repayments
Transfer to short-term liabilities
Exchange rate differences
As at 31 December

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

107,009

88,665

87,953

51,000

1,201

75,704

-3,498

-27,403

-20,702

-81,039

-70

83

171,893

107,009

Table 42 |
Long-term loans and finance leases by maturity

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

Maturity from 1 to 2 years

29,139

20,582

Maturity from 2 to 3 years

27,805

16,174

Maturity from 3 to 4 years

65,611

14,917

Maturity from 4 to 5 years

11,385

12,867

Maturity more than 5 years

37,954

42,469

171,893

107,009

Total

Table 43 |
Long-term loans and financial leases by security

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

Insured

171,869

106,356

•

Mortgages

167,499

95,175

•

Bills

4,370

11,181

Uninsured
Total

24

653

171,893

107,009
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Table 44 |
Structure of short-term loans and finance leases

Short-term loans received
Finance lease
Total

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

26,688

114,051

2,264

1,429

28,952

115,481

Table 45 |
Short-term loans and financial leases by security

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

Insured

28,952

112,886

•

Mortgages

25,382

103,384

•

Bills

3,359

2,098

•

Other

211

7,404

Uninsured
Total

0

2,595

28,952

115,481

Some loan agreements between Intereuropa and banks include financial commitments (indicator of
financial leverage, indicator of coverage of interest charges, indicator of the level of financial security,
equity/total assets ratio, gross cash flow/net sales revenues, net financial debt / EBITDA, indicator
of coverage of financial expenses) which are verified on the basis of audited consolidated financial
statements for the financial year.
Considering the expected poorer performance in 2010 and the necessary additional impairments of assets,
the Group reached an arrangement with certain banks in 2010 that financial commitments should be
verified for the first time on the basis of financial statements for 2011, and with other banks it was agreed
not to consider financial commitments for 2010, which the banks confirmed by written, signed statements.

NOTE 23: Other long-term and short-term financial liabilities
Table 46 |
Structure of other long-term and short-term financial liabilities

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

Long-term financial liabilities at fair value to profit/loss

3,872

2,206

Total other long-term financial liabilities

3,872

2,206

Short-term financial liabilities at fair value to profit/loss

1,729

96

417

369

2,146

465

Liabilities for dividends
Total other short-term financial liabilities

Other long-term financial liabilities totalling EUR 3,872,000 and other short-term financial liabilities
totalling EUR 1,729,000 relate to liabilities from fair value financial instruments to profit/loss. They
represent net present value of the derivative financial instrument of cross-currency swap with currency
option. These liabilities were secured by mortgage. Their effects are disclosed in Note 7 (Expenses from
derivative financial instruments).
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NOTE 24: Deferred tax receivables and liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised in the amount of deductible temporary differences for asset
revaluation expenses and created provisions and unused tax losses carried forward to the following
periods. The condition for their recognition is the existence of available taxable profit against which
deductible temporary differences can be charged in the future.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences in financial assets for which
changes in fair value are recognised directly in the capital, and for temporary differences in tangible fixed
assets, particularly for fair value revaluation.
Table 47 |
Movement of not offset deferred tax receivables and liabilities in 2010

(in EUR 000)

As at
31/12/2009

In profit and
loss account

In comprehensive
income

Transfer
among items

Exchange
rate
differences

As at
31/12/2010

50

-1

0

-6

-1

42

Provisions

364

-17

7

0

0

354

Revaluation of financial
investments

541

69

6

0

-7

609

Deferred tax liabilities
Revaluation of receivables
for value adjustment

Long-term operating liabilities
Tax loss
Other

93

-93

0

0

0

0

6,796

1,612

-942

0

229

7,695

1

49

0

6

0

56

7,845

1,619

-929

0

221

8,756

As at
31/12/2009

In profit and
loss account

In comprehensive
income

Transfer
among items

Exchange
rate
differences

As at
31/12/2010

Revaluation for temporary
differences in tangible
fixed assets

18,834

175

-1,398

0

-90

17,521

Total deferred tax liabilities

18,834

175

-1,398

0

-90

17,521

Total deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
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Table 48 |
Movement of not offset deferred tax receivables and liabilities in 2009

(in EUR 000)

As at 31/12/2008

In profit and
loss account

In comprehensive
income

Revaluation of receivables for adjustments

528

-403

-75

50

Provisions

398

-33

-1

364

Deferred tax liabilities

As at 31/12/2009

Revaluation of financial investments

507

79

-45

541

Long-term operating liabilities

111

-18

-7

93

2,763

4,062

-29

6,796

38

-27

-10

1

4,345

3,660

-167

7,845

As at 31/12/2008

In profit and
loss account

In comprehensive
income

As at 31/12/2009

Revaluation of financial investments

225

0

-225

0

Revaluation for temporary differences
in tangible fixed assets

301

57

18,476

18,834

1,706

-1,514

-192

0

0

0

0

0

2,232

-1,457

18,059

18,834

Tax loss
Other
Total deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

Capitalised borrowing costs
Other
Total deferred tax liabilities

NOTE 25: Short-term operating liabilities
Table 49 |
Short-term operating liabilities

Short-term trade liabilities
Short-term operating liabilities for advances
Other short-term operating liabilities
Total short-term operating liabilities

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

41,034

44,737

1,669

593

6,594

6,995

49,298

52,325

No payment security instruments were issued to suppliers (except for customs obligations). Other shortterm operating liabilities represent liabilities to employees in respect of wages and salaries, compulsory
contributions and other liabilities.

NOTE 26: Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities include contingent liabilities not shown in the statement of financial position and it
is unlikely that such factors will need to be eliminated on the settlement of such liabilities. The Group is
estimated to have had the following contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2010:
Table 50 |
Contingent liabilities

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

For bank guarantees and guarantees granted to others

9,693

10,767

For litigations

3,054

3,209

250

250

12,997

14,226

For company D.S.U., company for consulting and management
Total contingent liabilities
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Guarantees and sureties represent mainly the contingent liabilities for performance bank guarantees and
similar guarantees as well as contingent liabilities for bank guarantees for eventual customs debt that
could arise from verification of origin, various analyses and control of goods.
Contingent liabilities for litigation costs totalling EUR 3,054,000 represent a less than 50 per cent
probability that the plaintiff will be successful with his claim and that an elimination of factors inhibiting
economic benefits will be necessary. Contingent liabilities for legal costs mainly relate to legal actions for
the change of resolution to pay dividends for 2008 and legal actions for damages for unlawful dismissal
from office.

NOTE 27: Fair value

Available-for-sale securities
The fair value of exchange listed available-for-sale securities equals the published closing price of shares
on the date of the statement of financial position. The fair value of shares and participations of exchange
listed companies is determined on the basis of the latest transactions or on the basis of their operations.

Loans received and given
Their fair value equals their book value.

Short-term receivables and liabilities
It is assumed that the face value Receivables and payables maturing within less than one year equals
their fair value.
Table 51 |
Fair value

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

Book value

Fair value

Book value

Fair value

Available-for-sale financial assets

3,678

3,678

3,805

3,805

Total

3,678

3,678

3,805

3,805

Assets at amortised cost
Long-term loans and deposits

84

84

80

80

1,347

1,347

2,764

2,764

Operating receivables (excluding advance payments)

56,303

56,303

63,080

63,080

Cash and cash equivalents

12,216

12,216

5,318

5,318

Total

69,950

69,950

71,244

71,243

Derivative financial instruments

5,601

5,601

2,302

2,302

Total

5,601

5,601

2,302

2,302

137

137

288

288

202,369

202,369

222,489

222,489

247

247

32,625

32,625

202,122

202,122

189,863

189,863

Short-term loans given

Liabilities at fair value

Liabilities at amortised cost
Long-term operating liabilities
Loans
• at fixed rate of interest
• at variable rate of interest
Short-term operating liabilities
Total

49,298

49,298

52,325

52,325

251,804

251,804

275,102

275,102
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Fair value levels of financial instruments
The table below shows a classification of financial instruments in respect their calculated fair value.
Financial instruments are accordingly classified into three levels:
•

Level 1: assets or liabilities at market price,

•

Level 2: assets or liabilities which are not classified in Level 1, and their value is determined directly
or indirectly on the basis of comparable market data,

•

Level 3: assets or liabilities whose value cannot be derived from the market data.

Table 52 |
Fair value levels

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

FAIR VALUE LEVELS

LEVEL 1

LEVEL 2

LEVEL 3

TOTAL

Available-for-sale financial assets

1,272

0

2,405

3,678

Total

1,272

0

2,405

3,678

Derivative financial instruments

0

5,601

0

5,601

Total

0

5,601

0

5,601

LEVEL 1

LEVEL 2

LEVEL 3

TOTAL

Available-for-sale financial assets

1,291

0

2,514

3,805

Total

1,291

0

2,514

3,805

Derivative financial instruments

0

2,302

0

2,302

Total

0

2,302

0

2,302

Fair value assets

Fair value liabilities

31/12/2009
FAIR VALUE LEVELS
Fair value assets

Fair value liabilities

NOTE 28: Financial risks
Risk management is described in the chapter Risk management.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is managed through active management of cash assets which includes:
•

monitoring and planning of cash flows,

•

regular recovery and day-to-day contacts with major customers,

•

short-term borrowing within the Group,

•

possibility of using short-term bank lines of credit.

The following table shows estimated non-discounted cash flows, including future interest.
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Table 53 |
Liquidity risk as at 31 December 2010

31/12/2010
Loans received from
banks and others
Loans received under
finance lease

Book value

Contractual
cash flows

Six
months
or less

6–12
months

1–2 years

2–5 years

More than
5 years

197,906

230,185

9,902

26,235

36,939

118,449

41,676

2,939

2,924

679

1,570

606

68

0

Fair value liability to profit/loss
Trade payables
Other liabilities
Total

(in EUR 000)

5,601

6,401

852

1,084

1,586

2,878

0

41,137

27,870

34,293

280

103

0

0

8,297

5,993

7,871

66

29

130

0

255,880

273,373

53,597

29,235

39,263

121,525

41,676

Table 54 |
Liquidity risk as at 31 December 2009

(in EUR 000)

Book value

Contractual
cash flows

Six
months
or less

6–12
months

1–2 years

2–5 years

More than
5 years

218,355

242,781

95,122

25,353

21,972

53,939

46,395

4,135

4,162

709

755

2,244

454

0

Trade payables

44,737

44,737

44,737

0

0

0

0

Other liabilities

7,595

7,595

6,025

100

0

1,470

0

274,822

299,275

146,593

26,208

24,216

55,863

46,395

31/12/2009
Loans received from
banks and others
Loans received under
finance lease

Total

The following table analyses interest rate sensitivity and its effect on profit before taxation.

Table 55 |
Risk of changes in interest rates

(in EUR 000)
Change in
per cent

Six months
or less

6-12
months

1-2 years

2-5 years

More than
5 years

Total

EURIBOR

+15 %

-126

-129

-232

-392

-110

-987

EURIBOR

+10 %

-84

-86

-154

-261

-73

-658

EURIBOR

-10 %

84

86

154

261

73

658

EURIBOR

-15 %

126

129

232

392

110

987

2010

Table 56 |
Risk of changes in interest rates

(in EUR 000)
Change in
per cent

Six months
or less

6–12
months

1–2 years

2–5 years

More than
5 years

Total

EURIBOR

+15 %

-75

-64

-110

-217

-103

-568

EURIBOR

+10 %

-50

-42

-73

-145

-69

-379

EURIBOR

-10 %

50

42

73

145

69

379

EURIBOR

-15 %

75

64

110

217

103

568

2009
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Table 57 |
Currency risk as at 31 December 2010
31/12/2010
Operating receivables

(in EUR 000)
EUR

HRK

RSD

Other

Total
56,303

32,987

8,945

652

13,718

Long-term loans given

23

20

7

33

84

Short-term loans given

96

617

0

635

1,347

Long-term loans received

-164,063

-4,686

-2,732

-412

-171,893

Short-term loans received

-18,676

-9,400

-283

-593

-28,952

Short-term operating liabilities

-31,979

-6,550

-730

-10,038

-49,297

0

0

0

-3,872

-3,872

-329

-27

0

-1,474

-1,830

-181,942

-11,081

-3,086

-2,002

-198,111

Other long-term financial liabilities
(fair value financial liabilities to profit/loss)
Other short-term financial liabilities
(fair value financial liabilities to profit/loss)
Gross exposure of statement of financial position

Table 58 |
Currency risk as at 31 December 2009
31/12/2009

(in EUR 000)
EUR

HRK

RSD

Other

Total

32,005

663

0

30,411

63,080

Long-term loans given

41

0

0

32

73

Short-term loans given

84

0

0

814

898

Long-term loans received

-97,607

-6,051

-3,027

-325

-107,009

Short-term loans received

-103,795

-2,890

-629

-8,166

-115,480

Short-term operating liabilities

-30,483

-424

-716

-20,703

-52,325

•

-23,360

-348

-528

-20,502

-44,737

-2,206

0

0

0

-2,206

-96

0

0

0

-96

-202,056

-8,702

-4,372

2,064

-213,066

Operating receivables

of which trade payables

Other long-term financial liabilities
(fair value financial liabilities to profit/loss)
Other short-term financial liabilities
(fair value financial liabilities to profit/loss)
Gross exposure of statement of financial position

Table 59 |
Credit risk

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

Long-term loans to others

56

73

Long-term deposits

28

8

Short-term loans to others

138

898

1,209

1,866

Short-term operating receivables

56,303

63,080

•

43,678

45,393

12,216

5,319

Short-term deposits
of which trade receivables

Cash and cash equivalents
Available-for-sale financial assets
Total

3,678

3,805

117,278

120,434
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Table 60 |
Costs of auditing

(in EUR 000)

Auditing of annual accounts
Other auditing services
Other non-auditing services
Total costs of auditing

2010

2009

172

148

9

118

21

30

202

296

NOTE 29: Related parties
Table 61 |
Compensation of key management personnel

Short-term earnings (wages and social security
contributions, annual and sick leave, participations
in profit, non-monetary earnings - benefits)
Other earnings
Total

(in EUR 000)
2010

2009

1,234

1,931

0

63

1,234

1,994

The key management personnel received no loans from the Group in 2010.

Table 62 |
Disclosure of related party transactions

(in EUR 000)

Income from sales of services

Total controlled company

2010

2009

918

1,050

2010

2009

7,546

7,843

Costs of services

Total controlled company

On 31 December 2010, the Group's liabilities to the jointly controlled company totalled EUR 1,449,000.
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NOTE 30: Information by segment
Table 63 |
(in EUR 000)
Slovenia

Revenues from external
customers
Sales between segments

Croatia

Montenegro

Russia

Jan-Dec
2010

Jan-Dec
2009

Jan-Dec
2010

Jan-Dec
2009

Jan-Dec
2010

Jan-Dec
2009

Jan-Dec
2010

Jan-Dec
2009

115,032

118,842

33,671

32,207

5,438

6,436

5,087

5,359

9,006

12,763

822

939

84

51

25

0

Total income

124,038

131,604

34,493

33,146

5,522

6,487

5,112

5,359

Depreciation

7,671

8,038

2,498

2,706

638

636

2,053

1,583

Operating profit/loss

1,407

-17,809

3,290

1,918

2,265

835

-34,763

-36,706

Interest income

4,802

6,996

419

552

114

50

19

20

Interest expenses

9,366

8,406

1,175

1,342

0

0

3,980

1,984

-48,705

-78,118

-761

650

2,317

914

-32,669

-40,982

-775

-2,680

-61

190

245

113

-83

-2,427

328,457

431,871

85,021

89,632

24,337

23,679

69,870

133,637

6

2,257

86

87

560

481

5,209

15,467

261,339

297,720

69,177

71,516

20,060

20,992

54,327

82,714

Profit/loss on ordinary activities
Profits tax
Assets
Tangible fixed assets
under construction
Long-term assets
Operating liabilities

46,697

84,286

11,129

10,800

943

903

19,397

19,438

Financial liabilities

190,251

204,208

16,235

19,520

316

293

61,838

94,578

75

75

0

0

0

0

0

0

47

109

0

0

0

0

0

0

Investments in jointly controlled
companies under equity method
Income from participations in
jointly controlled companies

Other

Revenues from external
customers
Sales between segments

Adjustments and
eliminations*

Total

Group

Jan-Dec
2010

Jan-Dec
2009

Jan-Dec
2010

Jan-Dec
2009

Jan-Dec
2010

Jan-Dec
2009

Jan-Dec
2010

Jan-Dec
2009

31,353

28,470

190,580

191,315

44

-198

190,624

191,117

1,934

1,883

11,871

15,635

-11,871

-15,635

0

0

Total income

33,287

30,353

202,452

206,950

-11,827

-15,833

190,624

191,117

Depreciation

1,205

1,423

14,065

14,386

0

-56

14,065

14,330

968

-3,813

-26,833

-55,575

-363

4,937

-27,195

-50,638
1,185

Operating profit/loss
Interest income

28

22

5,382

7,641

-4,467

-6,456

915

Interest expenses

533

481

15,055

12,214

-4,467

-2,456

10,587

9,758

Profit/loss on ordinary activities

109

-4,857

-79,708

-122,393

39,915

61,085

-39,793

-61,307

Profits tax

74

29

-600

-4,775

0

0

-600

-4,775

41,619

42,959

549,304

721,778

-123,876

-232,508

425,428

489,270

972

906

6,832

19,198

0

0

6,832

19,198

Long-term assets

33,894

36,405

438,797

509,348

-86,996

-102,527

351,801

406,821

Operating liabilities

8,504

7,655

86,671

123,081

-16,268

-47,776

70,402

75,305

Financial liabilities

8,069

9,708

276,709

328,307

-69,846

-103,146

206,863

225,161

0

0

75

75

59

73

135

148

0

0

47

109

-14

-62

34

47

Assets
Tangible fixed assets
under construction

Investments in jointly controlled
companies under equity method
Income from participations in
jointly controlled companies

* All adjustments are subject to consolidation procedures
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Business segment results are regularly monitored by the management which uses them in making
decisions on allocation of resources by segments and assesses the performance of the Group's
operations.

NOTE 31: Events after the reporting date
On 23 December 2010, Luka Koper d.d. issued a public invitation for tenders for sale of 1,960,513
shares of the company Intereuropa d.d., representing 24.8 per cent of shares of Intereuropa d.d. The
deadline for tenders was 14 February 2011 and was extended until 31 March 2011.
On 21 February 2011, Kad, Sod, Zavarovalnica Triglav, NLB, Abanka Vipa and Luka Koper announced a
public invitation to tender for selling a 50.98 per cent share of Intereuropa d.d. Moreover, a 1.93 per cent
share held by institutional investors is also for sale. The deadline for tenders was 31 March.
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FINANCIAL REPORT of THE PARENT COMPANY
INTEREUROPA d.d.
Financial statements of the parent company Intereuropa d.d. and notes to
the financial statements
The company Intereuropa d.d. (hereinafter: the company) is the parent company of Intereuropa Group
established in Slovenia. The company’s registered office is at Vojkovo nabrežje 32, 6000, Koper. It
provides logistics services through a branch network of its own. Pursuant to the resolution of its general
meeting of shareholders held on 15 July 2006, on 1 January 2006 the parent company Intereuropa
d.d. switched to preparing its separate financial statements in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union for a period of at least five years,
beginning with 1 January 2006.
Table 1 |
Profit and loss account of the company Intereuropa d.d. for 2010

(in EUR 000)
Notes

2010

2009

Sales revenues

1

96,427

99,986

Other operating income

2

4,759

347

Costs of services

3

-67,933

-72,414

Labour costs

4

-19,595

-22,537

Depreciation

5

-5,183

-4,461

Other operating expenses

6

-6,022

-17,874

Operating profit/loss

2,453

-16,953

Financial income

6,741

10,632

-56,407

-70,356

-49,666

-59,724

-47,213

-76,677

0

2,625

Financial expenses
Profit/loss from financing activities

7

Profit/loss from ordinary activities
Profit/loss from discontinued operations
Profits tax (including deferred taxes)

8

Net loss for the accounting period
Basic and adjusted net loss per share (in EUR)

18

815

2,700

-46,398

-71,352

-5.88

-9.05

Table 2 |
Statement of comprehensive income of the company Intereuropa d.d. for 2010
Notes

2010

2009

-46,398

-71,352

18

-1,878

55,715

9

-2,174

70,847

Net profit/loss for the accounting period
Other comprehensive income
Fair value revaluation of land
Transfer of land revaluation surplus to
retained profit from disposal of land
Deferred taxes in land revaluation surplus
Fair value revaluation of available-forsale financial investments
Transfer of available-for-sale financial investment
revaluation surplus (in disposal of financial investments)
Deferred taxes in available-for-sale
financial asset revaluation surplus

-4,938
22

1,422

-14,169

14

-30

359

0

-1,575

6

253

4,938

0

-934

0

-168

0

-48,276

-15,637

22

Retained profit from land revaluation (in disposal of land)
Deferred tax from retained profit
Retained profit from acquisition of the subsidiary
Total comprehensive income

(in EUR 000)

22

Notes to the financial statements are an integral part of the financial statements and should be read in
conjunction therewith.
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Table 3 |
Statement of financial position of the company Intereuropa d.d. as at 31 December 2010

(in EUR 000)

Notes

31/12/2010

31/12/2009

Tangible fixed assets

9

146,353

162,893

Investment property

10

6,118

6,335

Intangible fixed assets

11

7,069

4,586

Other long-term operating assets

12

639

499

Deferred tax receivables

22

3,515

3,628

Loans and deposits given

13

36,473

20,788

Investments in subsidiaries

14

50,797

82,032

Investment in jointly controlled company

14

75

75

Other financial investments

14

3,589

3,728

254,628

284,564

0

3,684

Assets

Total long-term assets
Available-for-sale assets

15

Inventories

35

24

Loans and deposits given

13

33,337

82,332

Short-term operating receivables

16

25,795

38,806

Short-term receivables for profits tax
Cash assets

17

Total short-term assets

0

97

155

625

59,322

125,568

313,950

410,132

Initial capital

32,976

32,976

Own shares

-180

-180

55,602

103,878

Total assets
Capital

18

Reserves
Retained profits
Total capital

0

0

88,398

136,674

Liabilities
Provisions

19

1,836

2,169

Long-term loans and finance leases received

20

162,991

93,320

Other long-term financial liabilities

21

3,872

2,024

Long-term operating liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

22

Total long-term liabilities

103

0

12,747

14,169

181,549

111,682

16,912

101,065

Short-term loans and finance leases received

20

Other short-term financial liabilities

21

1,548

172

Short-term operating liabilities

23

25,543

60,539

44,003

161,776

Total liabilities

Total short-term liabilities

225,552

273,458

Total capital and liabilities

313,950

410,132

Notes to the financial statements are an integral part of the financial statements and should be read in
conjunction therewith.
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Table 4 |
Cash flow statement of the company Intereuropa d.d. for 2010

(in EUR 000)
Notes

2010

2009

-46,398

-71,352

Cash flows from operating activities
Net profit/loss for the accounting period
Adjustments for:
•

depreciation

5,183

4,461

•

impairment and writedowns of tangible fixed assets

2,176

14,293

•

profit from disposal of tangible fixed assets and investment property

-4,444

-105

•

losses from disposal of tangible fixed assets

148

25

•

non-cash expenses

270

478

•

non-cash income

•

financial income

•

paid impaired receivables

•

financial expenses

•

net cash flow from operating activities of discontinued operation

•

profits tax (including deferred taxes)

Operating profit before changes in net current assets and taxes

-224

0

-6,741

-10,632

566

291

56,407

70,356

0

-2,634

-815

-2,700

6,128

2,481

3,362

2,119

Changes in net current assets and provisions
Change in receivables
Change in inventories
Change in operating liabilities
Change in provisions
Paid tax on profits
Cash from operating activities

-9

10

-3,046

-407

-573

-80

97

1,618

5,959

5,741

732

1,509

1,196

1,386

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received
Dividends and participations in profits received
Receipts from disposal of tangible fixed assets and investment property
Receipts from long-term loans given
Receipts from decrease of short-term loans given

17,220

452

9,725

25,833

28,039

Receipts from disposal of other financial assets

272

Cash received on acquisition of the subsidiary
Capital expenditures for tangible fixed assets and investment property
Adjustment for net cash flow from discontinued operations
Expenditures for intangible fixed assets
Expenses for acquisition and capital increase of subsidiaries
Expenses for long-term loans and deposits given
Expenses for increase in short-term loans given
Expenses for settlement of derivative financial instruments
Cash from investing activities

2,893

1

0

-261

-1,009

0

-227

-10

-596

-33,764

-24,955

-4,440

-18,908

0

-4,154

-276

-348

18,434

-18,124

583

75,647

Cash flows from financing activities
Receipts from long-term loans received
Interest paid

-9,086

-8,660

Expenses for repayment of long-term loans

-11,801

-52,325

Expenses for decrease in short-term loans

-4,557

-4,590

Dividends paid
Cash from financing activities
Opening balance of cash and cash equivalents
Cash flow from ordinary activities in the accounting period
Cash flow from discontinued operating activities in the accounting period
Closing balance of cash and cash equivalents

17

-2

-4

-24,863

10,068

625

79

-470

-2,315

0

2,861

155

625

Notes to the financial statements are an integral part of the financial statements and should be read in
conjunction therewith.
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Table 5 |
Statement of changes in equity of the company Intereuropa d.d. for 2010

Notes
Opening balance 1/1/2010
Total comprehensive
income for the
accounting period

Initial
capital

Own
shares

32,976
0

(in EUR 000)
Reserves

Retained
profits

Total
capital

56,562

0

136,674

-5,714

-42,562

-48,276

Capital
reserves

Reserves

Fair value
reserves

-180

36,040

11,276

0

0

0

Net operating profit/loss

0

0

0

0

0

-46,398

-46,398

Other comprehensive income

0

0

0

0

-5,714

3,836

-1,878

Transactions with owners

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

-36,040

-6,522

0

42,562

0

32,976

-180

0

4,754

50,848

0

88,398

Offset of net losses for
the financial year
Closing balance
31/12/2010

18

Table 6 |
Statement of changes in equity of the company Intereuropa d.d. for 2009

Notes
Opening balance 1/1/2009
Total comprehensive
income for the
accounting period

Initial
capital

Own
shares

32,976
0

(in EUR 000)
Reserves

Retained
profits

Total
capital

847

57,990

152,312

55,715

-71,352

-15,637

Capital
reserves

Reserves

Fair value
reserves

-180

49,403

11,276

0

0

0

Net profit/loss

0

0

0

0

0

-71,352

-71,352

Other comprehensive income

0

0

0

0

55,715

0

55,715

Transactions with owners

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

-13,362

0

0

13,362

0

32,976

-180

36,040

11,276

56,562

0

136,674

Offset of net losses for
the financial year
Closing balance
31/12/2009

18

Notes to the financial statements are an integral part of the financial statements and should be read in
conjunction therewith.
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Notes to financial statements of the company
Intereuropa d.d.
I. Basis of preparation of financial statements

Declaration of conformity
The company’s financial statements are drawn up in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU and in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act.
The financial statements were approved by the company’s Management Board on 22 February 2011.
			

Basis for measuring
The company’s financial statements were prepared by taking into account the original cost, except
for land and fair value derivative financial instruments to profit/loss and for available-for-sale financial
instruments where their fair value is taken into consideration. Measuring methods employed are
described in Point IV.

Functional and presentation currency
The company’s financial statements are denominated in euros, the functional currency which is at the
same also the presentation currency of the company Intereuropa d.d. All accounting information is
rounded off to one thousand units. As a result, a +1 or -1 variance is possible in the disclosure tables.

Estimates and assessments employed
In the preparation of financial statements, the management is obliged to present its estimates,
assessments and assumptions that influence the use of financial policies and the shown values of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The actual results may deviate from such estimates and assessments.
The information on major estimates of uncertainties and critical assessments which the management
prepared in the process of implementing accounting policies and which have the strongest impact on the
amounts shown in the financial statements includes the following:
•

the value of doubtful loans;

•

replacement value which is used in the comparison with the book value in asset impairment test;

•

useful life of depreciable assets;

•

residual value of tangible fixed assets;

•

fair value valuation of financial instruments;

•

creation of deferred receivables and deferred tax liabilities;

•

creation of provisions;

•

assessment of the value of land which is valued at fair value (in cases where their value decreased,
the Group recognised impairments).

II. Changes in accounting policies
As from 1 January 2010, the Group has used the following changes in accounting policies:
•

shares without controlling have been measured according to the proportion of non-controlling part
of identifiable net assets of the acquired company. As a result, goodwill is calculated in proportion to
the controlling share of the owner (i.e. under the partial goodwill method),

•

changes in the share of equity held by the parent company in its subsidiary which do not result in a
loss of control are recognised directly in the capital (retained profit).

These changes had no impact on the financial statements since there were no such accounting events
in 2010.
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III. Major accounting policies
The Group consistently used the same accounting policies from one period to another, which are shown
in the financial statements. Comparative information conforms to the information presented for the current
financial year. Any changes were appropriately disclosed in case of changes in accounting policies.

(a) Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions
Business transactions are expressed in a foreign currency and are converted into euros, the functional
currency of the company, at the rate of exchange valid on the transaction date. Cash assets and
liabilities denominated in a foreign currency are converted into the functional currency at the rate of
exchange valid on the transaction date. Non-cash assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency
and measured at fair value are converted into the functional currency at the rate of exchange valid on fair
value date. The rate of exchange applied is the ECB rate.
Exchange rate differences occurring from the settlement of cash items or conversion of cash items at
the rates other than those recorded for the accounting period following initial recognition of such items
or shown in previous financial statements are recognised in the operating profit or loss (as income or
expenses) for the period in which they occur.

(b) Financial instruments
Financial instruments include investments in equity and debt securities, operating and other receivables,
cash and cash equivalents, loans received and given, and operating and other liabilities.
They are initially recognised at fair value. Normal acquisitions and disposals of financial assets are
recognised on the trading date, i.e. on the date when the company undertakes to buy or sell an asset.
Profit or loss from disposal of financial assets is also recognised on the same date.
Calculation of financial income and expenses is shown in the section relating to financial income and
expenses.
Cash and cash equivalents are balances with banks and other financial institutions, cash in hand and
readily realisable securities.

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets which are designated as available
for sale or are not included in one of the above-mentioned categories. After initial recognition these
investments are measured at fair value, by taking into account also the changes in fair value. Losses
arising from impairment are recognised in the profit/loss and shown in capital or revaluation surplus. After
the investment is derecognised, the accumulated profits or losses shown in other comprehensive income
for the period are transferred to the profit and loss account.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. Loans are investments in financial liabilities of other companies, the
state or other issuers. They also include financial investments in bonds. Receivables represent the rights
to request a particular person to repay its debt, pay for the supply of goods or services and are based
on financial and other relationships. They are measured according to the amortised cost method by
using the current rate of exchange. Profit or loss is recognised in the profit and loss account in case of
elimination of its recognition or in the case of impairment.

Investments in subsidiaries
Long-term financial investments in equity of subsidiaries which are included in consolidated financial
statements are valued at cost. Participation in profit of a subsidiary is recognised when the subsidiary is
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given the authorisation to pay such participation in profit based on the resolution of the general meeting.
If impairment is identified, the value of losses arising from impairment is recognised.

Financial liabilities
The company initially recognises financial liabilities when they occur. Financial liabilities are initially
recognised on the trading date, when the company becomes a contracting party in relation to a
particular instrument. The company derecognises financial liabilities when the Group’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or they expire.
After initial recognition, non-derivative financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost according to the
effective interest method.

Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments for which there is no security relationship between the risk hedging
instrument, the item hedged against risk and derivative financial instruments for hedging against
risk for which no effectiveness of hedging is defined are categorised as financial assets or financial
liabilities at the fair value to operating profit/loss ratio. Derivative financial instruments are initially
recognised at fair value. Transaction costs are recognised in the profit/loss on accrual basis. After initial
recognition, derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value. The profit or loss arising from the
measurement of their value (as a change in fair value) is recognised in the profit or loss account. The fair
value of these instruments in determined on the basis of valuation of the issuer of such instruments on
the balance sheet date and represents the current offered value of this transaction.

Capital
Initial capital
Ordinary shares are shown as capital. Additional costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares
are shown as a reduction of capital.

Redemption of own shares or holdings
On redemption of own shares or holdings, which is shown as a part of initial capital, the amount of paid
compensation, including cost directly attributable to redemption, is recognised as a change in capital.
Redeemed shares or holdings are shown as own shares and are deducted from capital.

Dividends
Dividends are recognised as liabilities and are shown when they accrue. They are recognised in the
company’s financial statements in the period of the resolution of the general meeting of shareholders to
pay dividends.

(c) Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed asses are shown at cost, less depreciation and accumulated losses due to impairment.
Acquisition cost thus includes amounts which are directly attributable to the acquisition of assets as
well as capitalised borrowing costs. Parts of tangible fixed assets with different useful lives are shown as
individual tangible fixed assets. After initial recognition of tangible fixed assets, the acquisition cost model
is applied to buildings and equipment and the revaluation model to land. Land is measured according to
revaluation amount which represents the fair value on revaluation date, less subsequently accrued losses
due to impairment. Land is revalued every five years or more often if there are signs of impairment.
If the book value of land increases due to impairment, the increase is recognised directly in the capital
as a revaluation surplus in the statement of comprehensive income. If the book value of land decreases
as a result of revaluation, the revaluation surplus for the same piece of land is reduced. If the decrease
in book value exceeds the accumulated revaluation surplus for the same asset, the difference in such
reduction is also transferred to the profit and loss as expenses. The revaluation surplus for land, which is
an integral part of capital, is transferred directly to retained net profits following derecognition.
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Borrowing costs
In the case of assets under preparation, the company attributes the costs of borrowing directly to
acquisition, construction or manufacturing of the asset in preparation as a part of the acquisition cost of
such asset. The costs of borrowing include interest income and exchange rate differences arising from
foreign-currency denominated loans if they are to be accounted for as a translation of costs into interest.
Other costs of borrowing are recognised in the profit and loss account as expenses for the period in
which they occur.

Subsequent costs
The costs of replacement of a tangible fixed asset are recognised in the book value of such asset
when there is a possibility that the company will be able to avail itself of the future economic benefits
associated with the operation of such asset and when the asset's acquisition costs can be measured
with certainty. All other costs will be recognised in the profit or loss as expenses on accrual.

Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated according to the straight line depreciation method by taking into account the
useful life of individual (component) parts of tangible fixed assets. This method reflects more accurately the
expected model of application of assets. Leased assets are depreciated by taking into account the lease
period and useful life. The estimated useful lives for the current and comparable periods are the following:
•

buildings

•

computer equipment

•

other plant and equipment

20 - 40 years
2 - 4 years
4 - 10 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and other values are re-examined on the reporting date and adjusted
as necessary.
			

(d) Intangible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets comprise long-term deferred development costs, investments in the acquired
industrial property rights (concessions, patents, licences, trademarks, etc.) as well as other rights and
goodwill of the acquired company. The depreciation period and depreciation method for intangible fixed
assets with ultimate useful life are verified at least at the end of each financial year. Initially, intangible
fixed assets are measured at cost. Intangible fixed assets are shown after initial recognition according
to the acquisition cost method, i.e. at cost less depreciation adjustment and accumulated losses arising
from impairment. Depreciation of intangible fixed assets with ultimate useful life is calculated according
to the straight line depreciation method during the estimated useful life of intangible fixed assets.

Research and development
In order to determine whether the asset created within the company satisfies the recognition criteria, the
company allocates the development of assets to:
•

the research stage and

•

the development stage.

Research expenditures associated with the acquisition of any new scientific and technical knowledge and
skills are recognised in the profit and loss account as expenses when they occur.
Development activities include the planning and designing the production of new and considerably better
products and processes. The costs of development are recognised if they can be reliably measured, if
the product or process is technically or commercially feasible, if there is a possibility of future economic
benefits, if the group has the necessary resources for the completion of development and if the Group’s
intention is to use or sell the asset. The recognised expenditure includes the costs of services, material
and other costs that can be attributed directly to the commissioning of assets for the intended use.
Other expenditures are recognised in the profit and loss account as expenses when they occur.
Recognised expenditures for development are shown at cost, less depreciation adjustment and
accumulated losses arising from impairment.
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Other intangible fixed assets
Other intangible fixed assets whose useful lives are restricted are shown at cost, less depreciation
adjustment and accumulated losses arising from impairment.

Subsequent costs
Subsequent expenses associated with intangible fixed assets are capitalised only when they increase
the future economic benefits arising from the assets to which the expenses relate. All other costs will be
recognised in the profit or loss as expenses on accrual.

Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated for the acquisition cost of the asset, i.e. in an amount other than acquisition
cost, less residual value.
Depreciation is recognised in the profit and loss according to the straight line depreciation method
by taking into account the useful life of intangible fixed assets except goodwill and shall begin to be
calculated when the assets are made available for use. This method reflects more accurately the
expected model of taking advantage of the future economic benefits of the assets. The estimated useful
lives for a comparable year are up to three, five and ten years. Depreciation methods, useful lives and
residual values are re-examined at the end of each financial year and adjusted as necessary.

(e) Investment Property
Investment property is held for the purpose of generating or increasing the value of long-term of
investments or both. For this reason, investment property gives rise to cash flows that are strongly
dependent on other assets held by the company. This distinguishes investment property from owner
occupied property which, together with the company’s other assets participates in the manufacture and
supply of goods or the provision of services and the related cash flows.
Investment property is defined as such by assessment. The company Intereuropa considers that parts
of immovable property which is partly given on operating lease and is partly used by Intereuropa d.d. or
individual subsidiaries cannot be sold separately (or given separately on finance lease). For this reason,
this kind of immovable property is considered as fixed assets used in the provision of services. Only
property given on lease in full is recognised as investment property.
After initial recognition, the acquisition cost model is used, according to which investment property is
shown at cost, less depreciation adjustment and eventual losses arising from impairment (the same
model is used for tangible fixed assets). Investment property is depreciated at the same rates as
immovable property within the category of tangible fixed assets.

(f) Leased assets
The lease in which the company assumes all major risks and benefits associated with asset ownership is
treated as finance lease. After initial recognition, leased assets are shown in the amount which equals fair
value or, if the latter is lower, the present value of the lowest lease amount. After initial recognition, assets
on finance lease are depreciated in the same way as other tangible fixed assets.
Other leases are treated as operating leases.

(g) Inventories
Stocks of materials are valued at cost, i.e. the cost consisting of the acquisition price, import duties and
direct acquisition costs. The purchase price is reduced by obtained discounts. Expenses for material are
shown according to the method of weighted average prices.
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(h) Impairment of assets

Financial assets
Financial assets which are not shown in terms of fair value to profit/loss are considered to be impaired
when there is objective evidence that one or several events caused a reduction of the anticipated cash
flows under these assets and that they can be reliably measured.

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries
At the end of each financial year it is estimated whether there are signs of impairment of investments.
If there is any such sign, a replacement value of investments in subsidiaries is determined. The
replacement value of assets represents the fair value of assets less the costs of sales or value in use,
whichever is greater. The estimated value of assets in use represents the present value of estimated
future cash flows based on business forecasts for five or ten years (for each subsequent year, they are
estimated by extrapolating projections) and the estimated present value of assets on disposal. When the
book value of financial assets exceeds their replacement value, financial investments in a subsidiary need
to be impaired. For strategically investments in subsidiaries, the value of assets in use is determined
in accordance with a more complex valuation model within which the sum of discounted cash flows,
residual value and value of synergic effects represent the value of the company’s total capital. The
calculated value of equity is adjusted depending on the purpose and marketability of investments.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables (receivables for supplied services, default interest, etc.) are impaired by making a 100
per cent value adjustment for all receivables older than 180 days from the maturity date of individual
receivables or by assessing the marketability of individual receivables. In the impairment of receivables
in lawsuits, enforcements, bankruptcy and compulsory settlement proceedings, the assessment of
recoverability (assessment of anticipated cash flows) is taken into account in respect of the receivable
category. Exception from this rule applies to receivables from Intereuropa Group companies since operating
receivables from the Group companies or any other receivables in a broader sense from companies within
the Group are subject to value adjustments of receivables only when it is derived from the valuation method
of investments in individual subsidiary and the value of investment is already impaired to 0.
Receivables are written down on the basis of the completed bankruptcy proceedings, approved
compulsory settlements, unsuccessful execution proceedings and established irrecoverability of claims.

Impairment of loans given
When there is objective evidence that a loss occurred due to impairment of loans shown at amortised
cost, the loss amount is measured as a difference between the book value of assets and the present
value of anticipated cash flows discounted at the current original rate of interest. Impairment is also
made on the basis of the management’s assessment of irrecoverability of individual loans.

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets measured at
fair value
Available-for-sale financial assets are impaired when the market price either declines for more than one
year or when the decline exceeds 20 per cent of the assets’ acquisition cost. Losses of investment
securities available for sale are recognised for impairment purposes by transferring accumulated
losses, which are recognised in other comprehensive income for the accounting period and shown in
revaluation surplus, to the profit and loss account. The amount of accumulated losses which is removed
from other comprehensive income and recognised in the profit/loss, represents the difference between
the acquisition cost and the current present value, less the loss arising from impairment, which was
previously recognised in the profit/loss.

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets measured at
acquisition cost
When there is objective evidence that a loss occurred due to impairment of financial assets shown
at cost since their fair value cannot be measured with certainty, the amount of losses arising from
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impairment of investments in subsidiaries is measured as a difference between the book value of financial
assets and their replacement value determined as the present value of anticipated cash flows discounted
at the current market return for similar financial assets. Other investments at cost are impaired when the
book value of such financial investment on the cut-off date exceeds the value of the proportional part
of the book value of the total capital of the company in which the company has its investments by more
than 20 per cent.

Non-financial assets
On each reporting date, the company examines the residual book value of tangible and intangible fixed
assets, except deferred tax claims, in order to determine whether there are any signs of impairment. If
such signs do exist, the assets’ replacement value is determined. Assessment of impairment of goodwill
and intangible fixed assets with unspecified useful life, which are not yet available for use, is made on
each reporting date.
Replacement value of assets or cash generating unit represents their value in use or their fair value less
selling costs, i.e. the greater of such amount. In determining the value of assets in use, the anticipated
cash flows are discounted to their present value at a discount rate before taxation, which reflects the
current market estimates of the time value of the money and risks that are typical of such assets.
For impairment test purposes, assets that cannot be tested individually are classified into the lowest
category of assets which generate cash flows from subsequent use and are mainly independent from
receipts of other assets or asset groups (cash-generating unit).
Impairment of assets of cash-generating units is recognised when their book value exceeds their
replacement value. The cash-generating unit is the smallest group of assets generating cash inflows that
are largely independent from cash inflows from other assets or asset groups. Impairment is shown in the
profit and loss account. The losses recognised to a cash-generating unit due to impairment is allocated
by first reducing the book value of goodwill allocated to a cash-generating unit and to other assets of the
unit (unit group) in proportion to the book value of each asset in the group.
Losses arising from impairment of assets are derecognised for the amount by which the higher book
value of assets remains below their book value that would be determined after deduction of depreciation
writedown if losses arising from impairment had not been recognised for the assets in the previous years.

(i) Long-term assets classified as available-for-sale assets
Long-term assets or group for disposal, which include assets and liabilities (in the category of long-term
assets, this refers to investment property, intangible fixed assets, long-term financial investments, and
in the category of tangible fixed assets only to land and buildings due to their importance) for which it
is expected that their value will be offset particularly by way of disposal and not subsequent use, are
classified as available-for-sale assets whose sale is anticipated to take place no later than within the next
twelve months. There is a high likelihood that they will be sold during the ongoing overall plan and active
programme of finding a customer. It must be accompanied by active marketing of assets and efforts
to achieve a price that corresponds to the current fair value of assets. Assets (or component parts or
groups for disposal) are subjected to a new measurement in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policies immediately before assets are classified as available-for-sale assets. Long-term assets (or
groups for disposal) are recognised accordingly at their book or fair values, less the costs of sale, i.e. the
lower of their amount.
Due to specific events and circumstances that are beyond the company’s control, and there is sufficient
evidence that the company consistently implements its plan of disposal of assets, the period of
termination of the sale can be extended beyond one year. When available-for-sale assets no longer
comply with the criteria for classification as available-for-sale assets, they should be reclassified into
another asset group, i.e. into the same group as before classification as available-for-sale assets.

(j) Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits
Liabilities for short-term employee benefits are measured without discounting and are shown as
expenses after the work of employees associated with a particular short-term benefit is completed.
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(k) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the company has legal or indirect liabilities arising from a past event
and such liabilities can be assessed with certainty and there is a high degree of probability that the
settlement of such liabilities will require elimination of factors that generate economic benefits. Amounts
shown as provisions represent the best possible assessment of expenses necessary to meet the existing
obligations on the date of the statement of financial position. The best possible assessment of provisions
requires risks and uncertainties that inevitably accompany the numerous events and circumstances.
Where the effect of the time value of money is essential, the amount of provisions is the present value of
expenses anticipated as necessary to settle the liability.

Provisions for termination benefits on retirement and longservice bonuses
The company is bound to pay long service bonuses and termination benefits to employees on their
retirement in accordance with legislation, the collective agreement and the company’s internal rules. For
this purpose, they create long-term provisions. There are no other pension-related liabilities. Provisions
are created in the amount of the estimated future payments for termination and long service bonuses,
discounted at actuarial calculation date. Actuarial calculation is made in the event of a significant change
in the assumptions used by actuary in his latest calculation or in the number of employees or every five
years. In the mean time, provisions are reversed in the amount of the actually incurred costs.
Provisions are recognised in the books and in financial statements by including appropriate costs or
expenses. They are directly reduced by the amount of costs of expenses for the offset of which they
were created. It means that such costs or expenses no longer appear in the profit and loss account
during the financial year.
Provisions are derecognised on the books when the possibilities for which they were created no longer
exist or such provisions are no longer necessary. Income is recognised on the basis of derecognition of
provisions. At the end of the accounting period, provisions are adjusted so that their value equals the
present value of expenses which are anticipated as necessary to settle the liability.
The Group’s long-term deferred income includes donations received for acquisition of fixed assets and
meeting certain expenses. They are intended for covering the costs of depreciation of these assets and
certain expenses and are used by transfer to operating income.

(l) Income
Income is recognised when there is a probability that the company will avail itself of economic benefits
that can be reliably measured. In this case, the following criteria should be satisfied:
1. It should be possible to measure the income amount with certainty,
2. Probability that the company will be able to avail itself of economic benefits associated with the transaction,
3. The level of completeness of the transaction on the date of the statement of financial position should
be reliably measured,
4. The costs arising in respect of the transaction and costs of completion of the transaction should be
reliably measured.

Income from services rendered
Income from services rendered is recognised in the profit and loss account in respect of the
completeness level of the transaction at the end of the reporting period. The completeness level is
determined by examining the costs incurred (inspection of the work done). Income from services
rendered is measured in terms of selling prices of services rendered which are indicated in invoices or
other documents or in terms of prices of incomplete services depending on the completeness level. It
is estimated that, in the cases where a particular transaction is not yet completed on the date of the
statement of financial position, the outcome of the transaction cannot be reliably estimated. Amounts
collected on behalf of persons such as the charged value added tax and other levies are not included
in sales revenues. At the moment of sale, revenues from sales are reduced by discounts granted which
are shown in invoices or other documents, followed by the sales value of returned goods sold and
subsequently granted discounts.
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State assistance
State assistance received to cover expenses is recognised with strict consistency as revenues in the
period in which the expenses concerned occur. State assistance associated with assets is recognised
in the profit and loss account with strict consistency as other operating income during the useful life of
individual assets.

(m) Leases
Operating lease payments are recognised in equal shares during the lease term. Financial expenses are
allocated to the periods during the lease term in order to achieve a fixed rate of interest for the remaining
portion of the debt for each period.

(n) Financial income and financial expenses
Financial income comprises interest income, investment income, dividend income, and income from
disposal of available-for-sale financial assets, changes in the fair value of fair value financial assets to
the operating profit/loss, foreign exchange gains and gains from risk hedging instruments, which are
recognised in the profit and loss account. Interest income is recognised on accrual basis by using the
effective interest rate method. Dividend income is recognised in the profit and loss account on the date
of exercise of shareholder's right to payment, which is, in exchange-listed companies, normally the date
when the right to current dividend payment ceases to be associated with shares.
Financial expenses comprise the costs of borrowing, foreign exchange losses, and changes in the fair
value of fair value financial assets to operating profit/loss, loss arising from impairment of financial assets
and loss on risk hedging instruments, which are recognised in the profit and loss account. The costs of
borrowing are recognised in the profit and loss account according to the effective interest method.
The costs of borrowing include interest expenses according to the effective interest rate method,
financial charges for finance leases and exchange rate differences arising from foreign currencydenominated loans when they are treated as a conversion of interest expenses. The costs of borrowing
immediately attributable to acquisition, construction, manufacture of assets under preparation are a part
of the acquisition cost of such assets. Other costs of borrowing are recognised in the profit and loss
account as expenses for the period in which they occur.

(o) Tax on profit
Tax on profit or loss for the financial year includes the assessed tax and deferred tax. Tax on profit is
shown in the profit and loss account except in the part relating to items that are shown directly and
actually in capital and is therefore shown in other comprehensive income.
Assessed tax is calculated in compliance with the current tax legislation as at the date of the statement
of financial position. The financial year is a business year which coincides with the tax year.
Deferred tax is shown by taking into account the temporary differences between the book value of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and amounts for the tax reporting purposes.
The following temporary differences are not taken into consideration: goodwill in the case it does not
represent an income recognised for tax purposes, initial recognition of assets and liabilities which affects
neither the accounting nor the taxable profit, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries
and jointly controlled subsidiaries in the amount for which there is a high probability that it will not be
eliminated in the foreseeable future. Moreover, deferred tax is not recognised for the purpose of taxable
temporary differences occurring on the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred tax is shown in the amount in which it is expected to be paid on reversal of temporary
differences pursuant to the legislation in force or essentially in force at the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax liability is recognised to the extent of likelihood of availability of future taxable profit against
which the deferred liability can be charged in future. Deferred tax liabilities are reduced by the amount for
which claiming a tax relief associated with assets will no longer be likely.
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(p) Discontinued operations
Discontinued operations are an integral part of the company, which is disposed of or classified into
available-for-sale assets and which represents a major independent programme in the field or area
of business, or which is a subsidiary acquired solely for the purpose of resale. Classification into
discontinued operations is carried out on disposal or when the conditions are met for classification into
available-for-sale assets, whichever comes first.

(r) Net profit per share
The company discloses the basic and adjusted return on shares for its ordinary shares. The basic
yield on shares is calculated by dividing the profit or loss pertaining to ordinary shareholders by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in the financial year. Adjusted yield on shares is calculated
by adjusting the profit or loss pertaining to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in a financial year to gain the effect of all dilutive options of ordinary shares representing
convertible bonds and share options for employees. The company owns no dilutive potential ordinary
shares and shows the same value for basic and adjusted yields on shares.

(s) Business combinations under joint management
Business combinations under joint management (these are business combinations in which all
companies that join together are ultimately managed by a single party or parties both before and after
the creation of a business combination, and this kind of management is not provisional) are recognised
under the integration method. Assets and liabilities assumed are recognised at book value which is
already shown in the consolidated financial statements of the parent company.

(t) Changes in standards and interpretations in 2010
In the current period, the following changes in the existing standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and adopted by the EU:
•

IFRS 1 – Revised – “First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards”, adopted by
the EU on 25 November 2009 (effective for annual periods commencing 1 January 2010 or later).

•

IFRS 3 – Revised – “Business Combinations”, adopted by the EU on 3 June 2009 (effective for annual periods commencing 1 July 2009 or later).

•

IFRS 1 (amended 2008), “First-time Adoption of IFRS – Additional Exemptions for First-time Adopters”, adopted by the EU on 23 June 2010 (effective for annual periods commencing 1 January 2010
or later),

•

IFRS 2 (amended) “Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions”, adopted by the EU on
23 March 2010 (effective for annual periods commencing 1 January 2010 or later),

•

IAS 27 – Amended – “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements”, adopted by the EU on 3
June 2009 (effective for annual periods commencing 1 July 2009 or later).

•

IAS 39 – Amended – ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” – Eligible Hedged
Items, adopted by the EU on 15 September 2009 (effective for annual periods commencing 1 July
2009 or later).

The amended standard describes in greater detail the application of the existing principles that determine
whether special forms of cash flow risk reflect the hedge ratios. In order to reflect the hedge ratio, the
risks or parts should be recognised and measured separately; however, inflation cannot be determined
except in limited circumstances.
•

Changes in various standards and amendments issued in May 2008 (IAS 1, IAS 16, IAS 23, IAS 38,
IFRS 5, IFRS 7, IAS 7; IAS 8;IAS 10, IAS 19, IAS 20, IAS 27, IAS 28, IAS 29; IAS 31, IAS 32, IAS 34,
IAS 36, IAS 39, IAS 40, IAS 41).

•

Changes in various standards and interpretations “Improvements to IFRS (2009)” arising from the
annual project for improvement of IFRS published on 16 April 2009 (IFRS 2, IFRS 5, IFRS 8, IAS 1,
IAS 7, IAS 17, IAS 18, IAS 36, IAS 38, IAS 39, IFRIC 9 in IFRIC 16), particularly for the purpose of
addressing inconsistencies and interpretation of the text, and which were adopted by the EU on 23
March 2010 (effective for annual periods commencing on 1 January of later),

•

Changes in various standards and interpretations »Improvements to IFRS (May 2010) (IFRS 3, IFRS
7, IAS 27, IFRIC 13) – these changes begin to apply after 1 July 2010 or 1 January 2011
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•

IFRIC 12 – “Service Concession Arrangements”, adopted by the EU on 25 March 2009 (effective for
annual periods commencing 1 March 2009 or later).
The interpretation is intended for privately owned companies in connection with recognising and
measuring issues arising in the accounting treatment of concession arrangements for services in the
public-private area.

•

IFRIC 15 – “Arrangements for the Construction of Real Estate”, adopted by the EU on 22 July 2009
(effective for annual periods commencing 1 January 2010 or later).
The interpretation more accurately determines that income arising from real estate construction
contracts are recognised in respect of the level of completeness of the contractual activities in the
following cases:
1. the contract complies with the definition of the construction contract according to IAS 11.3;
2. the contract applies only to the performance of services according to IAS 18 (e.g. a company
does not need to supply building materials); and
3. the contract is intended for the sale of goods, and income is recognised promptly during construction according to IAS 18.14.
In all other cases, income is recognised when all conditions of income recognition as provided for by
IAS 18.14 (e.g. after the completed construction or after delivery) are satisfied.

•

IFRIC 16 – “Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation”, adopted by the EU on 4 June 2009
(effective for annual periods commencing 1 July 2009 or later).

•

IFRIC 17 – “Distribution of Non-Cash Assets to Owners”, adopted by the EU on 26 November 2009
(effective for annual periods commencing 1 November 2009 or later).
This interpretation applies to unilateral payment of non-cash assets to owners. In accordance with
the interpretation, the obligation to pay dividends is recognised when dividends are duly approved
and are no longer the object of assessment by the company, and is measured at fair value of assets
paid out. The book value of dividends is measured again on the reporting date, and the change in
book value is recognised in capital as adjustment of the amount of payment. Once the liability to pay
dividend is settled, the eventual difference between the book value of assets and the book value of
dividends is recognised in the profit/loss.

•

IFRIC 18 – “Transfers of Assets from Customers”, adopted by the EU on 27 November 2009 (effective for annual periods commencing 1 November 2009 or later).
The adoption of changes in the existing standards did not result in any major changes in accounting
policies, the company’s operation and financial position.

Standards and notes issued by IFRIC and adopted by the EU
but still not valid
As at the date of approval of financial statements, the following standards, adjustments and
interpretations adopted by the EU but are still not valid:
•

IAS 24 – Amended – “Related party disclosures to simplify the disclosure requirements for government-related entities and to clarify the definition of a related party”, adopted by the EU on 19 July
2010 (effective for annual periods commencing 1 January 2011 or later),

•

IAS 32 – Amended – ‘Financial Instruments: Presentation” – Accounting for share-related rights,
adopted by the EU on 23 December 2009 (effective for annual periods commencing 1 January 2011
or later).
In accordance with this amendment, the rights, options and subscription warrants for acquisition
of a certain number of own equity instruments of the company in return for a specified amount in
any currency represent equity instruments when the company offers its existing same-class owners
proportional rights, options or subscription warrants of own non-derivative equity instruments.

•

IFRS 1 (amended 2008), “First-time Adoption of IFRS – Limited exemptions from comparative IFRS
7 disclosures for First-time Adopters “, adopted by the EU on 30 June 2010 (effective for annual
periods commencing 1 July 2010 or later),

•

IFRIC 14 – “IAS 19 – “The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,. Minimum Funding. Requirements and
their Interaction” – Prepayments of a minimum funding requirement adopted by the EU on 19 July
2010 (effective for annual periods commencing 1 January 2011 or later).

•

IFRIC 19 – “Settlement of Financial Liabilities by Equity Instruments”, adopted by the EU on 23 July
2010 (effective for annual periods commencing 1 July 2010 or later).

The company estimates that changes in the existing standards and interpretations in the period of initial
application will have no major impact on the financial statements.
It should also be noted that IFRIC published a number of accounting changes and interpretations; however,
they were not approved by the EU to the date of the preparation of this document. The company will be
obliged to comply with these standards if they are adopted:
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•

IFRC 9 – Financial instruments
This standard replaces IAS 39 and is effective and mandatory or annual periods commencing 1 January 2013. The first part of the standard which has been adopted so far sets new requirements for
classification and measurement of financial assets.

•

IFRC 7 – Amended – Financial Instruments: Disclosure to improve the transparency of disclosures in
transfer of financial assets
This amendment was published in October 2010, It facilitates understanding of consequences of
financial assets and the possible risks to which the transferor is exposed.

•

IAS 34 – Interim Financial Reporting
It applies to the periods commencing after 1 January 2011. Amendments provide users with instructions for preparation of disclosures in accordance with IFRS 34; new disclosure are also included.

•

IAS 12 – Deferred tax (Amended)
The change will become effective for annual periods commencing on or after 1 January 2012. This
amendment relates to the determination of deferred taxation for investment property valued at fair
value. The purpose of this change is to include a) an assumption that deferred taxation for investment property valued at fair value in accordance with IAS 40 should be determined on the basis of
an assumption that the book value of investment property will be restored with the sale, and b) a
requirement to defer taxation for assets which are not depreciated but are valued according to the
revaluation model IAS 16, which is always measured on the basis of the sales value of such assets.

IV. Fair value determination
In accordance with accounting policies and breakdowns, fair value needs to be determined in a number
of cases for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values of individual asset groups for
measuring and reporting purposes were determined according to the methods shown below. Wherever
additional clarifications are needed in connection with assumptions for determining the fair values, they
are provided in the breakdown of individual assets and liability items of the company.

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets – land is recognised according to the revaluation method. For recognition
purposes, land is measured at the revalued amount, which represents the fair value on revaluation
date (the estimated value at which land could be exchanged on the valuation date and after proper
marketing activities in an arm's length transaction between the willing seller and the willing buyer, on
the assumption that the parties to the transaction are well informed and act reasonably and without
coercion. Land is revalued every five years or more often if there are signs of impairment.

Intangible fixed assets
The fair value of patents and trademarks acquired through business combinations is based on the
estimated discounted future value of license fees the payment of which will not be necessary due to the
patent or trademark ownership.

Investments in equity and debt securities
The fair value of fair value financial assets to profit/loss, financial assets held until maturity and
available-for-sale financial assets is determined in respect of the offered purchase price at the end of
the reporting period.
The calculation of the replacement value of investments in subsidiaries took into account the projections
of future cash flows in the period 2010-2014. The calculation of the weighted average price of capital
was based on the target debt/equity ratio with regard to the past experience of monitoring financial
stability of subsidiaries.

Operating and other receivables
It is estimated that the presented value of operating receivables reflects the fair value, and the value of
other receivables is calculated as the present value of future cash flows discounted at the market rate of
interest at the end of the reporting period.
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Derivative financial instruments
The fair value of forward contracts equals their offered market price at the end of the reporting period
if available. If it is not, the fair value is determined as a difference between the contract value of a
forward transaction and the current offered value for the forward transaction by taking into account the
transactions other maturities with a non-risk rate of interest. The fair value of interest rate swap equals
its market price on the reporting date.

Basic financial obligations
Fair value is determined for reporting purposes on the basis of the present value of future payments of
principal and interest discounted at the market rate of interest at the end of the reporting period.

V. Financial risk management
The management laid down the risk management policies in its risk management rules. A risk
management committee was established with the responsibilities for the development and supervision of
implementation of the risk management policies.

Credit risk
The credit risk means that the company will suffer a financial loss if a customer or a party to a financial
instrument agreement fail to comply with their contractual obligations. The credit risk arises particularly
from the company's trade receivables.

Operating and other receivables
The company's exposure to credit risk depends particularly on the characteristics of individual
customers. However, the management also takes into account the demographics of the company's
customer base and the customers' risk of insolvency from the viewpoint of the line of business and
country in which the customers have their operations since these factors can influence the credit risk,
particularly in the current adverse economic circumstances.
The policies are defined so that a creditworthiness analysis is carried out for each new major customer
before it is offered the standard terms of payment and supply. The company makes a value adjustment
for impairments which represents the amount of estimated losses from operating and other receivables
and investments. The main components of this value adjustment are the specific portion of the loss from
individual major investments and the general part of the loss where adjustment is made for groups of
similar assets due to the losses already incurred but not yet defined.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the company will not be able to meet its financial liabilities which are settled
by cash or other financial assets.
The company provides liquidity by always having sufficient liquid assets to meet its liabilities in due time,
both in normal and extraordinary circumstances, in order to avoid unacceptable losses and risking the
loss of reputation.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk of change in market prices such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
equity instruments, which could affect the company's revenues or the value of its financial instruments.
The purpose of market risk management is to manage and control the exposure to market risks within
reasonable limits by optimising, at the same time, the Group's profits. The company trades in financial
instruments and assumes financial liabilities, both with a view to managing its exposure to market risks.
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Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss resulting from a wide range of reasons associated
with ongoing processes in the company, its staff, technology and infrastructure as well as from
external factors unrelated to the credit, market and liquidity risks, such as, among other things, the
risks arising from legal and regulatory requirements and the generally accepted corporation standards.
Operational risks arise from the company's overall operations. The company's objective is to manage its
operational risks by setting up a balance between the avoidance of financial losses and of the potential
damage to the company's reputation and the overall cost effectiveness as well as by avoiding control
procedures that inhibit or restrict self-initiative and creativity. The key responsibility for the development
and institution of controls for operational risk management rests with the senior management of each
business unit.
The company's compliance with standards is supported by a programme of regular reviews carried
out by the internal audit service. Internal audit results are discussed with the management of the
business unit concerned and summary results are submitted to the company's management and to the
audit committee.

Management of capital
The Supervisory Board monitors all major return on equity indicators of the company as well as the
amount of dividends paid to ordinary shareholders. The parent company is not subject to capital
requirements set by external bodies.

VI. Cash flow statement
The company's cash flow statement shows the movement of cash inflows and outflows by taking into
account the indirect method for the accounting period and clarifies the changes in cash balances. The
data from the profit and loss account for 2010, items of statements of financial position of the company
as at 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009, and additional necessary data were taken into
account in the preparation of the cash flow statement.
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NOTES TO THE PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
NOTE 1: Sales revenues
Sales revenues totalling EUR 96,427,000 represent income from services rendered.
Table 7 |
Sales revenues

(in EUR 000)
2010

Revenues from disposal of group companies

2009

4,164

4,373

Revenues from sales to others

92,263

95,613

Total sales revenues

96,427

99,986

NOTE 2: Other operating income
Table 8 |
Other operating income

Profit from disposal of tangible fixed assets
Income from reversal of provisions
Other operating income
Total other operating income

(in EUR 000)
2010

2009

4,444

105

223

149

92

93

4,759

347

NOTE 3: Costs of services
Table 9 |
Costs of services

(in EUR 000)
2010

2009

6,020

9,468

Costs of services (other than within the group)

61,913

62,945

•

Direct costs

54,667

55,852

•

Costs of telephone

363

382

•

Costs of maintenance

1,856

977

•

Insurance premiums

679

638

•

Costs of training

•

Other costs of services

Costs of services within the group

Total costs of services

46

79

4,302

5,017

67,933

72,414

Direct costs represent the costs which are directly associated with the provision of services.
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NOTE 4: Labour costs
Table 10 |
Labour costs

(in EUR 000)
2010

2009

Costs of wages and salaries

13,627

15,224

Costs of pension insurance

1,655

1,981

Other social insurance costs

1,027

1,149

Other labour costs

3,286

4,183

622

884

2,047

2,211

•

Holiday allowance

•

Commuting and meal allowance

•

Non-labour costs

Total labour costs

617

1,088

19,595

22,537

NOTE 5: Depreciation
Table 11 |
Depreciation

(in EUR 000)
2010

Depreciation of intangible fixed assets

2009

476

31

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets and investment property

4,707

4,430

Depreciation

5,183

4,461

NOTE 6: Other operating expenses
Table 12 |
Other operating expenses

Costs of materials
Loss on disposal of tangible fixed assets

(in EUR 000)
2010

2009

2,123

2,058

148

26

Impairment of tangible fixed assets

2,176

14,293

Charge for the use of building land and similar expenses

1,002

1,027

Other operating expenses
Total other operating expenses

572

470

6,022

17,874

Impairment of tangible fixed assets almost entirely (EUR 2,161,000) relates to impairment of tangible
fixed assets under construction and preparation associated with the construction of the logistics centre
in Tchekhov.
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NOTE 7: Financial income and expenses
Table 13 |
Financial income and expenses

Interest income from group companies
Interest income from others

(in EUR 000)
2010

2009

4,442

6,442

328

503

1,166

1,216

Income from participations in jointly controlled company

47

109

Income from dividends and participations in profit of others

11

61

Profit from disposal of financial investments

177

1,579

Income from derivative financial instruments

0

424

566

290

Income from group participations

Income from elimination of value adjustments of receivables and recovered
receivables written off
Income from debts written off
Total financial income
Interest expenses
Financial expenses for impairments and writedowns
of financial investments within the group
Financial expenses for impairments and writedowns of other financial investments
Expenses for derivative financial instruments
Net exchange rate differences

4

8

6,741

10,632

-9,206

-8,071

-29,046

-59,757

0

-681

-3,502

-444

-11

-11

Expenses for value adjustment and writedown of receivables

-14,642

-1,392

Total financial expenses

-56,407

-70,356

Profit/loss from financing activities

-49,666

-59,724

High financial expenses were due to expenses arising from impairment of financial investments in
subsidiaries totalling EUR 29,046,000: Impairment of investments in the company Intereuropa - East
Ltd., Moscow (EUR 23,358,000) and investments in the company Intereuropa Transport, d.o.o., Koper
(EUR 5,688,000). The calculation of the replacement value took into consideration the forecasts from
projections for the period 2010-2014, and the discount rate was based on the weighted average of the
costs of capital (10.91 per cent to 12.43 per cent) and a 1.5 per cent annual rate of growth.

NOTE 8: Tax on profit
Tax loss was identified for the financial year. Deferred taxation totalled EUR 815,000 (relating mainly to
deferred tax income for tax loss).
The tax rate for 2010 and for deferred tax calculation was 20 per cent. In a comparable year, the tax rate
was 21 per cent and the deferred tax rate 20 per cent.
Table 14 |
Adjustment to the effective tax rate

(in EUR 000)
2010

2009

0

0

Deferred taxation

815

2,700

Total tax on profit

815

2,700

-47,213

-74,052

Taxation

Profit before taxation
Tax charged at the prescribed rate

9,442

15,551

-9,224

-13,096

Tax on income which reduces the tax base

308

320

Tax on other items

289

-75

Total tax on profit

815

2,700

-1.73 %

-3.65 %

Tax on expenses not recognised for tax purposes

Effective tax rate
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NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT
31 DECEMBER 2010
NOTE 9: Tangible fixed assets
Table 15 |
Movement of tangible fixed assets in 2010

(in EUR 000)

Land

Buildings

Other
installations
and equipment

Tangible fixed
assets under
construction

Total

Acquisition cost
As at 1/1/2010

108,087

105,779

22,655

2,257

238,778

Increase due to merger
of the subsidiary

0

0

4,811

0

4,812

Acquisition

0

0

0

421

421

Capitalisation
Disposals
Transfers
Fair value revaluation
As at 31/12/2010

0

121

378

-498

0

-5,483

-5,457

-2,062

-14

-13,016

0

0

0

0

0

-2,174

0

0

0

-2,174

100,430

100,443

25,782

2,166

228,821

Value adjustment
As at 1/1/2010

-14,293

-44,386

-17,205

0

-75,885

Increase due to merger
of the subsidiary

0

0

-3,705

0

-3,704

Depreciation

0

-2,586

-1,904

0

-4,490

Disposals

0

1,767

2,006

0

3,772

Impairment

0

0

0

-2,161

-2,161

-14,293

-45,205

-20,808

-2,161

-82,468

As at 1/1/2010

93,794

61,393

5,450

2,257

162,893

As at 31/12/2010

86,137

55,237

4,973

6

146,353

As at 31/12/2010
Book value
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Table 16 |
Movement of tangible fixed assets in 2009

(in EUR 000)

Land

Buildings

Other
installations
and
equipment

Tangible fixed
assets under
construction

Advances for
acquisition
of tangible
fixed assets

Total

Acquisition cost
As at 1/1/2009

37,084

105,175

24,509

2,262

0

169,030

Acquisition

0

0

0

838

22

860

Capitalisation

0

406

459

-865

0

0

-50

-7

-2,313

0

0

-2,370

Disposals
Transfers

206

205

0

22

-22

411

70,847

0

0

0

0

70,847

108,087

105,779

22,655

2,257

0

238,778

As at 1/1/2009

0

-41,761

-17,619

0

0

-59,380

Depreciation

0

-2,629

-1,580

0

0

-4,209

Strengthenings
As at 31/12/2009
Value adjustment

Disposals

0

4

1,994

0

0

1,998

Impairments

-14,293

0

0

0

0

-14,293

As at 31/12/2009

-14,293

-44,386

-17,205

0

0

-75,885

As at 1/1/2009

37,084

63,414

6,890

2,262

0

109,650

As at 31/12/2009

93,794

61,393

5,450

2,257

0

162,893

Book value

In the period under review, tangible fixed assets increased by new acquisitions
(EUR 421,000) and merger of the subsidiary Intereuropa IT d.o.o. (EUR 1,107,000), and decreased on
account of disposals (EUR 9,243,000), depreciation (EUR 4,490,000), fair value revaluation of land (EUR
2,174,000), and impairments (EUR 2,161,000). Land was revalued according to the comparable sales
method. The last land valuation was performed by an independent valuer at the end of 2009.
With the use of the acquisition cost model, the book value of land on 31 December 2010 would be EUR
22,402,000.
On the balance sheet cut-off date, the company pledged its tangible fixed assets as a collateral for loans
received in the total amount of EUR 178,991, 000, other financial liabilities totalling EUR 4,000,000, and
contingent liabilities totalling EUR 23,043,000. There were no other legal restrictions on the company's
free disposal of its tangible fixed assets.
On the reporting date, the book value of mortgaged immovable property was EUR 139,049,000.
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NOTE 10: Investment property
Table 17 |
Movement of investment property

(in EUR 000)
2010

2009

8,690

9,253

0

-563

8,690

8,690

-2,355

-2,172

-217

-220

0

37

-2,572

-2,355

As at 1 January

6,335

7,081

As at 31 December

6,118

6,335

Acquisition cost
As at 1 January
Transfers to tangible fixed assets and
available-for-sale assets
As at 31 December
Value adjustment
As at 1 January
Depreciation
Transfers to tangible fixed assets and
available-for-sale assets
As at 31 December
Book value

In spite of a decline in the property market prices, market values of investment property in 2010 were
higher than their book values as at 31 December 2010 (estimated at up to 15 per cent). It was, therefore,
estimated that there were no indicators of eventual impairment.

Table 18 |
Income and expenses from investment property

Income from leases and investment property
Direct operating expenses for investment property

(in EUR 000)
2010

2009

1,265

1,589

-413

-736

Profit from disposal of investment property

3,699

0

Total

4,551

853
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NOTE 11: Intangible fixed assets
Table 19 |
Movement of intangible fixed assets in 2010

(in EUR 000)
Long-term
property rights

Long-term deferred
development costs

Total

1,022

3,674

4,696

128

150

278

4,595

0

4,595

-37

0

-37

5,708

3,824

9,532

-110

0

-110

-1,914

0

-1,914

-476

0

-476

37

0

37

-2,463

0

-2,463

912

3,674

4,586

3,245

3,824

7,069

Acquisition cost
As at 1/1/2010
Acquisition
Increase from the merger of the subsidiary
Disposals
As at 31/12/2010
Value adjustment
As at 1/1/2010
Increase from the merger of the subsidiary
Depreciation
Disposals
As at 31/12/2010
Book value
As at 1/1/2010
As at 31/12/2010

Long-term deferred development costs represent mainly investments in the development of IT solution to
support integrated logistics services.

Table 20 |
Movement of intangible fixed assets in 2009

(in EUR 000)
Long-term
property rights

Long-term deferred
development costs

Total

1,022

3,049

4,071

0

625

625

1,022

3,674

4,696

Acquisition cost
As at 1/1/2009
Acquisition
As at 31/12/2009
Value adjustment
As at 1/1/2009

-79

0

-79

Depreciation

-31

0

-31

-110

0

-110

As at 31/12/2009
Book value
As at 1/1/2009

943

3,049

3,992

As at 31/12/2009

912

3,674

4,586

There are no restrictions on free disposal of intangible fixed assets by the company.

NOTE 12: Other long-term operating assets
Other long-term operating assets almost entirely relate to deferred incidental costs of borrowing (costs
incurred in connection with loan agreements, such as fees paid to representatives, advisors, etc.) which
are transferred to expenses in proportion to the elapsed time and in respect of the outstanding amount
of the principal.
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NOTE 13: Loans and deposits given
Table 21 |
Structure of loans

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

Long-term loans given

36,473

20,788

•

to subsidiaries

36,454

20,749

•

to others

19

39

Short-term loans and deposits given

33,337

82,332

•

to subsidiaries

33,321

81,288

•

to others

16

44

•

deposits

0

1,000

69,810

103,120

Total loans given

Table 22 |
Movement of long-term loans given

Opening balance
New loans
Rescheduling of loans
Transfer from the short-term portion
Repayments

(in EUR 000)
2010

2009

20,788

34,879

4,439

18,910

17,839

0

361

406

-329

-23,804

Transfer to the short-term portion

-6,625

-9,603

Closing balance

36,473

20,788

Table 23 |
Long-term loans given, by maturity

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

Maturing after 1 to 2 years

6,927

4,824

Maturing after 2 to 3 years

6,604

5,293

Maturing after 3 to 4 years

5,969

4,992

Maturing after 4 to 5 years

5,969

1,393

Maturing after 5 years

11,004

4,286

Total

36,473

20,788

Table 24 |
Long-term loans given, by security

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

Secured

1,260

2,886

•

Bills of exchange

1,260

2,879

•

Other

0

7

Unsecured

35,213

17,902

Total

36,473

20,788
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Table 25 |
Short-term loans given, by security

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

Secured

1,729

3,468

•

Bills of exchange

1,729

3,461

•

Other

0

7

Unsecured

31,608

77,864

Total

33,337

81,332

NOTE 14: Other financial investments

Investments in subsidiaries
The decline in the value of investments in the Group was due to the following:
•

impairment of investments totalling EUR 23,358,000 (EUR 23,358,000 in the company Intereuropa
- East Ltd., Moscow) and investments in the company Intereuropa Transport, d.o.o., Koper (EUR
5,688,000).

•

acquisition of the subsidiary Intereuropa IT d.o.o, (EUR 2,188,000).

On the reporting date, the book value of mortgaged immovable property was EUR 10,186,000.

Table 26 |
Movement of investments in subsidiaries

As at 1 January

(in EUR 000)
2010

2009

82,032

83,041

Increase
Inclusion of new companies

0

30

Acquisitions

0

58,719

Fair value revaluations

0

0

Total increases

0

58,749

Decrease
Disposal

0

-105

Writedown

0

-1,001

-29,046

-58,651

-2,188

0

-31,235

-59,757

50,797

82,032

Impairment of financial investment
Decrease due to the merger of the
subsidiary with the parent company
Total decreases
As at 31 December
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Available-for-sale financial assets
Table 27 |
Movement of available-for-sale financial assets

As at 1 January

(in EUR 000)
2010

2009

3,728

6,406

0

58

Increase
Acquisitions
Reversal of impairment
Fair value revaluation
Total increases

60

0

0

359

60

417

Decrease
Disposal

-169

-2,893

Impairment

0

-144

Transfer

0

-58

Fair value revaluation
Total decreases
As at 31 December

-30

0

-199

-3,095

3,589

3,728

The book value of available-for-sale financial assets measured at fair value was EUR 1,191,000. No
assets were sold in 2010. The book value of available-for-sale financial assets measured at acquisition
cost was EUR 2,398,000. They represented investments in holdings and shares of companies without
published market price on the active market; therefore, their value was measures at cost since their
actual value could not be measured with reliable accuracy. The profit from disposal of these investments
totalled EUR 103,000 in 2010.
On 31 December 2010, the company had no available-for-sale financial assets pledged as security for
liabilities that are recognised in the statement of financial position or for contingent liabilities.

Jointly controlled company
This investment category only includes the investment in the jointly controlled company IntereuropaFLG, d.o.o., Letališka 35, Ljubljana, which is 50 per cent owned by the company. The book value of the
investment totalled EUR 75,000 and was the same as on the comparable balance sheet date.

NOTE 15: Available-for-sale assets
Available-for-sale assets totalling EUR 3,684,000 on 31 December 2010 and relating to investment
property intended for sale were sold in full.
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NOTE 16: Short-term operating receivables
Table 28 |
Short-term operating receivables

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

Short-term trade receivables within the Group
Short-term interest receivables from Group companies

1,076

1,795

806

10,318

Other short-term operating receivables from Group companies
Short-term trade receivables (other than within the Group)

28

0

23,436

26,146

1

1

383

435

Other short-term interest receivables
Other short-term operating receivables
Other short-term assets
Total short-term operating receivables

31/12/2009

65

111

25,795

38,806

Table 29 |
Movement of value adjustment of short-term trade receivables (except within the Group)

(in EUR 000)

2010

2009

3,363

2,641

- receivables written off

-486

-294

- recovered receivables and discounts

-504

-259

885

1,275

3,258

3,363

Value adjustment of receivables as at 1 January

+ additional increase in value adjustment
Value adjustment of trade receivables as at 31 December

Table 30 |
Movement of value adjustment of interest receivables

(in EUR 000)
2010

Value adjustment of interest receivables as at 1 January

2009

38

38

+ increase in value adjustment

13,652

1,275

Value adjustment of interest receivables as at 31 December

13,690

1,313

The effect of value adjustment of receivables in 2010 is shown in expenses for value adjustments and
writedowns of receivables in Note 7. Expenses for value adjustments and writedowns of receivables totalled EUR 14,642,000, of which EUR 885,000 expenses for value adjustments of trade receivables and
EUR 13,652,000 value adjustments of interest receivables. The difference of EUR 13,652,000 represent
direct writedowns of trade receivables.
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Table 31 |
Structure of short-term trade receivables by maturity

(in EUR 000)

Gross amount as
at 31/1/2010
Unmatured

Value adjustment
as at 31/12/2010

Gross amount as
at 31/12/2009

Value adjustment
as at 31/12/2009

18,051

0

20,126

0

Maturing in 0 to 30 days

4,477

15

3,225

7

Maturing in 31 to 90 days

1,126

25

2,084

19

126

181

663

163

Maturing in 91 to 180 days
Maturing after 181 days
Short-term trade receivables

2,914

3,037

3,411

3,174

26,694

3,258

29,509

3,363

The major part of receivables maturing after 181 days is subject to litigations (enforcements, lawsuits,
bankruptcy and compulsory settlement proceedings).
Exposure of trade receivables to various types of risks is managed by means of the Group's own credit
rating system for local customers and by verifying credit ratings obtained for foreign customers from
specialised organisations. On the basis of the obtained information, customers with lower credit ratings
are required to provide a collateral (bills of exchange, bank guarantees, mortgages, real property liens
and sureties.

NOTE 17: Cash assets
The company's cash assets totalled EUR 155,000. They consist of cash in bank, call deposits and cash
in hand. The reasons for increases and decreases in cash assets in 2010 are shown in the cash flow
statement.

NOTE 18: Capital

Initial capital
Initial capital of the parent company Intereuropa d.d. is EUR 32,976,000 is divided into 7,902,413
ordinary freely transferable non-par value shares.
All shares are fully paid up. Each non-par value share accounts for the same proportion and
corresponding amount in the company's initial capital. The proportion of each non-par value share in the
company’s initial capital is determined according to the number of issued non-par value shares. Non-par
value shares are indivisible.
Pursuant to the resolution of the general meeting of shareholders, the company's authorised and
unutilised capital totalled EUR 16,488,000 on 31 December 2010, the balance sheet cut-off date. The
parent company issued no authorised capital shares in 2010.

Table 32 |
Financial debt to equity

Long-term financial liabilities
Short-term financial liabilities

(in EUR 000)
2010

2009

166,862

95,343

18,460

101,237

185,322

196,580

Total capital

88,398

136,674

Debt/equity

2.10

1.44

Total financial liabilities
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Own shares
The company has 18,135 own shares. The acquisition cost of own shares totalled EUR 180,000. The
company has no rights derived from its own shares. Its shares are not owned by other Group companies.

Reserves
Reserves consist of reserves from profit and fair value reserves (revaluation surplus).
Table 33 |
Capital reserves

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

General capital revaluation adjustment

0

36,040

Capital reserves

0

36,040

Capital reserves were lower by EUR 36,040,000 due to the offset of the net loss for the current year.
Reserves from profit or revenue reserves represent statutory reserves used in the amount of EUR
6,522,000 to cover losses for the current year 2010. On 31 December 2010 these reserves totalled EUR
4,754,000. Reserves for own shares are a constituent part of reserves from profit.
The movement of equity items in 2010 is shown in the statement of changes in equity.

Distributable profit
On 31 December 2010, the company’s distributable profit was EUR 0.00, the same as on the
comparable balance sheet date, 31 December 2009. In 2010, the net loss for the current year of EUR
46,398,000 was offset by profits totalling EUR 3,835,000, use of capital reserves in the amount of EUR
36,040,000, and statutory reserves of EUR 6,523,000.

Dividends
Intereuropa d.d. paid no dividends in 2010.

Table 34 |
Net loss per share

(in EUR 000)

Net loss for the financial year in EUR 000
Average number of shares
Basic and adjusted net loss per share (in EUR)

2010

2009

-46,398

-71,352

7,884,278

7,884,278

-5.88

-9.05

The basic net loss per share (EUR –5.88) was calculated as net profit/loss relating to ordinary shareholders of the parent company / weighted average number of shares excluding own shares (EUR
-46,398,000 / 7,884,278 shares). The adjusted net loss per share equals the basic net loss per share
since the parent company holds dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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NOTE 19: Provisions and long-term deferred income
Table 35 |
Provisions and long-term deferred income

(in EUR 000)

As at
1/1/2010

Utilisation of
provisions

Reversal of
provisions
and transfer
to income

Additionally
created

Increase on
the merger of
the subsidiary

As at
31/12/2010

1,352

90

0

0

52

1,314

334

334

0

0

0

0

Provisions for litigations

310

17

65

65

148

441

Long-term deferred income

173

0

159

67

0

81

2,169

441

224

132

200

1,836

Provisions for termination
bonuses on retirement and
long-service bonuses
Provisions for serverance
pays for operational reasons

TOTAL

The calculation of termination benefits on retirement and long service bonuses is based on actuarial
calculation which is based on the following assumptions:
•

average gross wages per employee for the last quarter of 2007,

•

the method of calculating termination benefits on retirement (two average gross wages per employee
or two average gross wages in the Republic of Slovenia),

•

the annual 3.9 per cent increase in average wages in the Republic of Slovenia,

•

staff turnover by age, conditions for retirement in accordance with the minimum requirements for oldage pension;

•

the annual discount rate of interest of 5.85 per cent.

Assumptions for the calculation of provisions and the number of employees did not change significantly
so that no provisions needed to be reversed or created additionally. In the period under review, these
provisions were reduced by the paid termination benefits on retirement and long service bonuses. Longterm deferred income represent tangible fixed assets obtained free of charge and tangible fixed assets
purchased with monies received for employing people with disabilities above the statutory quota. It is
derecognised by against operating income in the amount of depreciation costs.
Provisions for litigations were created on the basis of opinions and estimates obtained from internal and
external experts.

NOTE 20: Loans and finance leases received
Table 36 |
Structure of loans and finance leases received

Long-term loans received from others
Long-term fair value liabilities to operating profit/loss
Total long-term financial liabilities

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

162,967

93,320

24

0

162,991

93,320
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Table 37 |
Movement of long-term loans finance leases received

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

Opening balance

93,320

59,965

Refinancing of short-term loans

87,953

51,000

0

75,647

Drawing on revolving loan facility

583

0

Increase from merger of the subsidiary

678

0

-16,173

-74,542

-3,370

-18,750

162,991

93,320

New loans

Transfer to short-term liabilities
Repayments
Closing balance

Some loan agreements between Intereuropa and banks include financial commitments (indicator of
financial leverage, indicator of coverage of interest charges, indicator of the level of financial security,
equity/total assets ratio, gross cash flow/net sales revenues, net financial debt / EBITDA, indicator
of coverage of financial expenses) which are verified on the basis of audited consolidated financial
statements for the financial year.
Considering the expected poorer performance in 2010 and the necessary additional impairments
of assets, the Group reached an arrangement with certain banks in 2010 that financial commitments
should be verified for the first time on the basis of financial statements for 2011, and with other banks
it was agreed not to consider financial commitments for 2010, which the banks confirmed by written,
signed statements.
Table 38 |
Maturity of long-term loans finance leases received

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

Maturing after 1 to 2 years

25,763

14,555

Maturing after 2 to 3 years

26,508

13,625

Maturing after 3 to 4 years

62,838

13,445

Maturing after 4 top 5 years

10,640

11,395

37,242

40,300

162,991

93,320

Maturing after 5 years
Total

Table 39 |
Long-term loans and financial leases received, by security

Mortgages
Other collaterals
Total

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

162,967

93,320

24

0

162,991

93,320

Table 40 |
Structure of short-term loans and finance leases received

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

Short-term loans received from the Group companies
Short-term loans received from banks
Finance lease
Total

31/12/2009

746

723

16,024

100,342

142

0

16,912

101,065
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Table 41 |
Short-term loans and financial leases received, by security

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

Secured

16,166

100,342

•

Mortgages

16,024

100,342

•

Other

Unsecured
Total

142

0

746

723

16,912

101,065

NOTE 21: Other long-term and short-term financial liabilities
Table 42 |
Structure of other long-term and short-term financial liabilities

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

Long-term fair value financial liabilities to operating profit/loss

3,872

2,024

Total other long-term fair value financial
liabilities to operating profit/loss

3,872

2,024

Short-term fair value financial liabilities to operating profit/loss

1,474

96

Liabilities for dividends and other participations in profits
Total other short-term financial liabilities

74

76

1,548
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Other long-term financial liabilities totalling EUR 3,872,000 relate to liabilities for fair value financial
instruments to profit/loss. They represent net present value of the derivative financial instrument of crosscurrency swap with currency option. A part of this financial instrument which will become due in 2011 is
shown in other short-term financial liabilities totalling EUR 1,474,000. These liabilities were secured by
mortgage. Their effects are disclosed in Note 7 (Expenses from derivative financial instruments).

NOTE 22: Deferred tax receivables and liabilities
Table 43 |
Movement of not offset deferred tax receivables and liabilities in 2010
Deferred tax receivables
Receivable revaluation for
value adjustments

(in EUR 000)

As at 1/1/2010

In profit & loss
account

In comprehensive
income

As at 31/12/2010

35

-7

0

28

Provisions

218

-18

8

208

Revaluation of financial investments

542

-496

6

52

93

-93

0

0

2,740

1,426

-942

3,224

0

3

0

3

Long-term operating liabilities
Tax loss
Other
Total deferred tax receivables

3,628

815

-928

3,515

As at 1/1/2010

In profit & loss
account

In comprehensive
income

As at 31/12/2010

Revaluation of land

14,169

0

-1,422

12,747

Total deferred tax liabilities

14,169

0

-1,422

12,747

Deferred tax liabilities
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Table 44 |
Movement of not offset deferred tax receivables and liabilities in 2009
Deferred tax receivables

(in EUR 000)

As at 31/12/2008

In profit & loss
account

In comprehensive
income

As at 31/12/2009

46

-11

0

35

Receivable revaluation for
value adjustments
Provisions

259

-41

0

218

Revaluation of financial investments

483

30

28

542

Long-term operating liabilities

111

-18

0

93

Tax loss

0

2,740

0

2,740

899

2,700

28

3,628

As at 31/12/2008

In profit & loss
account

In comprehensive
income

As at 31/12/2009

Total deferred tax receivables
Deferred tax liabilities
Revaluation of financial investments
Revaluation of land
Total deferred tax liabilities

225

0

-225

0

0

0

14,169

14,169

225

0

13,944

14,169

NOTE 23: Short-term operating liabilities
Table 45 |
Structure of short-term operating liabilities

Short-term operating liabilities to the Group companies
Short-term trade receivables
Short-term operating liabilities for advances
Other short-term operating liabilities
Total short-term operating liabilities

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

733

35,237

21,005

21,607

85

73

3,720

3,622

25,543

60,539

A bank guarantee was provided as a collateral only for customs duties which totalled EUR 6,005,000 on the
date of the statement of financial position. No payment security instruments were issued to other suppliers.

NOTE 24: Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities include contingent liabilities not shown in the statement of financial position and it is
unlikely that such factors will need to be eliminated on the settlement of such liabilities. The company is
estimated to have had the following contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2010:
Table 46 |
Contingent liabilities

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

19,959

30,347

For bank guarantees and guarantees granted to others

4,643

5,605

For litigations

2,727

2,830

For bank guarantees and guarantees granted to the Group companies

For company D.S.U., company for consulting and management
Total contingent liabilities

250

250

27,579

39,032

Guarantees and sureties to Group companies relate mainly to guarantees for loans and customs
guarantees for subsidiaries. Other guarantees and sureties represent mainly the contingent liabilities
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for performance bank guarantees and similar guarantees as well as contingent liabilities for bank
guarantees for eventual customs debt that could arise from verification of origin, various analyses and
control of goods.
Contingent liabilities for litigation costs totalling EUR 2,727,000 represent a less than 50 per cent
probability that the plaintiff will be successful with his claim and that an elimination of factors inhibiting
economic benefits will be necessary. Contingent liabilities for legal costs mainly relate to legal actions for
the change of resolution to pay dividends for 2008 and legal actions for damages for unlawful dismissal
from office.

NOTE 25: Fair value

Available-for-sale securities
The fair value of exchange listed available-for-sale securities equals the published closing price of shares
on the date of the statement of financial position. The fair value of shares and participations of exchange
listed companies is determined on the basis of the latest transactions or on the basis of their operations.
Their fair value equals their book value.

Short-term receivables and liabilities
It is assumed that the face value Receivables and payables maturing within less than one year equals
their fair value.
Table 47 |
Fair value

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

Book value

Fair value

Book value

Fair value

Available-for-sale financial assets

3,589

3,589

3,728

3,728

Total

3,589

3,589

3,728

3,728

Long-term loans given

36,473

36,473

20,788

20,788

Short-term loans given

33,337

33,337

82,332

82,332

Operating receivables (excluding advances)

25,795

25,795

38,806

38,806

155

155

625

625

95,760

95,760

142,551

142,551

Derivative financial instruments

5,346

5,346

2,119

2,119

Total

5,346

5,346

2,119

2,119

Fair value assets

Settlement value assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Total
Fair value liabilities

Settlement value liabilities
Long-term operating liabilities
Loans
•

at fixed rate of interest

•

at variable rate of interest

Short-term operating liabilities
Total

0

0

0

0

179,903

179,903

194,385

194,385

166

166

25,000

25,000

179,737

179,737

169,385

169,385

25,543

25,543

60,539

60,539

205,446

205,446

254,924

254,924
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Table 48 |
Fair value levels

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

Fair value levels

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Available-for-sale financial assets

1,191

0

2,398

3,589

Total

1,191

0

2,398

3,589

Derivative financial instruments

0

5,346

0

5,346

Total

0

5,346

0

5,346

Fair value assets

Fair value liabilities

31/12/2009
Fair value levels

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Available-for-sale financial assets

1,221

0

2,507

3,728

Total

1,221

0

2,507

3,728

Derivative financial instruments

0

2,119

0

2,119

Total

0

2,119

0

2,119

Fair value assets

Fair value liabilities

The table below shows a classification of financial instruments in respect their calculated fair value.
Financial instruments are accordingly classified into three levels:
•

Level 1: assets or liabilities at market price,

•

Level 2: assets or liabilities which are not classified in Level 1, and their value is determined directly
or indirectly on the basis of comparable market data,

•

Level 3: assets or liabilities whose value cannot be derived from the market data.

NOTE 26: Financial risks

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is managed through active management of cash assets which includes:
•

monitoring and planning of cash flows,

•

regular recovery and day-to-day contacts with major customers,

•

short-term borrowing within the Group,

•

possibility of using short-term bank lines of credit.

The following table shows estimated non-discounted cash flows, including future interest.
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Table 49 |
Liquidity risk as at 31 December 2010
31/12/2010
Loans received under loan
contracts within the Group
Loans received under loan
contracts from others
Loans received under
finance lease (from others)
Trade creditors
within the Group
Trade creditors (other
than within the Group)
Liabilities for advance
payments received
Fair value liabilities to
operating profit/loss
Liabilities to others
Total

(in EUR 000)

Book value

Contractual
cash flows

6 months
or less

6-12
months

1-2 years

2-5 years

More than
5 years

746

756

756

0

0

0

0

178,991

213,922

8,167

16,966

33,975

113,700

41,115

166

170

134

11

20

5

0

733

733

733

0

0

0

0

21,108

21,108

21,005

0

103

0

0

85

85

85

0

0

0

0

5,346

6,146

852

829

1,586

2,878

0

3,794

3,794

3,794

0

0

0

0

210,969

246,714

35,526

17,806

35,684

116,583

41,115

Table 50 |
Liquidity risk as at 31 December 2009
31/12/2009
Loans received under loan
contracts within the Group
Loans received under loan
contracts from others
Trade creditors
within the Group
Trade creditors (other
than within the Group)
Liabilities for advance
payments
Liabilities for capital increase
of the Group companies
Liabilities to others
Total

(in EUR 000)

Book value

Contractual
cash flows

6 months
or less

6-12
months

1-2 years

2-5 years

More than
5 years

722

728

728

0

0

0

0

193,662

217,591

91,306

15,146

18,742

47,321

45,077

1,473

1,473

1,473

0

0

0

0

21,607

21,607

21,607

0

0

0

0

73

73

73

0

0

0

0

33,764

33,764

33,764

0

0

0

0

3,622

3,622

3,622

0

0

0

0

254,923

278,858

152,573

15,146

18,742

47,321

45,077
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Table 51 |
Currency risk as at 31 December 2010
31/12/2010

(in EUR 000)
EUR

USD

Other

Total

1,894

0

16

1,910

Trade receivables (other than within the Group)

23,376

9

52

23,436

Long-term loans given within the Group

36,454

0

0

36,454

Short-term loans given within the Group

33,276

45

0

33,321

Long-term loans given to others

19

0

0

19

Short-term loans given to others

16

0

0

16

Short-term operating receivables
from the Group companies

Short-term loans received within the Group

-746

0

0

-746

Long-term loans received from others

-162,991

0

0

-162,991

Short-term loans received from others

-16,166

0

0

-16,166

Short-term operating receivables within the Group

-731

-1

-0

-733

•

-729

-1

-0

-730

Short-term operating receivables
(other than within the Group)

-24,325

-417

-68

-24,810

•

-18,768

-417

-68

-19,252

-3,872

-3,872

-1,474

-1,548

-5,347

-115,711

of which trade creditors within the Group

of which trade creditors (other than within the Group)

Other long-term financial liabilities (fair value
financial liabilities to operating profit/loss)
Other short-term financial liabilities (fair value financial
liabilities to operating profit/loss, liabilities for dividends)
Gross exposure of the statement of financial position

-74
-110,000

-364

Table 52 |
Currency risk as at 31 December 2009
31/12/2009

(in EUR 000)
EUR

USD

Other

Total

Short-term operating receivables to the Group companies

12,113

0

0

12,113

Trade receivables

25,946

139

61

26,146

Long-term loans given within the Group

20,749

0

0

20,749

Short-term loans given within the Group

81,245

43

0

81,288

Long-term loans given to others

40

0

0

40

Short-term loans given to others

44

0

0

44

Short-term loans received within the Group

-722

0

0

-722

Long-term loans received from others

-93,320

0

0

-93,320

Short-term loans received from others

-100,342

0

0

-100,342

Short-term operating liabilities within the Group

-35,237

0

0

-35,237

Short-term operating liabilities

-24,700

-490

-113

-25,302

•

-17,856

-469

-3,282

-21,607

-2,023

0

0

-2,023

-96

0

0

-96

-194,451

-350

-52

-116,663

of which trade creditors

Other long-term financial liabilities (fair value
financial liabilities to operating profit/loss)
Other short-term financial liabilities (fair value
financial liabilities to operating profit/loss)
Gross exposure of the statement of financial position
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Table 53 |
Credit risk

(in EUR 000)
31/12/2010

31/12/2009

Long-term loans given to the Group companies

36,454

20,749

Short-term loans given to the Group companies

33,321

81,288

Long-term loans given to others

19

40

Short-term loans given to others

16

44

0

1,000

Short-term operating receivables

25,795

38,806

•

of which trade receivables

23,436

26,164

•

of which from the Group companies

1,910

12,113

Short-term deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

155

625

Fair value financial assets to operating profit/loss

1,191

1,221

Available-for-sale financial assets

2,398

2,507

99,349

146,278

Total

The following table analyses interest rate sensitivity and its effect on profit before taxation.

Table 54 |
Risk of changes in interest rates
Rate of interest
31/12/2010

(in EUR 000)

Change in
per cent

6 months
or less

6-12 months

1-2 years

2-5 years

More than
5 years

Total

EURIBOR

+15 %

-118

-122

-220

-373

-108

-940

EURIBOR

+10 %

-79

-81

-146

-249

-72

-627

EURIBOR

-10 %

79

81

146

249

72

627

EURIBOR

-15 %

118

122

220

373

108

940

Table 55 |
Risk of changes in interest rates
Rate of interest
31/12/2009

(in EUR 000)

Change in
per cent

6 months
or less

6–12 months

1–2 years

2–5 years

More than
5 years

Total

EURIBOR

+15 %

-67

-57

-100

-202

-100

-526

EURIBOR

+10 %

-45

-38

-67

-135

-67

-351

EURIBOR

-10 %

45

38

67

135

67

351

EURIBOR

-15 %

67

57

100

202

100

526
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NOTE 27: Other disclosures
Table 56 |
Costs of auditing

(in EUR 000)

Audit of the annual report

2010

2009

104

120

Other auditing services

0

118

Other non-auditing services

0

30

104

268

Total auditing costs
Related parties of Intereuropa d.d. are the following:
•

subsidiaries,

•

Associates,

•

joint undertakings in the form of a jointly controlled company,

•

key management personnel of the parent company.

The parent company’s key management personnel includes its Management Board members.

Table 57 |
Disclosure of related party transactions

(in EUR 000)

Revenues from sales of services
2010

2009

4.594

4.373

265

335

2010

2009

Subsidiaries

5,696

9,468

Total controlled company

7,386

9,006

Subsidiaries
Total controlled company

Costs of services

On the reporting date, the company Intereuropa d.d.'s liabilities to the jointly controlled company
totalled EUR 1,419,000. None of the above-mentioned liabilities was secured or covered by any
guarantee or surety. Liabilities to associates were covered by mutual offset in accordance with the good
practice principles, while liabilities to the jointly controlled company were normally settled by transfers,
assignments and mutual offsets.
Related party transactions were carried out under market conditions.
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Remuneration of members of the Management Board and
Supervisory Board and service contract employees in 2010
Members of the Management Board and Supervisory Board and service contract employees were given
no advance payment, loans or guarantees by the company.
Table 58 |
Remuneration of Management Board members
Salary – fixed part

Ernest Gortan
Tatjana Vošinek
Pucer (beginning
of term of office:
24/5/2010)
Total

(in EUR)
Benefits and
other earnings

Salary – variable part

Total

Gross

Net

Gross

Net

Gross

Net

Gross

Net

144,000

72,334

0

0

1,085

5,106

145,085

77,440

66,000

33,444

0

0

2,280

2,984

68,280

36,428

210,000

105,778

0

0

3,364

8,090

213,364

113,868

Net benefits and other earnings
Managerial
insurance

Voluntary
pension
insurance

Other
benefits

Reimbursements
of expenses

Participation
in profits

Other
earnings

TOTAL

Ernest Gortan

0

1,957

176

2,520

0

454

5,106

Tatjana Vošinek
Pucer (beginning
of term of office:
24/5/2010)

0

975

785

762

0

462

2,984

Total

0

2,932

961

3,282

0

916

8,090

Table 59 |
Remuneration of Supervisory Board members in 2010

(in EUR)

Remuneration
for exercising
the function

Remuneration
for work on the
committees

Meeting
attendance
fees

Reimbursement
of expenses

Participation
in profits

Other
earnings
and benefits

Total

0

1,155

2,310

0

0

202

3,667

Bruno Korelič

0

1,155

3,003

0

0

202

4,360

Vinko Može

0

0

2,311

802

0

202

3,316

Nevija Pečar

Tadej Tufek

0

1,502

2,310

0

0

202

4,014

Maša Čertalič

0

0

2,310

0

0

202

2,512

Maksimiljan Babič

0

0

2,500

1,140

0

202

3,842

Ljubo Kobale

0

0

2,310

645

0

202

3,157

Total

0

3,812

17,054

2,587

0

1,416

24,868

Table 60 |
Service contract employees						

Employees under
service contracts

(in EUR)

Gross salary

Benefits and other earnings (holiday allowance,
reimbursement of work-related expenses,
termination bonuses, long service bonuses ...)

Total earnings

1,711,076

435,925

2,147,001
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NOTE 28: Events after the reporting date
On 23 December 2010, Luka Koper d.d. issued a public invitation for tenders for sale of 1,960,513
shares of the company Intereuropa d.d., representing 24.8 per cent of shares of Intereuropa d.d.
The deadline for tenders was 14 February 2011 and was extended until 31 March 2011.
On 21 February 2011, Kad, Sod, Zavarovalnica Triglav, NLB, Abanka Vipa and Luka Koper announced
a public invitation to tender for selling a 50.98 per cent share of Intereuropa d.d. Moreover, a 1.93 per
cent share held by institutional investors is also for sale. The deadline for tenders was 31 March.

Signing of the Annual Report for 2010 and its
components
The Management Board of the company Intereuropa d.d., Koper, are aware of the contents of the
components of the Annual Report of Intereuropa Group for 2010 as well as with the Annual Report of the
Company and Intereuropa Group for 2010. The Board agree with the contents of the Annual Report and
approve it by signing it with their own hands.

The Management Board
President of the Management Board
mag. Ernest Gortan

Vice-President of the Management Board
Tatjana Vošinek Pucer
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